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TRANSCRIPT OF A TELECONFERENCE MEETING

OF THE

STATE OF NEVADA

PRIVATE INVESTIGATORS LICENSING BOARD

Wednesday, September 15, 2021
9:00 a.m.

Reported by: CAPITOL REPORTERS
BY:  KATHY JACKSON
Nevada CCR #402
628 E. John Street, #3
Carson City, Nevada 89706
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A P P E A R A N C E S

Board Members Present:

Tammy Nixon, Chair
Timothy Bezick
Rick Brown
Katherine Cortez
Robert Gronauer

Also: Kevin Ingram
Executive Director

Michael Detmer
Deputy Attorney General
Board Counsel

Lori Irizarry
Chief of Operations

Vincent Saladino
Supervisory Investigator

Zachary Swarthout
Investigator and Auditor

Shelly Lancaster
Investigator

Stephanie Barroso
Investigator Assistant

Jordan Jones
Investigator

Public Attendees and Other Participants:

Dan E. Taylor
Seth A. Schrenzel
Joshua R. Schultz
James M. Harden  
Doron Kempel
Kurt J. Strakaluse
John E. Harney IV
Charles E. Fox
Gabbey Berman
Anna Moore
Continued..........
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A P P E A R A N C E S

Anthony M. Blanco  
Harold LaPointe
Robert A. Marshall, Jr.
Thomas A. Werner
Edgar Cruz
Alan Cruz
Jon C. Nelson
Sherry D. Rowley
Brett Rowley
William White
Annette Woollard
Leon Bombard
Joshua Schultz
Parminder S. Sekhon
Inderjeet S. Swatch
Parminder S. Swatch
Michael W. Healea
Kyle Hardy
George Clay
Maribel Molina
Thomas Cormier
Abe Magsayo
Adam Finely
Anthony Wong
Erik Acevedo-Casarez
James White
Marieka Grigsby
Mark Miller
Paris Maxwell
Timothy Pearl
Curtisa Henry
David Munizza
Jonathan Smith
Juan Davis
Kamonte Kelly
Marcus Ettress
Nicholas Galindo
Nicholas Hill
Ronesha Hicks
Terrance Lincoln
Jessie Gonzalez
Jim Ongory
Edward Mesa
Isaiah Delarose
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A P P E A R A N C E S

John Garza
Jordenn Lawson
Melvin Loyal
Pierre Atkins
Francis Burge  
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I N D E X

ITEM PAGE

1. Roll Call of Board Members 18

2. Public Comment 19

3. Board/Executive Director Announcements, Reports
and Updates 19

4. Review and approve transcripts and minutes from
the June 9, 2021 Board meeting "for possible
action" 27

5. Per NRS 648.166(1)(b), motion to continue
hearing of appeal of citation 1-10010-21, "for
possible action" 28

6. Per NRS 648.166(1)(b), motion to continue
hearing of appeal of citation 1-0051-21, "for
possible action" 30

7. Per NRS 648.166(1)(b), motion to continue
hearing of appeal of citation 1-0056-21, "for
possible action" 30

8. All applicants and witnesses to sworn in 32

9. Roll Call of conference call attendees and
confirmation of being under oath 33

REQUEST FOR EXEMPTION

10. Dan E. Taylor, Jr. of DTA Security Services, LLC.
license number 1067 is asking the Board to grant
an exemption as outlined in NAC 648.338.  Mr.
Taylor is requesting that the Board allow them to
hire 6 "active" out of state Peace Officers to
work in elevated security position in Nevada
during the 2022 CES event.  This is subject to all
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action" 35
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I N D E X

ITEM PAGE

CONSENT ITEMS/POTENTIAL BLOCK VOTE (items 11 through 30)

11. Digistream Nevada Inc., license number 1320 is
seeking Corporate Officer status approval for 
Amy M. Aaronson.  This is subject to all statutory
and regulatory requirements "for possible action"  42

12. Allied Universal Executive Protection and
Intelligence Services, Inc., license number 2081 
is seeking Corporate Officer status approval for 
Timothy E. Bandt.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for possible 
action"  43

13. Staff Pro, Inc. DBA Allied Universal Event 
Services, license number 1443 is seeking Corporate 
Officer status approval for Timothy E. Brandt.  
This is subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements "for possible action"  43

14. SOS Security, LLC DBA Allied Universal Risk 
Advisory and Consulting Services, license number 
1319 is seeking Member status approval for Timothy 
E. Brandt.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements "for possible action"  43

15. Universal Protection Service LLC Allied Universal 
Security Service, license number 1863 is seeking 
Member status approval for Timothy E. Brandt.  
This is subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements "for possible action"  43

16. Art Asset Adjusters, LLC., license number 492 is 
requesting a corporate name change to corporate
The Camping Companies, Inc. Walter Camping will
remain the Qualifying Agent, Corporate Officers to
be approved are Douglas W. Camping and Kevin E.
Camping.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements "for possible action"  43
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17. Alfredo Ruiz is requesting that his individual 
Patrolman license, license number 2734 be kept
in abeyance so that he may become the Qualifying
Agent for Salient Consulting Group, Inc. DBA
Salient Operation Group, license number 2240.
This is subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements "for possible action"  43

18. Nevada Polygraph Professionals, LLC DBA Nevada
Polygraph Professionals is applying for a new
corporate Polygraph Examiner license.  If approved
Jack K. Clark, license number 3043 is requesting 
That his individual licence be placed in
abeyance so that he may become the Qualifying
Agent.  Member to be approved is Jack K. Clark.
This is subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements "for possible action"  43

19. Lange Consulting LTD is applying for a new
corporate Private Investigator license.  If 
approved Christopher J. Lange, license number 
3055 is requesting that his individual licence be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Member to be approved is Jack 
Christopher J. Lange.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43

20. Truth Security Services LLC is applying for a new
corporate Private Patrolman license.  If 
approved, Shiloh S. Pritchard, license number 
2297 is requesting that his individual licence be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Member to be approved is Shiloh
S. Pritchard.  This is subject to all statutory 
and regulatory requirements "for possible action"  43

21. Alpha Defense Security Corporation is applying for 
A new corporate Private Patrolman license.  If 
approved, Jason C. Sullivan, license number 
2836 is requesting that his individual licence be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Corporate Officer to be 
approved is Jason C. Sullivan.  This is subject 
To all statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43
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22. Wright Defence Ltd is applying for a new 
corporate Private Patrolman license.  If 
approved, Patrick A. Wright, license number 
2214 is requesting that his individual licence be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Member to be approved is 
Patrick A. Wright.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43

23. Viper Family Security, Inc. DBA Signal 88  
Security of Reno-Sparks is applying for a new 
corporate Private Patrolman license.  If 
approved, Seth A. Schrenzel, license number 
2634 is requesting that his individual licence be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Corporate Officers to be 
approved are Steven M. Onell, Sean E. Van Dort
and Annette Woollard.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action" 43

24. Sunstates Security, LLC is applying for a new 
corporate Private Patrolman license.  If 
approved, Spencer J. York, license number 
2909 is requesting that his individual licence be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Members to be approved are 
Glenn P. Burrell, Kathryn J. Burrell and Denis
J. Kelly.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements "for possible action"  43

25. Code 4 Consulting LLC is applying for a 
corporate Private Patrolman and Private 
Investigator license.  Michael J. Johnston is
applying for an individual Private Patrolman and
an individual Private Investigator license.  If 
approved he is requesting that his individual 
licences be placed in abeyances so that he may 
become the Qualifying Agent.  Member to be 
approved is Michael J. Johnston.  This is subject 
to all statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43
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26. Robert Freeman Jr. DBA Robert Freeman & 
Associates is applying for an individual Private
Investigator license.  This is subject to all
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43

27. Joel B. Logan is applying for an individual
Private Investigator license.  If approved he is 
requesting that his individual Private Investigator 
licences be placed in abeyance so that he may 
become the Qualifying Agent for Reliance Security,
Inc., license number 1902.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43

28. Shaun T. Umi is applying for an individual
Private Patrolman license.  If approved he is 
requesting that his individual Private Patrolman
licence be placed in abeyance so that he may 
become the Qualifying Agent for IPS Security,
Inc., license number 2279.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43

29. Designated Defense Security is applying for a new 
corporate Private Patrolman license.  Matthew R.
Severson is applying for an individual Private 
Patrolman licence.  If approved he is requesting
that his individual license be placed in abeyance 
so that he may become the Qualifying Agent.  
Corporate officer to be approved is Matthew R.
Severson.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements "for possible action"  43

30. MDS Security Management & Consulting LLC is 
applying for a new corporate Private Patrolman 
license.  Marques D. Stroud is applying for an 
individual Private Patrolman licence.  If approved 
he is requesting that his individual license be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  Member to be approved is 
Marques D. Stroud.  This is subject to all 
statutory and regulatory requirements "for 
possible action"  43



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
10

CORPORATE OFFICER

31. West Coast Auto Recovery, Inc. DBA WESTCAR, 
license number 536 is seeking Corporate Officer
status approval for Jean A. Miller.  This is
subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements.  "for possible action" 45

32. Stroz Friedberg, LLC, license number 1784 is 
seeking Member status approval for Julie E.
Cho.  This is subject to all statutory and
regulatory requirements. "for possible action" 45

CHANGE OF LICENSING STATUS - CORPORATE NAME CHANGE

33. Archer West Security & Consulting Group, LLC,
license number 1987 is requesting a corporate
name change to GGS LLC. Joshua R. Schultz will
remain the Qualifying Agent Members to be
approved are Parminder S. Sekhon, Inderjeet S.
Swatch and Parminder S. Swatch.  This is subject
to all statutory and regulatory requirements. "for
possible action" 45

CHANGE OF LICENSING STATUS -QUALIFYING AGENT, NEW CORPORATION

34. TG-17, Inc. DBA Bond and Our Bond is applying for
a new corporate Private Patrolman license.  If
approved James M. Harden, license number 2016
is requesting that his individual license be kept
in abeyance so that he may become the Qualifying
Agent.  Corporate Officer to be approved is Doron
Kempel.  This is subject to all statutory and
regulatory requirements. "for possible action" 47

35. Empyreal Logistics LLC is applying for a new 
corporate Private Patrolman license.  If
approved Kurt J. Strakaluse, license number 1662
is requesting that his individual license be 
placed in abeyance so that he may become the 
Qualifying Agent.  This is subject o all statutory 
and regulatory requirements. "for possible action"54
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PRIVATE PATROLMAN AND PRIVATE INVESTIGATOR

36. Execushield NV. Inc. DBA Execushield is applying
for a corporate Private Patrolman and Private
Investigator license.  John E. Harney IV is
applying for an individual Private Patrolman and
an individual Private Investigator license.  If
approved he is requesting that his individual
licenses be placed in abeyances so that he may
become the Qualifying Agent Corporate Officer to
be approved is John E. Harney IV.  This is
subject to all statutory and regulatory
requirements. "for possible action" 56

37. Charles E. Fox is applying for an individual 
Private Investigator license.  If approved he is 
requesting that his individual Private 
Investigator license be placed in abeyance so that 
he may become the Qualifying Agent for 
CoventBridge (USA) Inc., license number 1187.  
This is subject to all statutory and regulatory
requirements. "for possible action" 61

PRIVATE PATROLMAN

38. Anthony M. Blanco DBA Security Enforcement 
Alliance is applying for an individual Private
Patrolman license.  This is subject to all
statutory and regulatory requirements.  "for
possible action" 63

39. Harold LaPointe is applying for an individual 
Private Patrolman license.  If approved he is 
requesting that his individual Private Patrolman 
license be placed in abeyance so that he may 
become the Qualifying Agent for Citywide Security 
Services LLC, license number 1786.  This is 
subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements.  "for possible action" 66

40. Robert A. Marshall Jr. is applying for an individual 
Private Patrolman license.  If approved he is 
requesting that his individual Private Patrolman 
license be placed in abeyance so that he may 
become the Qualifying Agent for Staff Pro, Inc. DBA 
Allied Universal Event Services, license number 1443.  
This is subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements.  "for possible action" 70
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41. Thomas A. Werner is applying for an individual 
Private Patrolman license.  If approved he is 
requesting that his individual Private Patrolman 
license be placed in abeyance so that he may 
become the Qualifying Agent for Surefox North
America Inc., license number 2910.  This is 
subject to all statutory and regulatory 
requirements.  "for possible action" 74

42. Special Enforcement Security Services Group DBA 
Private Sector Security is applying for a new
corporate Private Patrolman license.  Edgar Cruz
is applying for an individual Private Patrolman 
license.  If approved he is requesting that his
individual license be placed in abeyance so that he 
may become the Qualifying Agent.  Corporate 
Officer to be approved are Edgar Cruz and Alan
S. Cruz.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements.  "for possible action" 78

43. Off Duty Services, Inc. is applying for a new
corporate Private Patrolman license.  Jon C.
Nelson is applying for an individual Private 
Patrolman license.  If approved he is requesting 
that his individual license be placed in abeyance 
so that he may become the Qualifying Agent.  
Corporate Officer to be approved is Sherry D.
Rowley.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements.  "for possible action" 80

44. Sec One Security Group LLC is applying for a new
corporate Private Patrolman license.  Michael
W. Healea is applying for an individual Private 
Patrolman license.  If approved he is requesting 
that his individual license be placed in abeyance 
so that he may become the Qualifying Agent.  
Members to be approved are Michael W. Healea, 
Terry J. Goodlad, Kyle D. Hardy and Joshua M.W.
Healea.  This is subject to all statutory and 
regulatory requirements.  "for possible action" 88

OTHER BUSINESS

45. Discussion and Deliberation of the factors for
consideration for approval and/or denial of a
registration issued pursuant to NRS 648.1493
including but not limited to non-disclosure of
criminal history. "for possible action" 91
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REGISTRATION APPEALS

46. Brandt Clark applied for registration and was
denied.  Brandt Clark is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 107

47. George Clay applied for registration and was
denied.  George Clay is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 113

48. Maribel Molina applied for registration and was
denied.  Maribel Molina is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 118

49. Thomas Cormier applied for registration and was
denied.  Thomas Cormier is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 120

50. Yshonda Cobb applied for registration and was
denied.  Yshonda Cobb is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 128

51. Abe Magsayo applied for registration and was
denied.  Abe Magsayo is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 128

52. Adam Finley applied for registration and was
denied.  Adam Finley is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 135

53. Anthony Wong applied for registration and was
denied.  Anthony Wong is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 135

54. Erik Acevedo-Casarez applied for registration and 
was denied.  Erik Acevedo-Casarez is appealing the 
decision to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for 
possible action" 143



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
14

55. James White applied for registration and was
denied.  James White is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 150

56. Lenny Corella applied for registration and was
denied.  Lenny Corella is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 290

57. Marieka Grigsby applied for registration and was
denied.  Marieka Grigsby is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 157

58. Mark Miller applied for registration and was
denied.  Mark Miller is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 206

59. Paris Maxwell applied for registration and was
denied.  Paris Maxwell is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 166

60. Timothy Pearl applied for registration and was
denied.  Timothy Pearl is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 172

61. William White applied for registration and was
denied.  William White is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 178

62. Curtisa Henry applied for registration and was
denied.  Curtisa Henry is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 207

63. David Munizza applied for registration and was
denied.  David Munizza is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 184

64. Jonathan Smith applied for registration and was denied 
Jonathan Smith is appealing the decision to the Board 
pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible action" 188
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65. Juan Davis applied for registration and was
denied.  Juan Davis is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 192

66. Kamonte Kelly applied for registration and was
denied.  Kamonte Kelly is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 198

67. Marcus Ettress applied for registration and was
denied.  Marcus Ettress is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 217

68. Nicholas Galindo applied for registration and was
denied.  Nicholas Galindo is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 220

69. Nicholas Hill applied for registration and was
denied.  Nicholas Hill is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 223

70. Pierre Burton applied for registration and was
denied.  Pierre Burton is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 290

71. Ronesha Hicks applied for registration and was
denied.  Ronesha Hicks is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 225

72. Terrance Lincoln applied for registration and was
denied.  Terran Lincoln is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 228

73. Jessie Gonzalez applied for registration and was
denied.  Jessie Gonzalez is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 240

74. Jim Ongory applied for registration and was denied.  
Jim Ongory is appealing the decision to the Board 
pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible action" 250
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75. Edward Mesa applied for registration and was
denied.  Edward Mesa is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 257

76. Clanthie Elchols applied for registration and was
denied.  Clanthie Elchols is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 290

77. Janell O'Dell applied for registration and was
denied.  Janell O'Dell is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 290

78. Isaiah Delarose applied for registration and was
denied.  Isaiah Delarose is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 268

79. Anthony Jimenez applied for registration and was
denied.  Anthony Jimenez is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 290

80. John Garza applied for registration and was
denied.  John Garza is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 272

81. Jordenn Lawson applied for registration and was
denied.  Jordenn Lawson is appealing the decision
to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  "for possible
action" 278

REGISTRATION REVOCATIONS

82. Melvin Loyal's R-2018-00473, registered work card
was revoked pursuant to NAC 648.344. Mr. Loyal is
appealing the decision to the Board pursuant to
NRS 648.  "for possible action" 293

83. Pierre Atkins R-2019-00431, registered work card
was revoked pursuant to NAC 648.344. Mr. Atkins is
appealing the decision to the Board pursuant to
NRS 648.  "for possible action" 310
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84. Francis Burge's R-2019-10758, registered work card
was revoked pursuant to NAC 648.344. Mr. Burge is
appealing the decision to the Board pursuant to
NRS 648.  "for possible action" 319

85. Board and Comment and future agenda items
"for possible cause"

86. Public Comment 325

ADJOURNMENT 328
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WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 15, 2021, CARSON CITY, NEVADA

-oOo-

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good morning.  I would like 

to call the meeting to order.  

Executive Director Ingram, would you please do 

roll call.  

MR. INGRAM:  Yes, ma'am.  Board Chair Nixon?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Here.

MR. INGRAM:  Board Member Bezick?

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Present. 

MR. INGRAM:  Board Member Bezick?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Present.  

MR. INGRAM:  Are you muted, sir?

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Present.

MR. INGRAM:  Board Member Brown?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Present. 

MR. INGRAM:  Board Member Cortez?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Present. 

MR. INGRAM:  Board Member Gronauer?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Here. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you.  

All are present and we have a quorum. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, everyone.  And 

welcome to the PILB meeting.  It's wonderful to see everybody 
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in person after so long.  So thank you for joining us.  

This is the section where we'll have public 

comment.  Members of the general public may comment on 

matters appearing on the agenda and may bring matters not 

appearing on the agenda to the attention of the Board.  The 

Board may discuss matters not appearing on the agenda but may 

not act on the matters at this meeting.  If the Board desires 

the matters may be placed on future agenda for action.  

Public comment will be limited to five minutes 

per person at the discretion of the Chairperson but will not 

be restricted according to viewpoint. 

Are there any public comments in the south?  

Okay.  No public comment in the south.  

Are there any public comments in the north?  

Hearing there are no public comments we'll move to the next 

agenda item.  

Executive Director Ingram, can you please read 

announcements and do report -- reports and updates. 

MR. INGRAM:  Yes, ma'am.  Thank you.  

First of all, I would like to go ahead and do 

introductions of our staff.  We'll start over here to my 

right.  We have Chief Lori Irizarry.  And we have 

Investigator Shelly Lancaster.  We have Investigator 

Assistant Stephanie Barroso.  And over on my left we have 
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Investigator Zachary Swarthout and Supervisor Investigator 

Vincent Saladino.  We started calling him Vinnie because 

that's what we know him by.  

To my left is Board Counsel Mike Detmer.  And I'm 

Kevin Ingram.  

Just a brief overview for the Board on our 

transition out-of-state general fund.  We are set to go live 

October 6th.  There was a little bit of a delay.  However, 

we've got all of those bugs worked out.  So we'll be working 

as an independent Board come October 6th for sure with a soft 

opening of October 2nd to make sure all of the bugs are 

worked out that we want. 

Additionally, I would like to welcome our newest 

court reporter, Ms. Kathy Jackson.  Thanks for being with us 

today.  Ms. Jackson is in the north, and she's going to be 

transcribing the meeting.  

So I would ask anybody that is testifying to 

speak slowly and clearly, stating your name and the spelling 

of your last name please for the record when you -- when you 

are first addressing the Board. 

As far as the financials, the financials have 

been provided to the Board.  Does the Board have any 

questions on financials?  

Any questions in the north?  
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Okay.  At this time I would like to ask Chief 

Irizarry to cover our latest statistics for you.  Thanks, 

Lori.  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  I'm going to be 

reading the statistics.  There are some on the tables when 

you signed in.  If you didn't grab one it's also on our 

website for those on the phone.  On our website you go to the 

meetings tab.  On today's meeting underneath attachments, the 

only attachment there will be the statistics.  It's a 

three-page document.  

Okay.  So starting on page one, this is going to 

be the stats from the last Board meeting which was June to I 

stated as of yesterday, so September 14th of 2020 -- 2021.  A 

whole year I missed.  

So before the Board today the licensees that were 

going for the 2021 Board meeting there were 73 applications 

that were received.  Of that 56 of them have been placed on 

the agenda which would be six postponements, 11 withdrawals.  

The withdrawals and postponements made up mainly of private 

investigator and private patrolman license.  

Postponements were for reasons for like somebody 

to retake the exam.  So they will most likely be at the next 

Board meeting or someone is no longer employed with the 

company and we also had fingerprints that were still pending 
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so they would not be agendized today.  

Reasons for withdrawal, there was a person who 

had a conflict with their current government employment and 

two individuals decided not to move forward. 

At this Board meeting we have the majority of 

licensees going to into private patrolman category followed 

by private investigator.  We have no one at this Board 

meeting going for a process serving license.  

Working our way down, work card applications.  I 

just saw there's a typo.  So the work card applications from 

June 1st to September 10th was actually 3,581 total 

applications.  The number at the top there where it says 

2,404, that was actually June statistics.  

So this past quarter we have had increase of 

1,177 work card applications which was a 49 percent increase 

in the last three months prior to the quarter before.  And 

that's actually been the largest work card applications we've 

received since June of 2019.  

The main reason for the work card -- taking work 

card applications is because Las Vegas mainly has opened back 

up.  So starting in June we had a lot more work card 

applications for Allegiant Stadium, mainly in the security 

industry.  So Allegiant Stadium brought in a lot of work card 

applications for us.  Where Allegiant Stadium has festivals 
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and events.  It also opens up activity on the strip.  So we 

have a lot more for that.  

And right now we are gearing up for Life is 

Beautiful, which is this weekend which has attributed to a 

huge influx, somewhere between five to 600 new applications 

that came in in the past month.  

So just from August 1st to yesterday out of the 

3,400 applications that, 3,500 applications that we received 

1,600 of them have come from August 1st to today.  That is 

why you see a lot of individuals in a pending status.  

The reason they are in a pending status is 

because -- I'm sorry, not pending, provisional status is 

because we haven't received their fingerprints back just yet 

because they are going before the Board -- I'm sorry, we 

haven't received the fingerprints back just yet because they 

just got fingerprinted some time in August.  Fingerprinting 

is also taking about two months to get back to us from the 

criminal repository.  

After Life is Beautiful this weekend we will have 

EDC in the middle of October, followed by Day N Vegas first 

week in November.  And we also in the north just passed Hot 

August Nights and Night in the Country.  That will be the 

large influx of work cards.  

On the second page, complaints and investigations 
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this past quarter.  Complaints and investigations broke down 

into basically five different types of categories.  This 

would be the first time that you notice there is a PILB staff 

complaints.  There are two on there.  I mention all 

complaints and investigations that the Board receives.  I 

touched on that one in particular.  Those two had no 

findings.  It was actually another state agency they thought 

was our staff.  It actually wasn't.  It was a gaming control 

board security situation so it would not be with us.  That's 

why it was closed.  

And the other one was regarding a work card 

individual who thought his card should not be denied and had 

a disgruntled moment.  Still a complaint that was officially 

filed with us. 

The others make up, the majority of complaints 

and investigations we have are going to be in the private 

patrolman category which is 15 total.  From that six of them 

are still pending.  Four have closed.  Four have resulted in 

audit.  Audits can be, we have two that are going through the 

audit paperwork process.  When they mail stuff in we're 

reviewing their personnel records and documents they send in.  

And two audits were conducted onsite in the north from Pines 

Check Hot August Night event and Night in the Country.  And 

then one has resulted in violation of citation at this time. 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
25

Out of the, all of the complaints, there's a 

total of 24 of them, nine are still pending.  Right now we 

are averaging 42 days from when we receive a complaint or an 

investigation is open until we officially close it or have a 

final determination.  Nine we've had no action or they have 

closed.  Four are those audits, one citation, one referred to 

another state agency which would be that gaming control board 

incident that we had. 

On to page three, notice of violations.  These 

are the violations that would be issued to a licensee or a 

work cardholder.  There were three categories with three NRS 

or NAC's that were violated.  People not listed properly.  

I'm sorry.  People not -- I'm sorry.  Individuals working for 

a licensee without having an active work card.  Either they 

never had one to begin with or their card expired and they 

were continuing to work for a licensee.  

Individuals who took the initial firearm course 

but did not qualify within the proper months so they were out 

of their firearm recalls.  And one individual or one company 

got a violation for not having their license properly 

displayed.  It was a total of eight violations but the seven 

licensees because one company got two violations so it's 

seven licensees. 

There was one audit conducted not onsite but one 
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audit conducted for a private patrolman licensee which was a 

violation of $7,000 which has been paid in full.  The 

violations for that audit were mainly roster issues and 

personnel records that were not turned into us, were not 

complete.  That would be a violation of NRS 648.140 

subsection (3)(b). 

In the last section there is unlicensed activity 

citations.  There have been five unlicensed activity 

citations issued this past quarter, three of which were for 

private patrolman.  One for private investigator and one for 

a company that is conducting PI, private investigations and 

private patrolman services in one, which was a total of 

$20,000.  The first violation is 2,500 which was for four of 

those offenders.  And the fifth violator is a third or 

subsequent offender which is a 10,000 dollar offense. 

I don't want to elaborate on those too much 

because they are still pending within their 30-day appeal 

rights.  So this breakdowns as three private patrolman, one 

private investigator and one combined.  That's what I got.  

Thank you. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thanks, Lori.  

The last information I would like to provide the 

Board before we move on, item number, agenda item number 11 

has been withdrawn.  That person is no longer employed by the 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
27

company.  So item number 11 we will not be hearing today.  

The next one is item number 31.  That's been 

withdrawn.  That person is no longer a corporate officer of 

the company.  

And item number 32 is being postponed to the next 

regular scheduled Board meeting due to a fingerprint problem.  

The fingerprints came back illegible and they are in the 

process of resubmitting those.  

And that's everything I have for the Board.  

Thank you, Madam Chair. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Agenda item 

number 4, review of -- review and approve the transcripts.  

Everybody has had the opportunity on the Board to review the 

transcripts.  Are there any questions or concerns with those?  

I'm hearing no questions or no concerns.  I will 

open it up for a motion. 

MS. CORTEZ:  This is Officer -- Board Member 

Cortez.  This is Board Member Cortez.  My apologies.  I 

motion to approve the minutes of September 11th.  Oh, I'm 

sorry, June 9th of 2021 as dictated. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion.  Do we have 

a second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  Second. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion and a 

second.  All in favor say aye.  

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any opposed?  

Motion passes.  Transcript is approved. 

Okay.  So agenda item number 5, per NRS 648.166 

subsection (b) motion to continue hearing of appeal citation 

1001021.  Is there -- 

MR. DETMER:  Good morning.  Mike Detmer from the 

Attorney General's Office on behalf of Director Ingram.  That 

was for the record.  

If -- Chair, if I might take over the 

presentation of these agenda items.  

And, Ms. Jackson, welcome to the Board.  I 

apologize in advance for how fast I speak.  I will make every 

effort to slow it down.  

In referring to agenda item number 5, is there 

anybody in the audience present for citation number I0010-21?  

That's in the south.  

Anybody in the north?  With that Chair, if I may 

proceed.  Thank you, Chair.  

This is before the Board for consideration of a 

motion to continue.  In this specific matter the respondent 
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was issued a citation on or about June 8th, 2021, and the 

appeal board was filed on July 8th, 2021.  Pursuant to NRS 

648.166 the appeal hearing should be held on or about 

October 19th, 2021.  However, Board staff, as well as myself, 

we are currently engaged in the preparation for a hearing at 

the end of the month.  That's going to require the 

introduction of multiple witness testimony, as well as 

exhibits.  And given the mandatory dedication for the time 

and resources it is being respectfully requested that this 

matter be continued to the next available regularly scheduled 

Board meeting.  

And with that I submit.  I'm happy to answer any 

questions the Board may have. 

THE REPORTER:  I can't hear her.

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  

Assuming that it's the same exact facts and circumstances for 

the most part, if the Board was all in agreement with one but 

for all of them then, yes, the Board could make a motion in 

total.  

THE REPORTER:  Can you tell them that.

MR. DETMER:  After we check to make sure that the 

other respondents for those citations are not present to 

speak and wish to object to the continuance.  

Mike Detmer for the record.  Are there any 
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persons present for items number 6 and 7, referring to 

Citations I0051-21 or I0056-21?  

Anybody up north?  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  I apologize.  

They are letting me know from the north, if you could just 

turn your mic on because they can't hear you.  Thank you.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Did you want me to repeat?

THE REPORTER:  Uh-huh.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  My question was if we can combine items number 5, 6 

and 7, it's my understanding that all the issues are pretty 

much requesting the same matter to be postponed. 

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  That 

was a correct statement as far as the recitation of the prior 

discussion subsequent to which we had checked, pulled the 

audios to see if anybody was present for those agenda items.  

It appears to be in the negative.  That is to say nobody is 

present before those agenda items. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So this is Chair 

Nixon.  I'll entertain a motion on agenda item number 5, 6 

and 7.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we continue the hearings of all three citations 

contained in item numbers 5, 6 and 7. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'll second the motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Board Member 

Gronauer.  I have a question.  What date are we continuing it 

to?  

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  Thank 

you, Member Gronauer.  That's a great question.  

The request would be to the next regularly 

scheduled meeting.  If the Board would like to set up for a 

different date we would, of course, accommodate to the best 

of our ability. 

MS. CORTEZ:  This is Board Member Cortez.  I'm 

recommending that we postpone it until the next Board 

meeting.  Three months I think will be given enough time to 

collect the information needed.  If there's a continuance 

requested at that time we'll entertain it at that meeting.  

This is Board Member Cortez.  If all of the Board 

Members are in agreeance I'll motion to postpone it to the 

next scheduled Board meeting to be determined, give or take 

three months.

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I'll 

second the motion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  For the record, the next 

Board meeting is December 8th and 9th. 
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So we have a motion.  We have a second.  All in 

favor say aye.  

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Motion passes.  The items 5, 

6 and 7 are continued until December 8th meeting. 

MR. DETMER:  Thank you, Chair.  And I thank the 

Board. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Counsel Detmer, at 

this time could you please swear in all witnesses. 

MR. DETMER:  It would be my pleasure, Madam 

Chair.  

For those who are about to testify please stand 

and raise your right hand if you're testifying. 

(All applicants and witnesses present were 

sworn/affirmed.)  

MR. INGRAM:  Jordan, how many people do we have 

in the north?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  We just have one individual.  

MR. INGRAM:  Swearing in?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  We just have one individual. 

MR. INGRAM:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MR. DETMER:  Thank you very much.  For those of 

you who are possibly on the telephone line, if you could 
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please when you get on the line we'll reference you 

understand that you're still under oath when it's your turn 

to testify.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Executive Director, 

could you do a roll call for the folks that are on conference 

calls and confirm they are under oath, please.  

MR. INGRAM:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  

For those of you that are on the phone line right 

now, if you could do your best to give us your name.  So 

unmute and speak slowly, and if you can spell your last name 

I would appreciate that.  Thank you.  

MS. BERMAN:  Gabbey Berman, B-e-r-m-a-n for 

Protective Force International.  

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Gabbey.  

Anyone else?  

MR. WHITE:  William Craig White, W-h-i-t-e. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you.  

Anyone else?  

MR. CRUZ:  Edgar Cruz, with Special Enforcement 

Security Services Group DBA Private Sector Security.  Last 

name is C-r-u-z. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Edgar.  

Anyone else?  

MS. WOOLLARD:  Yes.  Viper Family Security. 
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MR. INGRAM:  I'm sorry.  Ma'am, would you please 

state your name again.  

MS. WOOLLARD:  Annette Woollard, W-o-o-l-l-a-r-d.  

I'm with Viper Family Security Inc. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Annette.  

MS. WOOLLARD:  Thank you.  

MR. INGRAM:  Anyone else?  

(Two people were speaking at the same time.)

MR. INGRAM:  Yeah, I had two people speaking.  Go 

ahead and state your name one more time, sir.  

MR. BOMBARD:  Leon Bombard, B-o-m-b-a-r-d, APG 

Security. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Leon.  

And who else?  

MR. ALAN CRUZ:  Alan Cruz, A-l-a-n C-r-u-z with 

Special Enforcement Security Services Group DBA Private 

Sector Security. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you.  

Anyone else?  

MR. SCHRENZEL:  Yes.  This is Seth Schrenzel for 

Viper Family Security. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Seth. 

Anyone else?  

MS. MOORE:  Anna Moore with CoventBridge USA.  
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MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Anna. 

Anyone else?  Last call for anyone on the 

conference bridge that has not already identified themselves.  

Thank you all.  I know this is difficult on a 

conference bridge to not talk over everyone.  You made it 

pretty easy, and we appreciate that.  

Thank you, Madam Chair. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

So now we're on to agenda item number 10.  

There's a request for exemption.  Do we have Dan E. Taylor 

Junior in the audience.  Thank you.  Please come forward.  

MR. TAYLOR:  Good morning.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Mr. Taylor, it looks 

like you're requesting an exemption for DTA Security 

Services, license number 1067.  And you're asking the Board 

to grant the exception to hire six active out of state peace 

officers to work elevated security position in Nevada during 

the 2022 CES events. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, ma'am.  That's correct. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Would you tell us a little 

bit about that. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  So this is something that we 

have done for a number of years.  This goes back probably, 

oh, in excess of 15 years.  So there's a smaller group of 
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active duty out of state police officers who come in and 

augment our teams in a specialized role.  And many of 

these -- most of them have, again, ten plus years of working 

this event with us. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board Members, does 

anybody have a question?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I do.  This is Board Member 

-- I do.  This is Board Member Cortez.  Who are or what state 

are these peace officers out of?  

MR. TAYLOR:  So we have two out of Illinois.  One 

out of Louisiana.  One out of Texas.  One out of New York.  

And one out of Maryland.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So that's seven. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  So it was -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So are you requesting for 

six or for seven?  

MR. TAYLOR:  For six. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Of these six are 

they currently POST certified?  

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Any disciplinary actions on 

either of the officers being considered?  

MR. TAYLOR:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is for -- question for 
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counsel or the investigators.  Are these officers required to 

have a background check?  Has that been done?  

MR. INGRAM:  We do not ask for active peace 

officers to submit a background check in instances like this.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So this is Officer -- Board 

Member Cortez again.  So is the Board to make a decision 

based on the applicant's testimony that they are going to be 

dealing with the six individuals POST certified active duty 

officers?  

MR. INGRAM:  Lori, did we receive some 

documentation on it this year?  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  From my 

understanding if these individuals were to be approved they 

would need to go through the regular work card background 

process to get fingerprinted and have their scopes still ran.  

It has not been done as of yet though. 

MR. INGRAM:  For the record Kevin Ingram.  So, 

again, are these different peace officers that were used in 

the past then?  They do not currently have a work card?  

MR. TAYLOR:  They are not different, no, sir.  

And so what we've done in the past is that they do have, in 

fact, a PILB registered work card.  It's been activated 

during the time that they would be working at CES and then 

deactivated.  So we would put them on our employment roster 
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for that temporary period with a registered work card.  And 

then at the end of the event we've terminated their 

employment and believe that their cards were deactivated at 

that time. 

MR. INGRAM:  So these are the same six that have 

been used in the past who have a work card that can still be 

activated based on their original application years ago?  

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, sir.   

MR. INGRAM:  For this period of time.  Okay.  

Thank you. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  One quick question on that.  

So if we said years ago would that still be within the five 

years?  Okay, gotcha.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Board Member 

Gronauer.  Mr. Taylor, I'm familiar, as most of us are 

familiar with your past history, which is very good with CES.  

It's different times.  2021, right after COVID, a lot of 

people are unemployed in Nevada.  

My concern is we're not hiring Nevadans who are 

qualified, and we have plenty of them.  And the police 

departments all do overtime, and I'm trying to figure out why 

we can't hire Nevadans rather than people from six different 

states.  
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MR. TAYLOR:  Right. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  So if you can satisfy me 

with that I would be happy.  Because I have no concern with 

you and your company, all right.  It's just that I have a 

concern we're not taking care of our own people. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Yeah, absolutely.  And so what these 

individuals bring that, one, they are active duty police 

officers.  And absolutely, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police 

Department has -- we work all over the country.  And I can 

say that, and this is home for us as well, that Metro has the 

best department that we have work with across the country, 

hands down.  

What these individuals give us is the continuity, 

the history.  We can go to special events.  We have a great 

relationship with them.  And, you know, we work the special 

events at Metro throughout the year on many many events, 

including CES.  Our bill at CES with Metro special events is 

over six figures.  So we -- and, again, we work with them 

throughout the year.  

In this case though this is a situation where 

these individuals are assigned.  We are able to work with the 

same individual in their roles throughout the event as 

opposed to bringing in different assignments.  You know, with 

special events we get different officers of different things 
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because it isn't overtime, and so they are not able to commit 

the same officer to these roles from day one through to the 

last day.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I understand the 

logistics.  Being former Metro I understand how it works, and 

you would get different officers each day.  I still have a 

problem with our unemployed people here or our qualified 

people here to work, especially at this time.  This is a 

different time than 2019 in 2021.  

So I do, I agree with your reasoning, still not 

happy.  Just so you know, it's just me, all right.  Thank 

you. 

MR. TAYLOR:  I understand.  And just one more to 

that.  Again, you know, they are at a specialized level just 

being active duty police.  You know, we can't go out and hire 

that directly.  We can't hire active duty police directly.  

And I can tell you that we -- we have, even 

though they are, yes, there is a very large number of 

unemployed in the state right now, we have had, and we've 

been here now for 13 years.  We have had the most difficult 

time getting people to -- to actually apply and interview 

with us since COVID.  Since we returned in June we've had the 

most difficult time than we've ever had and we just -- it's 

like somebody turned the faucet off.  We've been unable, and 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
41

that's just for our frontline staff.  That's for our 

frontline officers that are, you know, our standard officers 

that are working standard post.  

You just -- it's -- you know, we hope that now 

that we've gotten past the -- the federal and state 

assistance that we'll be able to pick back up and have some 

showing that we're recruiting and hiring of the unemployed, 

but up to this point it's been incredibly difficult. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.  

So in the interest of time we'll have to ask are 

there any other questions?  Any other follow-up?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we grant the allowance for DTA Security Services 

to hire six active out of state peace officers to work in 

elevated security positions during 2022 CES event. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I will second the motion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.  

All opposed?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  No.

(The vote was in favor of the motion.)  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So four in favor and one 

denial.  Your motion is passed, sir.  Thank you and good 

luck. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So just a housekeeping note 

here.  We do only have this room until 4:30, and we have a 

very stacked agenda.  So we are going to make sure that we 

focus on allowing everybody five minutes to speak and then, 

you know, having to pull back.  So we appreciate your support 

in that.  And if you have any questions let us know. 

This is the agenda consent block vote.  These are 

potential items to be block vote and it's items 11 through 

30.  I'll ask now if there are any items that we want to pull 

out as a Board.  

MR. INGRAM:  Just as a reminder, Chair, item 

number 11 is withdrawn. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  In this section I'll note 

that I need to pull out items number 12, 13 -- 12, 13, 14 and 

15 because I do need to recuse myself from these items.  They 

do involve Allied Universal which I am a part of.  So just in 

interest of being clear, I need to pull myself out of those.  

So we'll block vote those four items after.  

So any other items that we need to pull out?  

Okay.  So I will entertain a motion.  
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BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we approve and block items 16 through 30, with 

items 12 through 15 being heard in a separate vote.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I'll 

second the motion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  The motion passes.  

Items number -- agenda items number 16 through 30 pass.  If 

there's any questions please let us know.  The PILB will be 

in contact with you for the next steps, okay.  

Okay.  On to items number 12 through 15.  Again, 

I'm recusing myself from those items number.  But I will take 

a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I move 

that we -- go ahead, Mr. Gronauer.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  No, I'm with ya.  Go 

ahead.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we approve items 12 through 15. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion and I have a 

second or do I have a second.  Sorry.  
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I make 

a second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.

(The vote was in favor of the motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So the motion passes four, 

with one recusal. 

MR. INGRAM:  Anyone on agenda items 12 through 

30?  If you're on the phone line or if you are present you 

are free to go.  You're also welcome to stay for the rest of 

the meeting.  Thank you.  

Board Member Bezick, we're having a little 

trouble hearing you on the phones.  If we could get you to 

speak up just a little bit, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Absolutely.  Is that 

better?  Hello?  Hello?  

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. Bezick, are you speaking right 

now?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Can you hear me?  

MR. INGRAM:  Can we get you to switch to a 

different microphone maybe.  

MEMBER BEZICK:  Is that better?  Hello?  Is that 

better?  Can you hear me?  

MR. INGRAM:  That's a little bit better, yes.
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BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Okay. 

MR. INGRAM:  It's still very very faint.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Very good.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Okay.  So we will -- 

so corporate officers section, agenda item number 31, again, 

has withdrawn.  And item number -- agenda item number 32 has 

been postponed.  

So we're now moving to agenda item number 33.  Is 

Mr. Schultz here?  And is it -- are your partners with you?  

MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, they are all here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm so sorry.  Come on up, 

gentlemen, please.  Okay.  Gentlemen, please remember the 

time constraints, but please tell us a little bit about 

yourself and what you're intending on doing. 

MR. SCHULTZ:  So I'll just start.  My name is 

Josh Schultz.  I sold my company, Archer West Security, in 

end of April 2021.  The brothers here purchased the company, 

and so they are trying to get the, I guess the corporate, I 

don't know.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Name change.

MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  Sorry. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  That's okay. 

MR. SCHULTZ:  And so that's -- do you need 

anything else from me?  I'm going to stay on as a qualifying 
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agent. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. SCHULTZ:  But do you need anything else from 

me or just from them?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any 

questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I have no questions. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any 

questions up north?  

Okay.  So if there are no questions I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I motion to the name change from Archer West 

Security and Consulting Group, license number 1987 to GGS 

LLC.  Mr. Joshua R. Schultz is to remain as the qualifying 

agent.  Members to be approved are, my apologies if I miss -- 

MR. SWATCH:  Inderjeet Swatch.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  One more time.  Oh, 

Inderjeet Swatch, Parminder -- Parminder Sekhon and.  

MR. SWATCH:  Parminder Swatch.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Parminder Swatch.  All 

members are to be subject to statutory regulations and 

requirements.  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do we have 

a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion.  We have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Good 

luck. 

MR. SCHULTZ:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Agenda item 34.  Do we have 

Mr. Harden and Mr. Kempel?  There we go.  Thank you.  Thank 

you, gentlemen.  Welcome.  Please tell us a little bit about 

yourselves and what your intentions are. 

MR. HARDEN:  Good morning.  My name James Harden.  

I'm a qualifying agent, asking for status change with Bond 

Security.  This change is for corporate officer applying for 

Nevada. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. KEMPEL:  Good morning.  Doron Kempel.  Thank 

you for your time and for considering our request.  Very 

quickly, a few points.  First of all, we take this process 

very seriously as well as the domain.  Let me start again or 

was that okay?  As well as domain of security and the 
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subdomain of patrolman, bodyguards, et cetera.  

On that point, before immigrating to the United 

States 25 years ago I was deputy commander for special ops in 

the Israeli Military.  So I have great familiarity with 

security.  I've seen action.  I know what firearms can do.  I 

take it very seriously.  

Secondly, advisors to Bond include some of your 

prior colleagues, including head of secret service, former 

head of U.S. Secret Service Mark Sullivan.  Former deputy 

director of the FBI John Pistole.  Also former director of 

the TSA.  Heads of police for Chicago Jody Weiss.  For New 

York, Kelly.  For Boston, Ed Davis.  For Seattle, Kathleen 

O'Toole.  From Miami, Don Dalupa.  There are more police 

officers in every state.  We have at least one former police 

officer who's helping us liaison with the state.  

I take that seriously and I was personally 

embarrassed when we learned about our mistake in the State of 

Nevada because these people trust me and I felt that I had 

failed them.  As soon as I learned that we made that mistake 

I took immediate action.  

Number one, we suspended all operations in 

Nevada, not only bodyguards but anything.  We were 

immediately in dialogue with Mr. Ingram and his team.  

Secondly, we suspended all advertising for 
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bodyguards nationwide.  I suspended all interviews because 

the media was very interested to talk about this interesting 

topic, and we don't really offer bodyguard services.  Though 

we don't like to talk about that.  Bodyguards are not the 

heart of our service.  

The heart of our service is offering people peace 

of mind and helping them in situations that are below the 911 

line.  Let me give you an example.  Ride sharing industry in 

the United States, every month 60,000 911 calls, 60,000.  How 

many of those are legitimate emergencies, 0.8 percent.  That 

means that 59,200 dial 911 without it being an emergency.  

This is the tip of a much deeper iceberg on an already very 

burdened 911 system.  That's where we step in.  We help them.  

We're by their side.  But unfortunately speaking, if anything 

goes bad then we escalate.  We give 911 first responders 

situational awareness of what's going on.  

We've already handled about 50,000 cases since 

2019.  Most of them routine.  Peace of mind.  People are 

worried.  But about one, one and a half percent are 

emergencies and we save lives.  

With that we're taking this very seriously.  We 

immediately started licensing efforts across 30 of the major 

states in the United States.  I'm not going to say which ones 

because then I'm going to get in trouble for the ones that 
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are not major, but you know what I mean.  And we immediately 

hired, not rented people like James as qualifying agents.  

I'm happy to take any questions that you might 

have for me.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do have a question for Mr. Kempel.  The unlicensed 

activity, talk to me about it.  What was going on?  

MR. KEMPEL:  Can you repeat the question.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  The unlicensed activity in 

2019.  

MR. KEMPEL:  Yes.  So basically what I failed to 

mention is that I also reprimanded our lawyers.  We have a 

lot of lawyers and a lot of insurance lawyers given 

everything that we're doing.  Our lawyers without naming them 

assured us that because these are not our bodyguards, they 

are bodyguards -- for example most of the bodyguards are 

bodyguards of the firm G4S now part of Allied Universal.  

These are professional licensed people.  

Basically whenever any one of our members, 

consumers or corporate personnel, the bodyguard, we would 

reach out for example to the company like G4S, and we would 

share with them all of the details of the case.  And then 

they would find the right bodyguard.  And then through our 

call centers we would monitor the job from start to finish.  
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We have an app that sits on the phone of the bodyguard as 

well as the consumer.  

Thank you for your question.  We have had no such 

jobs in Nevada.  So we were talking about it and it was an 

interesting topic coming towards the election for the media 

to talk about, but we didn't market it very much and it's not 

the heart of our business.  So at the time that Mr. Ingram 

reached out to us we've done zero jobs in Nevada.  However, 

we were interviewed in Nevada, and one of the companies that 

was working for G4S was also interviewed.  

But when we did some jobs in other states, I just 

described what the other jobs, if that was your point, could 

be the person taking per cash out of their hair salon, 

wanting somebody to escort her to the parking garage, custody 

exchange.  Go ahead, sorry, Ms. Nixon.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So what was the unlicensed 

activity exactly in Nevada?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino, 

S-a-l-a-d-i-n-o.  The unlicensed activity stemmed from the 

interview that was on one of our local news channel in the 

way the website was set up.  

The reason the dates look a little skewed was 

when we finally got in touch with Mr. Kempel and Mike Staple, 

they let me know that their New York office had been shutdown 
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due to the COVID pandemic.  That's why they didn't receive it 

in a timely manner.  Once we made contact, Mr. Kempel and his 

team were very responsive.  We worked through the unlicensed 

activity and started the licensing process at that time. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So it was basically an 

interview and the website?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Correct. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MR. INGRAM:  It was an advertisement.  

MR. KEMPEL:  One more point, if I might, 30 

seconds. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  30 seconds. 

MR. KEMPEL:  It's a very important point that Mr. 

Gronauer raised earlier.  Nevada is very important for us for 

one of the reasons, we decided one of our call centers is in 

this state, and from here we serve other states.  So this is 

very important for us, the state.  And, of course, we see a 

lot of opportunity for business taking care of individuals 

who live here and other people who fly into Nevada. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

Any other questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is for Mr. Ingram 

and Investigator Saladino.  So as far as PILB at this point 

we are all squared away with this applicant?  
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MR. INGRAM:  Yes, sir.  They were issued a 

citation.  It was paid immediately.  Immediately they started 

the application process.  So we are 100 percent squared away.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  So they are staying in 

their lane.  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  

MR. INGRAM:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other questions 

from the Board?  

Okay.  No other questions.  I'll entertain a 

motion, please.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I 

think I'm going to do it right.  Thank you for that.  So 

number 34, TG-17 Incorporate DBA Bond and Our Bond, is that 

right, is applying for a new corporate private patrolman 

license.  If approved James M. Harden -- 

MR. HARDEN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  -- license number 2016 is 

requesting that his individual license be kept in abeyance so 

he may become the qualifying agent. 

MR. HARDEN:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  The corporate officer to 

be approved is Doron Kempel.  This is subject, I would move 

to approve. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion.  Do I have 
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a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I will second the motion subject to all statutory 

and regulatory requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye.  

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Good luck.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Good luck.

MR. HARDEN:  Thank you very much.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Agenda item number 35.  Is 

Mr. --

MR. STRAKALUSE:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  I give a 

reminder of the five minutes.  Please tell us a little bit 

about yourself and what you intend to do. 

MR. STRAKALUSE:  Good morning, Board.  Kurt 

Strakaluse, qualifying agent, license number 1662.  I've been 

licensed for many many years here.  Empyreal Logistics came 

to me and asked me to assist them with the changeover of 

their employees into the work card process.  So I was happy 

to join them and have been working with them to ensure that 

they have followed everything so far to the state.  
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And I have -- any questions from the Board that 

you need about that process I'm here to answer further. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any questions from 

the Board?  

I have one.  What is it exactly that you guys do?  

MS. O'GORMAN:  Empyreal Logistics is a career 

company.  We move for cash for financial institutions. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Can I get your name for the 

record.  This is Board Member Cortez. 

MS. O'GORMAN:  Deidra O'Gorman. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

Any other questions?  So if there are no other 

questions, I'll entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we approve a corporate private from patrolman 

license to Empyreal Logistics, LLC and allow Kurt Strakaluse, 

if I said that correctly, to place his individual license in 

abeyance so he may become a qualifying agent. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

I have a motion.  Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'll second the motion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
56

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Congratulation. 

MR. STRAKALUSE:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good luck to you. 

Agenda item number 36, Execushield NV DBA is 

probably already standing in front of us.  John Harney, 

sorry, come on up. 

MR. HARNEY:  How crazy it is unfortunately 

because the mask is on I'm trying to figure out who's talking 

half the time.  I know I'm looking around. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Welcome, sir.  Tell us a 

little bit about yourself and your intentions.  

MR. HARNEY:  My name is John Harney.  That's 

H-a-r-n-e-y.  Yeah, I'm applying to be a qualifying agent for 

Execushield for both private patrol and private 

investigation.  I'm a retired Las Vegas Metro homicide 

sergeant, retired just over a year.  

Execushield is actually a company that's been -- 

it's a high integrity company out of Northern California that 

a dear friend of mine that owns it.  Daniel Gonzalez was his 

name.  And he's had the company about 20 years.  It's a very 

philanthropic company.  They are involved in a lot of social 

issues as well and animal rights and all of these other 
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things they try to help with.  

As far as a lot of the activities they are 

involved in is supporting law enforcement, providing free 

training, et cetera.  Unrelated to this licensing they also 

have the security executive protection.  And Maritime 

Security is one of their specialties out in the Bay Area.  

This came about, I don't even know why in the 

last six months he convinced me that maybe we should do 

something out here in Nevada.  So I'm agreeing to go along 

with that.  It's a really fun and really interesting company, 

so. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

Are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  Very 

familiar name in law enforcement. 

MR. HARNEY:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Only because I want to be 

careful where I'm walking.  You have family members in law 

enforcement?  

MR. HARNEY:  13 of us.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Right, okay. 

MR. HARNEY:  I'm three generations in the State 

of Nevada law enforcement.  My grandfather was deputy 

constable, deputy U.S. Marshal, commander of Nevada National 
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Guard at one point.  My father was Nevada Highway Patrol and 

he retired as administrative law judge.  Every one of his 

brothers were Nevada Highway Patrol.  Virtually every one of 

my male cousins was either Las Vegas Metro or Sparks or Reno 

PD.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Was one of your uncles 

shot on the Strip?  

MR. HARNEY:  No, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  And then was one 

of your uncles with DMV?  

MR. HARNEY:  My father was John Harney. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay. 

MR. HARNEY:  DMV, no.  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  He's retired too I 

believe. 

MR. HARNEY:  Yes, sir, back in West Virginia now.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And I'm retired from 

Metro.  I believe you came on when I retired I believe.  I 

retired -- 

MR. HARNEY:  Yeah.  I think you were already 

doing constable. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yeah.

MR. HARNEY:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Well, you 
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were never under any of my supervision or anything like that?  

MR. HARNEY:  No, sir.  We may have met in passing 

20 years ago.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Maybe the academy or 

something.  Otherwise -- 

MR. HARNEY:  No, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just 

want to make sure I'm not --  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You're not related to him?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  No.  

MR. HARNEY:  Obviously we did didn't stay for a 

long time, involved in military law enforcement for -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  The thing is that this is 

a great name in law enforcement.  I'm being honest with you 

with that, okay.

MR. HARNEY:  Yes, sir.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I'm proud of your whole 

family.  And you should be proud of your whole family.  I 

don't know about you, sir, I don't care. 

MR. HARNEY:  Fair enough. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any other questions?  

Okay.  If there are no questions, I'll entertain 

a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Let me do the honors. 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
60

MR. HARNEY:  Thank you, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I make 

a motion to approve Execushield Incorporated DBA Execushield 

is applying for corporate private patrolman and private 

investigator license, John E. Harney IV is applying for an 

individual private patrolman and individual private 

investigator license.  If approved he has requested that his 

individual license be placed -- licenses be placed in 

abeyance so that he may become the qualifying agent and 

corporate officer to be approved.  John is John E. Harney the 

IV subject to all statutory and regularity requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion.  Do we have 

a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I motion or I approve the second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion.  We have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  The motion passes.  

Congratulations.  Thank you very much.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Good luck to you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  If everyone will 

indulge, we'll take a quick five-minute break.  Thank you 
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all.  Five minutes.  We'll be back at ten after.

(Whereupon, a brief recess was taken.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you all.  And welcome 

back.  

Agenda item 37, Charles E. Fox.  Thank you, sir. 

MR. FOX:  Hi.  Good morning. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  If I could ask, are you under 

oath?  

MR. FOX:  Yes, I am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Please 

tell us a little bit about yourself. 

MR. FOX:  Sure.  My name is Charles Fox, F-o-x.  

And I'm the vice president of operations for CoventBridge 

Group USA.  And I am applying for private investigator's 

license to be held in abeyance so I can become the qualifying 

agent. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any questions from 

the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Hi.  Good morning.  This is 

Board Member Cortez. 

MR. FOX:  Good morning. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I see that you've been 

working without -- without a registered work card.  What was 

that?  
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MR. FOX:  Yeah.  So I relocated here -- as the 

vice president of operations I relocated here.  We have a 

licensing clerk and a licensing department that handles our 

licensing.  To be quite honest, they just did not know I 

relocated.  I was not performing investigative duties or any 

type of responsibilities related to investigations.  

We had a qualifying agent.  That agent gave 

notice that he was going to be leaving the organization.  At 

that time my licensing department contacted me and asked that 

I become the qualifying agent.  And in doing so we realized I 

should have been licensed but during that time I was not 

conducting any investigations. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  But you were an active 

employee?  

MR. FOX:  Yes.  Yes.  I was the vice president of 

operations, yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

Okay.  I'll entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I move 

that we approve Charles C. Fox for individual private 

investigator license and allow him to place that into 

abeyance so he may become a qualifying agent for CoventBridge 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
63

USA Incorporated. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  One question before we 

make a final decision.  Investigator, does it have the name 

here?  Quick question, is everything with the violation been 

taken care of?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.  

Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I have a motion.  

Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do motion that we second the approval.  However, I 

am going to make a suggestion that you make sure that you 

stay on top of your license. 

MR. FOX:  I will. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Your motion passes.  

Congratulations. 

MR. FOX:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Agenda item number 38, 

Anthony Blanco.  Are you here?  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Blanco, 

tell us a little about yourself. 
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MR. BLANCO:  So myself, I've been a qualifying 

agent for a manager in the State of California for ten years 

now for a PPO license security company.  Myself, I've 

employed over 2,000 employees.  As of right now our payroll 

is 7.5 million a year.  I'm also a licensed firearm baton 

instructor through BSIS, Bureau for Security of Investigation 

Services.  I'm also Post BCA 32 certified.  

And now I have a client that's going to be moving 

over here to Nevada to open up some storefronts and also 

medical clinics.  So we're going to provide services for him. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any questions from the 

Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  There is.  This is 

officer -- Board Member Cortez.  Question for the 

Investigator Swarthout.  I'm sorry, Saladino.  I just want to 

make sure this is a typo.  Mr. Blanco is applying for a 

patrolman license not a private investigator license; is that 

correct?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  That is correct.  It's 

private patrolman.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So a typo on the front.  

Okay.  That's all I needed.  Thank you. 

MR. GRONAUER:  This is Board Member Gronauer.  

DBA Security Enforcement Alliance.  Is that a licensed 
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company now?  

MR. BLANCO:  No.  Through State of Nevada, no.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I can't hear you, sir.  

MR. BLANCO:  Through the State of Nevada, no.  

There's no activity currently on my part. 

MR. GRONAUER:  Mr. Ingram, he is in my mind 

satisfied here about the DBA, a company that's not licensed 

and does it have to be licensed?  

MR. INGRAM:  No.  He can file for a DBA under an 

individual license, and he's provided that information to us. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  That's very nice.  Thank 

you. 

MR. INGRAM:  You're welcome.  You're very nice as 

well. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Oh, boy. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's early yet. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  That's what I'm afraid of.  

So I have a quick question.  It looks like here you -- you 

reported an arrest in 2007 for delaying a peace officer.  

Could you tell us a bit about that. 

MR. BLANCO:  Yeah.  I was right out of high 

school.  It was a disgruntled disagreement between my 

parents, and at that time I was trying to separate them.  And 

law enforcement, since I'm a lot taller than my father, 
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actually thought I was my father at the time and they placed 

me to the side when I was trying to explain what was going 

on.  So they got me for delay of a peace officer. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Got it.  Thank you.  

Any other questions from the Board?  

Okay.  If there's no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we approve Mr. Anthony M. Blanco DBA Security 

Enforcement Alliance's individual private patrolman license. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I will second the motion subject to all regulatory 

and statutory requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  The motion passes.  

Congratulations, Mr. Blanco.  Good luck to you. 

MR. BLANCO:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Agenda item number 39, 

Harold LaPointe.  Please come up, sir.  Welcome.  So please 
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tell us a little bit about yourself and your intentions with 

the license. 

MR. LAPOINTE:  My name is Harold LaPointe.  

Currently I'm a field commander with Citywide Security and 

account manager.  I help basically with everyday duties like, 

you know, training and showing like officers and, you know, 

dealing with the owners and which is Greg here, not dealing 

with, but you know like giving information and then telling 

him what's happening.  

But this I would like -- you know, I do 

appreciate the opportunity to be here.  And Greg here 

actually did give me -- you know, he's given me the 

opportunity to actually prove myself, not give me anything 

but throughout the years of working for him actually I had to 

prove myself on a day-to-day basis.  I had to show him my 

value everyday.  And finally at this point to try to be 

elevated in to getting a position of, you know, just moving 

up in the company. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Fantastic. 

MR. LAPOINTE:  And he will be my mentor too and 

like teaching me like on different financials and helping me 

grow in that term, showing me what to do financially and -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. LAPOINTE:  -- he will guide me and teach me. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  The 

gentleman with you is?  Sir?  

MR. MANUKIAN:  Yes.  My name is Greg Manukian, 

M-a-n-u-k-i-a-n.  I'm the owner and director of operations 

for Citywide Security. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you agree with 

everything he said?  

MR. MANUKIAN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have a question for Investigator Swarthout.  Investigator 

Swarthout, do you know why and can we learn why the gaming 

control board objected to this gentleman.  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  I believe the objection 

was due to the arrest out of Georgia.  He listed it was 

completely wiped when he finished the probation for the 

program.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Understood.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm sorry.  I have a 

question.  You have several bankruptcies, Investigator 

Swarthout.  Have those been cleared up?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes, they have all been 

discharged. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Even the one in 2018?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

Any other questions?  

Okay.  If there are no questions, I'll entertain 

a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  This is 

Bezick.  I make the motion that Harold LaPointe be approved 

for an individual private patrolman license and that his 

individual license be placed in abeyance so that he can 

become a qualifying agent for Citywide Security Services LLC, 

license number 1786. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

I have a motion.  Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I second the motion subject to all statutory and 

regulatory requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So we have a motion.  We have 

a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Motion passes.  

Good luck to you sir. 

MR. LAPOINTE:  Thank you.  And thank you for the 
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opportunity.  

MR. MANUKIAN:  Thank you, Board. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Absolutely.  Okay.  Item 

number 40, Robert A. Marshall Junior.  So this is one I do 

not know Mr. Marshall.  I just met him out in the hallway but 

he is applying for a license for a company under Allied 

Universal.  So I will recuse myself again.  But that being 

said please tell us a little bit about yourself.  

MR. MARSHALL:  Good morning, Board Members.  

Thank you for having me.  My name is Robert Marshall, 

M-a-r-s-h-a-l-l.  I currently work for Allied Universal 

Events Service which was Staff Pro as of last fall.  Before 

that I was with the Century Security, was able to meet Mr. 

Ingram.  I'm here applying for the QA for Allied Universal 

Events Services. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.

Go ahead, Ms. Cortez.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  No.  Go ahead, Mr. Brown. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Mr. Marshall, a question for 

you.  Can you explain the arrest you had in 2002, please. 

MR. MARSHALL:  Pretty similar to the last 
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applicant, Mr. Blanco.  The big guy sticks out in any -- any, 

what do you call it, issue.  Wrong place wrong time.  I was 

actually in crutches.  Some friends brought me out of my 

house because I was laid out in my house with a bummed leg.  

There was a private party at a lounge.  Two 

ladies got in a scuffle and both parties tried to break each 

other up.  Later that week it was known one of the ladies had 

a broken hand.  And for some reason they picked me out of the 

crowd, a guy with crutches.  And my attorney goes because 

you're the biggest guy there they remember.  And these people 

were known for false accusations.  I paid restitution and was 

cleared of everything and a year unsupervised probation.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Thank you, sir. 

MR. MARSHALL:  Yes, sir.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  That's pretty much what my question was.  But second 

degree assault and you were breaking up the fight?  

MR. MARSHALL:  Yes.  There was a number of us 

breaking it up.  Again, I was in crutches because I was in a 

stabilizer a week before that.  Probably three or four weeks 

before that I was in a car wreck and my friends brought me 

out. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So because one of the 

victims received a broken arm, wrist, whatnot you were the 
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one blamed for that?  

MR. MARSHALL:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Were any other individuals 

blamed or were they cited or arrested?  

MR. MARSHALL:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So it was just three 

parties, the two fighting and yourself?  

MR. MARSHALL:  Yes.  How -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Did you know them?  

MR. MARSHALL:  No, I did not.  I think the 

friends I was with, the so-called friends of the people I was 

with must have gave them my name because they had issues with 

the system because they would not come to back me up.  My 

attorney tried to get them to help me out.  He said your 

friends aren't your friends because they're not helping you 

out.  I'm like, well, I didn't really know them.  I only knew 

the one.  He was a friend that owned the limo.  So the other 

two were just acquaintances.  So they kind of hung me out to 

dry.  So my attorney is like if you -- if you don't plead 

guilty or restitution you can see jail time without their 

help.  Yeah. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Were you disappointed in 

the attorney?  Just kidding. 

MR. MARSHALL:  He was a friend. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Just kidding.  We'll stop 

right there.  We'll stop right there.  Thank you. 

MR. MARSHALL:  Wrong place wrong time is all I 

can say.  And these people are known for that but anyway. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any other questions?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am motioning that we approve Mr. Marshall for 

individual private patrolman license and that it be placed in 

abeyance to become a qualifying agent for Staff Pro Inc., DBA 

Allied Universal Event Services license number 1433.  That 

all matters be subject to statutory and regulatory 

requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I'll second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion and I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was in favor of the motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  And then I recuse 

myself.  So it passes three to one.  Congratulations, sir. 

MR. MARSHALL:  Thank you. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  The PILB will get with you 

for the next steps. 

Okay.  Item number 41, Thomas Werner.  

MR. WERNER:  Good morning. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Agenda number 20 or 41, jeez.  

Up north.  Thank you, sir.  Please tell us a little bit about 

yourself, Mr. Werner. 

MR. WERNER:  Hi.  My name is Tom Werner.  I'm 

retired from the San Diego Police Department.  Additionally 

I'm retired from the U.S. Army. 

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. Werner, we are not able to hear 

you.  

Lori, do we control the volume on that one too?  

Can you get a little closer to the mic, sir, and try again. 

MR. WERNER:  How is this.  Can you hear me?  

MR. INGRAM:  No, not really. 

Jordan, is there another mic up towards the dias 

that he might be able to try.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  You may have to turn that 

one on. 

MR. WERNER:  Can you hear me now?  

MR. INGRAM:  You want to it try again.  

MR. WERNER:  Can you hear me?  Hello?  

MR. INGRAM:  Technical difficulties. 
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Thanks everyone for your patience.  This is a 

brand new room for us and we're trying to work out all the 

kinks here.  I apologize for the delay.  

Mr. Werner, would you like to go ahead and state 

your name and tell us a little bit about yourself. 

MR. WERNER:  Yes, sir.  My name is Werner.  I'm 

applying for a private patrolman license.  I'm retired from 

the San Diego Police Department.  Additionally, I'm retired 

from the U.S. Army Reserves.  

The last 17 years I was in the army reserves.  I 

was assigned to the army's criminal investigation division, 

and I hope to become the qualifying agent for Surefox North 

America. 

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. Werner, we're still having a 

little bit of difficulty hearing you.  Maybe get closer to 

the mic.  Maybe go ahead and lower your mask. 

MR. WERNER:  How is that?  

MR. INGRAM:  Much better.  Thank you.  

MR. WERNER:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  My name is Tom 

Werner.  I'm retired from the San Diego Police Department.  

Additionally I served 35 years in the Army Reserves.  I am 

hoping to become the qualifying agent for Surefox North 

America. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  
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Are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do have a question, Mr. Marshall.  I'm sorry, 

Mr. Werner.  I notice that the '80s were a little challenging 

for you.  Do you want to give me a little bit of a background 

on what occurred starting with the '80s, the 1980s, the 

disturbing the peace in Louisiana. 

MR. WERNER:  Yes, ma'am.  I was -- at that time I 

think I was 19 years old.  I was assigned to Fort Polk, 

Louisiana.  Me and a friend of mine went downtown to 

Leesville, Louisiana one night and he was assaulted.  The 

police were involved, and I was not arrested.  However, 

approximately two weeks after this incident I was notified by 

my company commander that there was a warrant for my arrest.  

I went to the local court and I think the fine 

for the violation was $43 or $45.  I had a bench trial and 

they found me not guilty.  So I think I would chalk it up to 

being at the wrong place at the wrong time. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Got it.  Thank you, sir, 

for the interruption.  I'm also noticing a 1982 trespass 

charge.  Charges were dismissed.  But more interesting I 

would like to hear about the 1983, the DUI out of Oakland. 

MR. WERNER:  Yes, ma'am.  I take full 

responsibility for that.  I was young and stupid and after 
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that incident it was an eye opener, and nothing like that has 

happened since. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  What were you under the 

influence of?  

MR. WERNER:  Alcohol. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

If there's no other questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK.  This is Bezick.  I make a 

motion a motion that Thomas Werner be approved for individual 

private patrolman license and that license be placed in 

abeyance and he may become the qualifying agent for Surefox 

North American Inc., license number 2910. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

I have a motion.  Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  Second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion and several 

seconds.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Congratulations, 

sir. 

MR. WERNER:  Thank you, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good luck to you. 

MR. WERNER:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Item number 42 is 

Edgar Cruz. 

MR. EDGAR CRUZ:  Edgar Cruz is here.  Present. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  And Alan Cruz?  

MR. ALAN CRUZ:  Allan Cruz.  Present.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Please 

choose one of you to tell us a little bit about yourself and 

what your intentions are with the license.  

MR. EDGAR CRUZ:  This is Edgar Cruz.  I recently 

retired LAPD after serving 18 years.  And since 2008 I've 

been present and owner of Special Enforcement Security 

Services Group until this present day.  Our growth is 

expanding to other states that, therefore, we are seeking 

licensing in Nevada. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yeah.  If you're not talking 

can you please put your phone on mute.  Okay.  Thank you.  

Are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Board Member 

Gronauer.  Mr. Cruz, why did you retire with 18 years on?  
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MR. EDGAR CRUZ:  After 18 years I've owned the 

company from 2008 and the gross has been tremendously 

financial simple for me versus 18 years in the LAPD, and I 

want to pursue this for me, for my family and my grand kids. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Financially it makes 

sense.  So you were able to retire with your type of PERS 

system that we have; is that correct?  

MR. WERNER:  That is correct, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  No problem.  Thank 

you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

Are there any other questions?  Okay.  If there's 

no other questions I'll entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I motion that we approve Edgar Cruz for individual 

private patrolman license and that he be placed in abeyance 

so that he also can become the qualifying agent.  Officers to 

be approved are Edgar Cruz and Alan S. Cruz subject to all 

statutory and regulatory requirements.  And this is for the 

new corporate private patrolman for Special Enforcement 

Security Services DBA Private Sector Security. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

I have a motion.  Do we have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I second.  
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BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I 

second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  The motion passes.  

Congratulations, gentlemen.  The PILB will be in touch with 

you shortly.  Thank you. 

MR. EDGAR CRUZ:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Item number 43, Sherry 

Rowley. 

MS. ROWLEY:  Good morning.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good morning.  We have Sherry 

Rowley.  We have Jon C. Nelson.  And who else is joining us?  

MR. ROWLEY:  Brett Rowley. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Please tell us a 

little bit about yourself and what your intentions are. 

MS. ROWLEY:  Sherry Rowley with Off Duty 

Services.  We're applying for the new corporate private 

patrolman license.  And Jon Nelson is going to apply for the 

individual to be our qualified manager if approved.  

MR. ROWLEY:  Obviously there's a significant back 

story.  I'll wait until for questions to begin. 
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Let's go ahead with the back story. 

MR. ROWLEY:  Well, I would love to say we were 

coming here to cleanly apply for a license and wish us well 

and move forward.  Obviously we have made a series of 

mistakes leading up to this.  We tried to comply from the 

moment we were notified until today.  We're hoping we can get 

back in the good graces and move forward.  

So the back story is March of '19 we didn't do 

business in Nevada.  We are licensed in 37 states.  We've 

been in business 20 years.  We are a business well north of 

$100,000,000 and we were notified by a customer in '19 asking 

if we can provide services in Nevada.  

We have a process.  We work with active duty 

police officers who we register as security guards and 

provide that service for higher level of service.  Every 

state manages police officers working off duty in a different 

way.  So our first step is is to contact the licensing board, 

ask how that's managed.  

Clearly we made a huge mistake in that process, 

and it was our understanding mistakenly, that the Board 

didn't govern police officers working off duty.  In that 

environment we moved forward.  We obtained a business license 

and we began doing business in the state. 
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Fast forward to January '21.  The Board 

identified us working in Las Vegas at a Chase Bank which was 

a customer and identified that we had to have a security 

license in order for the person to be working there.  We 

ceased services, went out and found a subcontractor who is a 

licensed Nevada company.  

While we were beginning the application process, 

inserted them in the process.  Realized we had made a second 

mistake which in order to utilize a subcontractor to provide 

services we still had to have the security license.  So we 

were notified of that.  So we ceased all the services in the 

State of Nevada.  We were assessed the 2,500 dollar fine for 

that.  We immediately paid the fine.  We've been working 

through the application process.  

Jon is our qualified manager in the State of 

Washington.  He's a 27-year retired Washington State Trooper.  

He's worked with us for a number of years.  He passed his 

test.  We completed the application process, and we're here 

to do it the right way and to move forward. 

I assure you we are an honest and ethical 

company.  We recognize we made a mistake, and we're here to 

fix it and move forward. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you.  I do see the 

fine and fees were paid within a month so I do appreciate 
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that.  

I do have another question.  This is Board Member 

Cortez by the way for the record.  Mr. Nelson, we do have a 

sensitive subject that was an incident that occurred in 2001.  

It has been dismissed.  Who was the victim?

MR. NELSON:  Who was the victim?  Do you want her 

name?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  No.  Family member?  

Girlfriend?  

MR. NELSON:  No.  My name is Jon Nelson, and I am 

retired trooper of 27 years.  While on duty as a trooper I 

made a stop.  And the female was a female person, and I made 

the stop, did not write a citation.  Left, went home and then 

30 days later I was arrested. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  So from January to 

today -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  That's a comma not a 

period.  Keep going.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  

MR. NELSON:  So I was arrested for a rape and 

false imprisonment.  There's a back story to this.  And the 

back story is my wife at the time had applied for a school 

position in a school district.  The president of the school 

board was Debbie Edwards.  Her husband happened to be the 
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sheriff of Thurston County, long long time sheriff.  

So five women put in for this job.  My wife is 

the only one that met the minimum qualifications of that job 

and she knew it and her friends are the other four and they 

all kind of knew it.  She did not get the job.  Another lady 

got the job.  So my wife filed a grievance.  And on Tuesday 

morning we had a court hearing, a grievance hearing in court 

and I went to jail Monday night.  

And there was some insight, scuttlebutt.  I went 

to jail for obvious reasons because the grievance was against 

Debbie Edwards, the president of the school board.  And so I 

go to jail.  They do their stuff.  I go to jail.  Made a lot 

of allegations.  So the first court hearing the -- the person 

making the allegations had wrote a statement, like a ten-page 

statement.  

In court the judge asked her because there's 

crossed out stuff, and then there's handwritten stuff under 

there.  And under -- oh, she said she did not do that.  Lots 

of stuff on the statement was changed.  You could tell it was 

scribbled out, literally scribbled out and handwritten in 

different handwriting underneath.  She said she did not do 

that.  The detective said he didn't do it.  

So I was released from jail on bond.  And then 

the criminal investigation started.  The first investigation 
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was by the Thurston County Sheriff's Office.  So that went 

through a couple of months, however long it was.  I was on 

administrative leave for about nine months.  So the state 

patrol cannot start their investigation until the criminal 

investigation is done in Thurston County.  It was completed.  

All charges were dropped.  

I actually had a knock on my door one day and a 

guy standing there says I can help you on this.  I asked him 

how did you find me.  He told me.  I said, well, you need to 

contact the Thurston County Sheriff's Office or state patrol.  

He did.  They put a wire on.  He was actually a boyfriend of 

the girl's cousin.  They put a wire on him.  He was in the 

car with his girlfriend and this other female that made the 

allegations.  And then it -- she stated she wanted to sue the 

state, get a million dollars and travel the world was her 

exact wordage on the wire and some other things. 

So slowly they dropped all charges.  State patrol 

did their investigation.  Their investigation went through 

and all charges were dropped, and I continued as a trooper.  

The FBI filed for -- they wanted my case file.  I went 

through a grand jury.  They got the case file.  They did an 

investigation, and I was totally exonerated from the FBI, and 

I retired two years ago as a trooper. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Any impact for the 
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retirement?  Just kidding.  

MR. NELSON:  Yeah. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Two questions.  First 

off, I didn't get your name, sir.  

MR. ROWLEY:  Brett Rowley.  My wife and I -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  I didn't see it on 

the application.  So you did a good presentation. 

Now, Mr. Nelson?  

MR. NELSON:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  How long after you 

were reinstated the state troopers, okay, did you retire?  

MS. ROWLEY:  I was exonerated in 2001 and I 

retired in 2019. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  That says volumes right 

there.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I believe it's just some type of mistake and I want to make 

sure.  

Ms. Rowley, on your application you listed that 

your physical address is the same as your mailing address.  

Although, they are different two addresses but just a mark in 

the wrong box or did you have something later?  
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MS. ROWLEY:  It must be mailing address, a PO?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  No.  The mailing address 

shows 1908 Avenue D.  

MS. ROWLEY:  Oh, okay. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  And the physical address is 

different.  

MS. ROWLEY:  Okay.  1908 Avenue D is our office, 

yes.  That is our correct.  8100 Katy, Texas 77493.  I'm not 

sure.  Maybe it was a mistake.  Yeah, I think I probably 

marked the wrong box.  Yeah, sorry.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

Okay.  Thank you.  If there are no other 

questions, I'll entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I make 

a motion to approve Off Duty Services Incorporated as 

applying for a new corporate private patrolman license.  Jon 

C. Nelson is applying for an individual private patrolman 

license.  If approved he is requesting his individual license 

be placed in abeyance so that he may become the qualifying 

agent.  The corporate officer to be approved is Sherry D.  

Rowley, subject to all statutory and regulatory requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do we have 
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a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'll second the motion.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Motion passes.  Thank you.  

Congratulations.  Good luck.  

Okay.  Agenda item number 44, Sec One Security 

Group.  Is Mr., I'm assuming there's a long list.  Okay.

MR. HEALEA:  Good morning.  My name is Michael 

Healea.  I'm applying for the private patrolman license.  I'm 

currently the director of operations for Integrity Global 

Security.  We have several accounts with over 100 employees 

now here in Nevada.  We also just opened up in California as 

well as.  So I'm a corporate officer out there as well. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

questions?  And I'm assuming the rest of the group is with 

you as well. 

MR. HEALEA:  Yeah.  We have Kyle Hardy here.  

He's the owner the Security.  If you could step up. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We don't bite much.  Thank 

you.  
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Board, are there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You look so familiar.  

Take your mask down for a second. 

MR. HEALEA:  Counsel over here was looking 

straight at me in the eyes and I was looking over my head 

like is there a TV behind me. 

MR. DETMER:  Municipal judge from the eye. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Oh, yeah, in Henderson. 

MR. HEALEA:  As long as you guys like him. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  He was a great judge.  

Okay.  We've never done business together or anything?  

MR. HEALEA:  No, sir, I don't believe so. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Sir?  

MR. HARDY:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  No problem.  I 

just wanted to make sure. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  What is your name, sir?  

MR. HARDY:  Kyle Hardy. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  And 

you own the company?  

MR. HARDY:  Yes, sir, license 1562. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  No problem.  Thank 

you. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I do note on Mr., is it 

Healea?  

MR. HEALEA:  It's pronounced Healea. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  I do note that there 

are several bankruptcies.  

Investigator Saladino, are those taken care of?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

Yes, they are discharged. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

Any other questions?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  Item 

number 44, a motion to approve Sec One Security LLC is 

applying for a new corporate private patrolman license.  

Michael W. Healea is applying for an individual private 

patrolman license.  If approved he's requesting that his 

individual license be placed in abeyance so that he may 

become the qualifying agent.  Members to be approved are 

Michael W. Healea, Terry J. Goodlad and Kyle D. Hardy and 

Joshua Healea.  This is subject to all statutes and 

regulatory requirements. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second? 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I'll 

second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Congratulations. 

MR. HEALEA:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Can we have a sidebar real 

quick.  

Okay.  We're off to other business.  Agenda item 

45.  Executive Director Ingram, if you could give us an 

overview of this please. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

This is for discussion and deliberation of the 

factors for considering for approval and/or denial of 

registered -- a registration issued pursuant to NRS 648.1493, 

including but not limited to nondisclosure of criminal 

history.  

During the last Board meeting there was 

discussion by the Board that we wanted to kind of talk out 

why certain registered work card appeals were denied and felt 
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that a true failure to disclose on occasions had kind of 

handcuffed the Board into finding anyone that failed to 

disclose any portion on their work card application they felt 

that it had to be responded with an uphold of the denial. 

And the Board had wished to discuss on the record 

maybe considering some other factors or other ideas on how 

the Board might find during the appeals section for the 

registered work card.  

Mr. Detmer, do you have anything more to add to 

that?  

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  I 

apologize.  I have a hard time speaking with the mask on.  If 

the Board is comfortable with me proceeding this way.  

Mr. -- excuse me.  Director Ingram has done a 

fantastic job as far as relaying the agenda item as I recall 

it.  When it comes to the determination of viability for a 

registration card, the statute 648.1493 actually relays the 

factors for determination.  The Board as is my recollection 

was -- was doing its job in considering all the variables 

that speak towards viability and it had started focusing, not 

focusing but one of the factors of determination was 

nondisclosure of a prior. 

This is a factor for determination but by its 

mere existence my understanding would be should not be an 
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automatic disqualifier.  As the Board again can and should 

take into consideration all facts and circumstances.  If 

there's a nondisclosure of an individual that who didn't 

disclose an event that happened 100 years ago, of course I'm 

speaking by pure exaggeration, that's a different -- that's 

something to take into consideration for someone who didn't 

factor in a crime that committed -- he was convicted of 

yesterday.  So it's a balancing.  It's a weighing all of the 

facts and circumstances. 

This is just in summary.  As the Board progresses 

through this agenda item I'm happy to answer any question or 

that I may possibly be assistance of. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So could I ask a quick 

procedural question then.  As a part of deliberation and 

discussion of this what are we trying to accomplish?  Are we 

changing anything or are we just trying to as a Board come to 

a consensus of how we want to move forward?  

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  I don't 

believe it was a -- we're on.  I don't believe it was a 

desire or decision to make a bright line as far as how the 

Board is going to rule on these.  As if you were to do that 

one might argue that is a rule of general applicability which 

would be codified or should be codified by regulation. 

My understanding was while a specific for 
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possible action, I believe that was just in case.  This gives 

you more range as far as what can be done is that the idea 

was that this would just be a discussion as far as the 

factors the Board takes into consideration when determining 

whether to uphold or deny or grant or object to the 

registration. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yeah, I believe -- this 

is Gronauer.  I believe some of the problems we've had in the 

past few years has been that we start denying people because 

they failed to disclose certain then comes in the California 

Penal Code.  

Now, I understand how our investigators this last 

time really clarified that fairly well because it says when 

you're, I can't remember the code number, but when you 

receive this and say we've dismissed your charges or 

exonerated or whatever the heck it is at that time you still 

were arrested for it and you're dismissed.  

And on that now, I believe when they receive that 

notice the person receives notice from California.  What it 

says is that you still have to report your arrest on 

applications.  If I'm correct in that or no?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

So included in penal code 1203.4, the last little sentence on 
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it says further, if this order is granted pursuant to the 

provisions of 1203.4 the defendant is required to disclose 

the above conviction in response to any direct question 

contained in any questionnaire or application for public 

office or for licensure any state local agency or for 

contracting with the California State Lottery. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you, Investigator 

Saladino.  I wanted to make sure that was clear.  

You know, that's a big deal because a lot of 

people that's what they use, you know, and I don't blame 

them.  I mean once I'm exonerated or cleared and I get a 

Court order I can understand them saying, well, I don't have 

anything to worry about.  But they have to read the whole 

thing, just like they have to read our whole application.  

That creates, you know, some type of problem, but I don't see 

it as a problem now that it's clearly delineated where it's 

stated. 

I think some of the things were also, I agree 

with our -- it's hard to believe this but I agree with our 

attorney, that we have to -- we have to take in the entire 

scope of it.  You know, there's discussion sometimes about 

what is time and business.  You know, we say that quite 

often.  I mean is two years the time or five years, ten years 

or whatever.  Well, then it's not only time and distance -- 
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and without the penal code but time and distance it's also 

severity of the crime. 

Now we've had murder people, people who were 

arrested for murder did 20 years in prison, were fine for ten 

years, you know, that's a whole different story.  But, you 

know, so that could be, okay, we can get away with that.  I 

mean, get away with, we can just say that's applying to time 

and distance.  That's fine, are good.  Some people were 

trying to explain also.  

So the idea to me is that's all we had to do is 

just clear up some of the way we think because there's been a 

couple of times where all of us have sat here and said I hate 

doing this but you didn't report this, you know, and that 

creates a problem. 

Now if you don't report a crime from 20 years ago 

I don't really have a real problem -- I don't have a problem 

with that unless it's something to do with moral turpitude 

or, you know, armed robbery and things that you served time 

for you should remember that.  Once you build time you always 

remember building time.  I never met an ex-prisoner that 

didn't remember how much time they built and where they built 

it.  So how much time you served in prison -- I'm sorry.  I'm 

talking my street stuff. 

The idea to me is so I think all we had to was 
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just clarify some of that gray area because we all can see 

time and distance as something different.  But then we have 

to add in all of the other factors.  I think when we make 

that decision, and I believe Mr. Detmer, our attorney, has 

told us before you have to tell us why you went with that, 

not just time and distance but why.  

That's my conclusion in this.  I don't know how 

the people up north feel about it.  And I would like some 

other interjection.  I'm done. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do have a couple of comments and piggyback off of 

Board Member Gronauer.  I don't know who to address this 

question to.  But on the application does it state regardless 

of what state your criminal history comes from, regardless of 

the time and distance you are to report because I think a lot 

of the people who are from out of state are like, oh, that 

happened in a different state.  I don't need to report it 

here.  Is that clearly stated because a lot of people like to 

say, well, according to PC or according to this, okay, does 

the State of Nevada and these are requirements.  So just out 

of curiosity, does the application clearly state regardless 

of the state the crime was committed?  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  On the paperwork 

card application it states, I'll kind of read it to you 
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verbatim.  Pursuant to NAC 648.339 the Board may deny, that's 

bold and underlined, an application if an applicant has been 

convicted of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude or 

illegal use or possession of a dangerous weapon.  

There's three questions that are asked after 

that.  One, have you ever been convicted of a felony charge.  

Answer no.  Number two, have you ever been convicted of a 

crime involving the illegal use or possession of a dangerous 

weapon, yes or no.  And question number three, which I 

believe is what you're referring to.  Have you ever been 

arrested, had any criminal citations, indictment and/or 

orders to appear in court.  In the chart below list all 

arrests, citations and/or orders to appear in court.  Failure 

to list all events could result -- could result in the denial 

of your registration application.  

List all charges regardless of how long ago the 

incident occurred.  List all charges regardless of what state 

it occurred in.  List all charges and/or citations regardless 

if you were placed in handcuffs.  List all charges regardless 

if they were expunged, dismissed or denied.  List all charges 

regardless if dismissed under California PC 1203.4.  Do not 

list parking or minor moving violations. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you, Chief Irizarry.  

You answered my question and it's pretty clear.  
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My thoughts as far as how we want to go about 

this as a Board, my opinions are the time and distance of the 

event, obviously the severity of the actions.  Every case is 

going to be different.  In my opinion I need to know how old 

you were at the time of the incidents.  I need to know how 

old you are today.  Your level of maturity then and now.  

What have you done between time and distance.  

I do believe and, again, every circumstance is 

different.  Five years is a little too soon.  And, again, you 

have to consider your time or your age.  Where are you in 

life?  What are you trying to do?  Are you still in the 

criminal mindset or are you still truly trying to move on 

beyond your mistakes?  

So the severity of action does play a large part.  

How old you were.  How long ago was it.  And then I also need 

in your testimony, I need to know where are we at with your 

level of integrity.  You failed to report your criminal 

history.  It's pretty clear.  Actually, it's not pretty 

clear.  It is clear in black and white.  There are Spanish 

interpreters so that can help you in a different language.  

Was it a moral turpitude.  Was it weapons related.  Was it a 

negotiated case, stuff about level or nature I think that 

plays into my decision making.  

I just need to know whether you were honest or 
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not.  Just mention it.  I'm not judging you as a person.  I'm 

judging the behavior at the time it was committed.  Now, if 

this behavior became a career now we're on a different story, 

and I'm not going to take much consideration based off 

nothing has changed.  

So with that -- with that I'll just submit that's 

my opinion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other Board Members, 

discussion?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

And I believe I may be the cause of all of this.  I 

understand time and distance, the type of crime committed.  I 

can't quote specific cases that we've had, but there have 

been cases where we had a gentleman applying to be a security 

officer.  He's 63 years old and he had a minor consuming 

arrest when he was 18 years old which he failed to disclose.  

On one hand I understand, hey, you didn't read 

the fine print.  You failed to disclose that's an issue.  

What I was worried about is, okay, this is a long time ago.  

Is it really all that big of a deal.  But we have a thing 

where we would quote a lot of times based on past practice 

we're going to deny this. 

Well, I -- I just -- there's sometimes that I 

feel that we don't need to do that.  We don't need to stand 
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on past practice for that if somebody has, you know, done 57 

odd years of good living after a minor arrest that they 

didn't put down.  I don't want to be tied down by we have 

done this in the past, past practices that we have to deny 

that person.  And I believe that was my issue with the whole 

thing.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I forgot to mention I completely agree with that.  I 

was uncomfortable denying one last Board meeting exactly 

because of that.  I don't remember what I did a month ago.  

So trying to figure out what I did 25 years ago is going to 

be a challenge.  

However, I do agree with you spent time in jail.  

You have law enforcement contact, how do you not remember 

that?  It's -- it's not a positive event.  So you are going 

to remember it.  Again, we're talking about a senior citizen.  

That was a long time ago.  There's a lot more life events 

that have occurred between then and now.  I would take that 

into consideration.  Was it honest, oh, crap I forgot to 

mention that.  It was dismissed or it was this.  I'll take 

that into consideration, again, where you're at, what you're 

trying to do with your work card and what exactly are you 

applying to get to reverse the denial.  
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So I think we all have a pretty good idea of what 

we need to consider.  I -- I agree with Board Member Brown.  

I don't want to be limited as to past practices, as quite 

honestly I don't agree with past practices.  There was a 

gentleman that I reluctantly agreed to deny it, but I do 

believe he's back so I'm glad to see him back. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board Member Bezick, 

do you have?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Obviously each case is 

different.  But to me everything hinges on the severity of 

the crime.  So it's very dependent on how severe the crime 

was, not necessarily time and distance.  Even if you 

committed a major crime 40 years ago I think that should be 

listed.  You can't say, oh, I forgot about that because I 

think it's merely impossible to forget about. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Do you have more?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez again.  

We're stressing the failure to report.  That's an integrity 

issue.  You're applying for a work card.  You're going to be 

in some sort of safety security situation and if I can't 

trust you to tell me exactly what has occurred in your past 

life how am I going to trust you to do the right thing with a 

work card.  So that's where I will stand if I get testimony 

of. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I think, you know, I agree 

with the entire Board.  It has been kind of disheartening 

sometimes to deny folks that, you know, had a bad check 

writing incident 20, 30 years ago and didn't remember.  And 

so I think I agree that it depends on the severity, the type 

of crime and time and distance.  So I think, you know, I'm 

not sure how we move forward but yeah, I think -- 

MR. DETMER:  Just for discussion.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So, you know, I think we're 

all in agreement that, you know, we can start looking at this 

more individualized.  I do think it was a little more 

difficult to do that when we're over-the-phone because it's 

hard to see people and understand, you know, if they 

understand the gravity of not, you know, noting everything 

down.  So I think it's a little bit easier when folks are in 

person.  So I do appreciate that we're now back in person. 

I would say one thing.  I went to go get a 

license a while ago where I had to go get fingerprints.  And 

while at that fingerprint location, you know, there was a 

young lady in front of me.  And she said I had a DUI, you 

know, years ago but I don't know if I put it on.  And the 

actual person that was helping her with her fingerprints 

said, oh, don't worry about it.  It was over ten years ago.  

And I think that sometimes is where we get that 
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whole, well, the PILB told me I didn't need to do it because 

it's over ten years.  I don't think it's us or, you know, the 

staff.  I think it's, you know, they're at a fingerprint 

place.  It's an off duty or, you know, an offshoot of what we 

do.  So I don't know that if that's a training issue because 

they have agents that are, you know, that are working for 

them.  

So, you know, I almost wonder if we shouldn't 

have some kind of training session on that and what they 

should note or what they should tell applicants when they ask 

those questions.  Either prefer them to the PILB directly or 

tell them they don't know, but to give some sort of advice is 

problematic, so. 

MR. INGRAM:  Kevin Ingram.  We can definitely 

reach out to our fingerprint associates and have a discussion 

on that, absolutely.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any further discussion 

on this agenda item?  Thank you, everyone.  

So we're going to head into the registration 

appeals.  That's the next agenda item.  So if you're here for 

that please standby.  We're going to take, because we're 

really ahead of the thing, so we'll take until 11:20 and 

we'll come back.  And then we'll go ahead and swear everybody 

back in or just make sure everyone is sworn in.  So thank 
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you.  We'll see you back at 11:20.  

(Whereupon, a brief recess was taken.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All right.  Everyone I want 

to make sure that we have everyone.  And I'm sorry I cannot 

see the court reporter.  

Kathy, are you ready? 

THE REPORTER:  Yes, I'm ready. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Mr. Detmer, do we want 

to make sure we have everybody sworn in. 

MR. DETMER:  For those who are going to testify 

please stand up and raise your right hand.  

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.)  

MR. DETMER:  This goes for the north as well, if 

there is anybody up there.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Yeah, we have Mr. Clark 

here and he has accepted the pledge. 

MR. DETMER:  Thank you.

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, everyone.  

Welcome back.  

This is a second part of the meeting where we do 

registration appeals.  First on -- do we have anybody on the 

phone for this?  

MR. INGRAM:  Is there anyone on the phone for the 
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work card appeals at this time?  

MR. CORMIER:  Yes, Thomas Cormier. 

MR. INGRAM:  Anyone else?  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  James White.  

MR. CORMIER:  Thomas Cormier. 

MR. INGRAM:  Can you please let us know what 

agenda item you are.  

MR. CORMIER:  I just know they told me to be on 

the phone at 11:00 o'clock. 

MR. INGRAM:  Okay, Thomas, we'll find you.  

MR. CORMIER:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MR. INGRAM:  49.  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  And James White as well. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Is it James White or William 

White?  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  James White, J-a-m-e-s. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, James. 

Is there anyone else on the call for work card 

appeal?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  William White, number 61. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, William.  

Last call for anyone on the phone for work card 

appeal.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  
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Just a quick reminder if you are on the phone 

please mute your phone.  Do not put us on hold because we'll 

hear your music and it will disrupt the meeting.  So thank 

you for that. 

Okay.  First agenda item 46, Clark Brandt or 

Brandt Clark.

MR. CLARK:  Brandt Clark. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are you in the room?  

MR. CLARK:  Pardon me?

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  He's up here in the north, 

yes.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Welcome, sir.  Tell 

us -- and just, again, sorry, another reminder.  We're 

limiting people's times for discussion to five minutes.  So, 

sir, tell us a little bit about yourself and why you're here 

today. 

MR. CLARK:  Oh, basically I applied for a job 

with the High Sierra Patrol.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We can't hear him.  

MR. INGRAM:  That microphone is still not 

working, Jordan.  

Sir, do you want to pull your mask down and see 

if we can hear you on the microphone. 

MR. CLARK:  Basically I applied at High Sierra 
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Patrol and I'm basically -- 

MR. INGRAM:  Yeah, we still cannot hear.  

Jordan, can we set up another mic, please. 

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Come up here.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  I'm going to have him come 

up here. 

MR. CLARK:  Oh, sorry.  I'm not used to this.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  You're fine.  Technical 

difficulties.  

MR. CLARK:  Sit right here? 

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  You can sit right here. 

MR. CLARK:  Sit where?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Just right here on the 

chair.  This is your mic.  

MR. CLARK:  All right. 

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  And you're live. 

MR. CLARK:  Okay.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Just get a little closer.  

MR. CLARK:  Pardon?

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Just get a little closer to 

the mic.  

MR. CLARK:  I'm not used to this.  

All right.  So what is the question now?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Can you repeat the question, 
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please.  Technical difficulties.

(Lost connection to Las Vegas.)

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So we're back on.  

We're on item number 46.  

Mr. Brandt Clark, I can see you.  Are you -- can 

you go ahead and speak and see if we can hear you. 

MR. CLARK:  Yeah.  Can you hear me?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, sir.  Thank you.  Please 

go ahead and tell us a little bit about yourself.  Again, 

please remember we have the five minutes. 

MR. CLARK:  Okay.  Basically I moved here from 

California.  I'm actually a physical therapist.  I'm actually 

licensed in California and Nevada.  But, you know, I haven't 

found the right job.  

And I applied at High Sierra Patrol, and I like 

the people there.  And I've done -- I was Oceanside PD.  I 

was there for a while.  And I thought, gee, this would be a 

great fit.  But when I looked at the application and I talked 

with the person, the guy at the private investigator's 

licensing board in Carson City, he said because of, I think 

it was about 31 years ago I was at my friend's marina.  It 

was late at night.  And I just came from the shooting range 

some hours before and I forgot to unload my pistol.  

And the sheriffs came by because there had been 
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some break-in's at the marina, and they asked me if I was -- 

that my car.  I was standing outside my Corvette.  I said 

yeah.  They said can we look inside your car.  I said yeah, 

sure.  They said you know you have a loaded gun back there.  

And I said oh, boy.  They were really nice about it.  

And so basically they charged me with having a 

loaded firearm in the back of my Corvette which I, like I 

say, it wasn't something intentional.  I just forgot about 

it.  

So when I -- when I went to, before the judge he 

just said, well, this has not occurred before.  He said you 

gotta be really careful when you come from a shooting range 

and make sure you unload your weapon.  I just said I know.  I 

was -- I just forgot it.  

Anyway, I was fined $50, and I was told not to do 

it again, and I think that was about 31 years ago.  And it's 

never occurred since.  I've always been extra careful since 

then.  That's about all I can refer on that.  So I don't know 

what else I can tell you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  

Board, are there any questions for Mr. Brandt or 

Mr. Clark?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Board Member Gronauer.  

Mr. Clark, if you do get your work card what do you plan on 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
111

doing with it?  

MR. CLARK:  I'm sorry, what?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  If you get approved for 

the work card what is your -- what are your plans?  

MR. CLARK:  Well, my plans basically was they 

want to hire me at High Sierra for a nighttime shift and 

train me.  I thought gee whiz.  That would be great.  So 

that's my plan.  So then probably see if I can't find a 

physical therapy job during the day.  But this would be a 

night thing.  I think the shift was like 8:00 to 4:00 in the 

morning.  I thought that would be great.  

You know, I'm on social security but I need to 

work.  I'm one of these people I need to work.  And I just 

thought, no, this would be a great service, and it's kind of 

a nice rapport with the people at High Sierra.  I thought 

this would be a good job for me.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Sir, if you 

get hired by High Sierra what are you being hired as?  What 

position?  

MR. CLARK:  Pardon?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  What position would that 

be?  

MR. CLARK:  That would be -- that would be an 

unarmed patrol I think in Incline Village, you know, security 
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property, that sort of thing, just nighttime patrol.  Make 

sure that gates are locked and there's no vagrants and no 

people there and that sort of thing. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

Are there any other questions from the Board?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I make a 

motion that we grant the work card for Brandt Clark. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member --

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I'll 

second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was in favor of the motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any opposed?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  No. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  The motion passes 

three to one.  Mr. Brandt, good luck -- Mr. Clark, good luck. 

Sorry.  Correction for the record.  It's four to 

one.  
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Agenda item number 47, Mr. George Clay.  Are you 

here?  Please tell us a little bit yourself and why you're 

here. 

MR. CLAY:  So I've worked security in the State 

of California since 1992.  I had a -- back when the sheriffs, 

the Metro use to issue cards, I had one of those back in the 

early '90s as well.  Back in 2007, so 14 years ago, I was 

contacted by somebody on My Space, which kind of tells you 

how long ago that was.  And the birthday on there said they 

were 17.  So I waited for the birthday change to 18 until I 

answered the e-mail or instant message from them.  I ended up 

meeting them one time.  

And then I was later contacted by Metro because 

apparently she had gotten pregnant by somebody else, and she 

actually turned out to be 14, even though they found multiple 

birth dates with different birth dates on it.  I ended up 

pleading guilty to unlawful contact with a minor but it's no 

probation.  No registration.  No nothing.  So my 

understanding is that is what was prohibiting me from getting 

my card here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Mr. Clay, correct?  

MR. CLAY:  Yes, sir.  I believe I talked to you 
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last year as well. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I believe so, yeah.  

MR. CLAY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  What are you planning on 

doing with this work card?  

MR. CLAY:  So I live here but I mostly work in 

California.  And one of the gentlemen I work for in 

California has a license here for event staffing stuff.  And 

like he's got, what is it, EDC coming up and some other 

things that he needs supervisors for it.  So it would be 

mainly for me to come up here and help run events, run 

security details for that kind of thing, not so much a 

day-to-day work issue.  

Just because I have my own -- I still own my own 

security company in California.  I believe Investigator Jones 

has verified that.  And it's -- like I said, it's mostly just 

going to be for coming up to work special events, that kind 

of a thing, not necessarily a day-to-day operation thing. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Quick question.  The company 

that you work for, they are licensed here?  

MR. CLAY:  Yes, ma'am.  Events -- it's either 

Events Staffing Professionals or Events Security 

Professionals.  I think there was something where they had to 

change the name to kind of qualify under the PILB's ruling. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Are there any other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  One thing.  You said you 

talked to me before. 

MR. CLAY:  I believe on last year's over the 

phone Board hearing there were you and a couple of other 

people. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  All right. 

MR. CLAY:  And I was told wait a year to reapply.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  I wanted to make 

sure it wasn't that you and I had personal contact. 

MR. CLAY:  No.  No, sir.  I remember your name 

from last year's, from the meeting. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Usually you can't 

pronounce.  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. CLAY:  Gronauer, correct.  Yes, sir. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So let's move forward.  

Any other questions for Mr. Clay?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Not so much for the 

application.  This is Board Member Cortez.  I do have a 

question.  My apologies, I thought I had it up on the 2020 

transcript, does anybody have a copy to read what the denial 

was for.  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Investigator Jones in the north 
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should have it. 

MR. CLAY:  I believe Mr. Gronauer put out time 

and distance at the time. 

Well, that's a unique name, sir.  You don't run 

into a lot of Gronauers.  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  Jordan, do you 

have a the transcript there for Cortez as she had questions 

on it? 

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  I do not.  I was having 

technical difficulties trying to print it out.  I'm trying to 

pull it up now. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  I pulled it up.  

Board indulgence.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  While you're pulling that 

up, this is Gronauer.  I have another question here.  Since a 

year ago have you had any trouble at all?  

MR. CLAY:  I haven't been in -- that's the only 

trouble I've been in my entire life. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  The denial, that's what 

I'm talking about now.  

MR. CLAY:  No, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  What kind of 

work are you doing now?  

MR. CLAY:  I work armed security in California.  
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I run my own company in California.  And I help him run 

specialty -- like right now currently I'm technically 

supposed to be in Long Beach to help run events.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay. 

MR. CLAY:  Because he's gone back to Iowa to move 

houses. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You have a card in 

California?  

MR. CLAY:  Yes.  Like I said, I'm actually -- 

Investigator Jordan Jones actually talked to me about it.  

I'm listed as the principal for Metropolitan Public Safety in 

California. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Thank you.  

MR. CLAY:  Thank you.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I have no more questions. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  If we have no more 

questions for agenda item number 47, I'll entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  Because 

Mr. Clay has done what we asked him, returned in a year, 

hasn't had any problems, I move that we grant the appeal. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  The motion passes.  

Congratulations, sir.  Good luck to you. 

MR. CLAY:  Can I ask one quick question?  I know 

EDC or something is coming up later this month.  Will this be 

in process in time for that so I can let my boss know?  

MR. INGRAM:  We'll be in touch with you within a 

day or two. 

MR. CLAY:  Okay.  Thank you very much. 

MR. INGRAM:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Agenda item number 48, 

Maribel Molina.  Okay.  Ms. Molina, please tell us a little 

bit about yourself and what you're need for getting a work 

card. 

MS. MOLINA:  Okay.  So my name is Maribel Molina.  

I applied for a clerical position at Legal Process Service.  

They extended me the job.  However they said I needed to pass 

the background check with you.  I did disclose that I had 

something 20 plus years ago.  And when I went to apply and 

disclosed everything and they told me it was going to be an 

automatic denial, to do an appeal.  I missed the June one and 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
119

so here I am for this one. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Hi.  Good morning.  Ms. Molina, can you give me some 

information on the fraud.  Did it happen to be gang related? 

MS. MOLINA:  No.  I was on public assistance.  

They had like a back to work program.  I started working but 

still receiving assistance.  And a couple years later I got a 

letter in the mail saying I need to appear in court for that 

and it ended up being a felony which was only about $4,000 or 

so, so I did probation, community service and paid 

restitution.  That closed up.  

Then years later, I don't remember exactly what 

year, I just my, I gave like a three-year window time frame.  

I went to Tijuana, Mexico just to spend the day, eat.  

Crossing the border back is when they arrested me because 

they said I had a warrant out for my arrest which I knew 

nothing of. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any further 

questions for Ms. Molina?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I motion that we overturn the appeal for Maribel 

Molina.  She is appealing the denial for restriction. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Does anybody have any further 
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questions?  Okay.  No further questions. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Once again, this is Board 

Member Cortez making a motion to overturn the denial for 

Ms. Maribel Molina's work card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  We have a motion.  Do 

we have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  It's passed.  

Congratulations.  Good luck to you. 

MS. MOLINA:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Item number 49, Thomas 

Cormier. 

MR. CORMIER:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir, tell us a little 

bit about yourself and what -- what you're going to do with 

your work card. 

MR. CORMIER:  Yeah, my name is Thomas Cormier.  

I'm 51 years of age.  I've been driving limos since 2014.  

I'm trying to get my guard card because my wife has been a 

labor and delivery nurse for 35 years.  She works at Mountain 
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View Hospital.  Yeah, I know a lot of the bosses over there, 

the one told me that she could use me as security over there.  

So if I get my appeal card she would hire me 

because right now I'm doing like two jobs.  Since me and my 

wife's, you know, schedules are just hectic so I'm trying to, 

you know, limit it down.  

We've been in Vegas since 2006.  We bought a 

house about seven years ago.  And I went to Lot Burn here.  I 

had them seal my records.  And they told me specifically that 

if that question ever came up on application to put no.  I 

wasn't trying to be dishonest about it or hide it from 

anybody or anything.  

I mean, obviously I'm not the same person I was 

when those things happened as I am today.  But they told me 

specifically that to put no, any questions about my history 

came up so that's why I did it.  I didn't do it because I was 

trying to be dishonest or deceive anybody. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any 

questions for Mr. Cormier?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have a question for Investigator Jordan.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Investigator Jordan, on some 

of Mr. Cormier's arrests, under disclosed you have NA.  I'm 
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trying to decide or figure out why it was not applicable for 

him to disclose those.  

MR. CORMIER:  Is that question for me?

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  I --

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  The question is for 

Investigator Jones.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  For numbers seven, eight and 

nine on your report those are incorrect.  The only one that 

should be not applicable is number six because that was a 

juvenile, but it did show up on the fingerprint report.  So I 

did want to have that on your report, but it was not required 

to be disclosed as he was a juvenile.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  So the others are 

typos.  They should read no or should they read yes.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Give me -- can you tell them 

to give me just one second.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  He's looking at his 

paperwork.  Give him one second to respond.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Can you hear me?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, we can.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  On the original application 

he did not disclose any arrests.  And with his appeal letter 

he only disclosed the 1991 assault, the 1999 delivery and the 

2009 solicitation.  
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BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Thank you, Investigator 

Jordan.  

My question would be, Mr. Cormier, after your 

denial and you listed some arrests, why didn't you list the 

others?  

MR. CORMIER:  Because they are not me.  I found 

out that my brother had been using my name.  And when the -- 

I think whoever I was talking to on the phone called me he 

started pointing out all of these cases.  And I'm like that 

ain't me.  That ain't me.  And he was just spouting all these 

cases out and they are not me.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  So your brother was arrested 

pretending to be you for some of these charges?  

MR. CORMIER:  Yes, several times as I found out 

and he's actually locked up right now. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So this is Board Member 

Nixon.  And, you know, forgive my ignorance, but don't they 

run fingerprints when they arrest you?  

MR. CORMIER:  Not if they let you go.  I guess 

when they let you go they just put out one for your arrest 

and then you have to deal with this. 

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  If I may.  Board 

Member Brown, to answer your question, the reason why the 

'04, the '89 and the '88 had a disposition of NA was because 
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of the applicant's reasoning saying it wasn't him.  I'm 

referring back to his actual note within the file.  

Investigator Jones explains to the applicant we 

based your background off of your fingerprint results.  So, 

yes, it should have came back to his fingerprint results.  

This particular incident we did not look him up with the name 

check.  A name check would be a name, date of birth and 

social only.  These results were from his actual 

fingerprints.  

Because the applicant was stating it's not me it 

comes back on his fingerprint report as such that's why we 

indicated NA on those three arrests, but those arrests as you 

see in your report were listed on his fingerprint report that 

we got back.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Thank you, chief. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Mr. Jones, Investigator Jones, do we have 

information as far as an attempt to provide the brother's 

information as to the alleged that he was the one committing 

these crimes?  I don't know if it was clear or not.  Did the 

applicant indicate other than his statement this was my 

brother, are there court papers supporting that?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  

MR. CORMIER:  Yeah, when he went on my name back 
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then -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir?  Sir, this is for -- 

MR. CORMIER:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  This question is for the -- 

MR. CORMIER:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  I have 

not received any court documents.  But on the fingerprint 

report it does show his brother, William Cormier, as one of 

the also known aliases. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Mr. Cormier, again, I just need a little bit of 

clarification.  I read verbatim what the application 

indicates.  Any kind of legal contact, any kind of court 

appearance regardless of the disposition, whether it was 

dismissed, it was heard or adjudicated, found guilty, 

dismissed, whatever the case may be, it clearly states you 

need to report it.  I don't know if you heard my testimony 

earlier but integrity -- 

MR. CORMIER:  Yes, I actually did.  And that's 

why I was like, oh, okay.  That kind of cleared up a lot 

because I went to a -- I went to a -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir?  Sir, please let her 

finish her question.  Thank you. 
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MR. CORMIER:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I don't know if it was so 

much a question.  It was more of a statement that that's -- 

it's problematic for me to make a sound judgment on giving 

you a work card when you failed one of the basic information.  

Given a work card you're going to be given a higher level of 

responsibility.  If you can't be honest on something that is 

clear in English that gives me a little bit of problem.  So 

go ahead.  I'll let you respond but please make it brief. 

MR. CORMIER:  That's why I said earlier, when I 

had my record sealed they specifically told me that I didn't 

have to disclose any of that no matter what that case is. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  I'm going to 

interrupt you.  And then, again, this is one last time for 

everybody's information.  Who told you to not to disclose 

such?  

MR. CORMIER:  The law firm here.  I have it 

somewhere.  I paid to have my records sealed. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Let me stop you 

right there.  Did you ask any staff from the PILB Board for 

clear instructions as to what the application states as far 

as indicating your report for law enforcement contact?  

MR. CORMIER:  No.  As far as -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  That's all I needed to 
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know.  Thank you so much.  I understand the situation. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

Okay.  I'll entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'm going to motion to uphold the denial as 

previously indicated.  I need everything to be listed on the 

application as clearly stated.  I also know that PILB staff 

is more than willing to assist any applicant questions.  As a 

matter of fact, we'll be hearing another one of an applicant 

that was incredibly diligent reaching PILB staff to make sure 

that the applicant was correct. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So we have a motion.  

Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  I'll second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Motion and second.  All in 

favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Mr. Cormier, your 

denial has been upheld which means you will not receive your 

work card.  Sir, I would recommend that you figure out the 

concern with your brother.  I think all of us have issue with 

the fact that they ran fingerprints and it showed up as you.  
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So until that's cleared up you're more than welcome to come 

back in a year, but until you come back with a solid answer 

and paperwork to remedy that I think we're all going to have 

issue with that.  So good luck to you, sir.  Thank you. 

MR. CORMIER:  Yep.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Item number 50, Yshonda Cobb.  

Are you in the room or on the phone?  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I'm sorry?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  This is 50, Yshonda Cobb.  

That's not you, correct?  Okay.  So is Yshonda Cobb in the 

room or on the phone?  Okay.  We'll go ahead and trail number 

50. 

Item number 51, Abe, okay.  Thank you, sir.  

Could you pronounce your last name for me. 

MR. MAGSAYO:  Magsayo. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Magsayo.  Thank you, sir.  

Please tell us a little bit about yourself and what your 

intentions are. 

MR. MAGSAYO:  Thanks from Robert, Katherine and 

everyone in the family and thank you for giving me the 

opportunity to speak to you guys.  

You know, about myself, you know, I'm the only 

person that didn't join the military.  I was born at Mather 

Air Force Base.  My brothers were retired navy.  My father is 
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a master sergeant in the army for -- they work for a general 

in the guard. 

And as for me, you know, I'm in a career field 

that store manager.  I travel and help other stores and I've 

been doing it for quite a long time, and I really want to 

transition to a security field.  There's opportunities for me 

out there.  And I feel that this is a place where I need to 

start before, you know, I get too deep and find out that 

there's an issue with my background. 

I should have disclosed, you know, the 

application back in 1999 or somewhere around there.  It's 

just in retail that I've grown.  It's, we do extensive 

background in all 50 states.  A lot happened from here and 

there.  And, you know, if I knew how this process went I 

would have definitely put that on there.  I really truly 

forgot to put that on there.  And I apologize. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yes, sir.  This is 

Gronauer.  Can you explain the situation, what this 

transporting controlled substance. 

MR. MAGSAYO:  Yeah.  So I actually was working 

security back in the days.  And, you know, I was a kid and, 

you know, I was really friends with everyone in my community.  

I met this guy.  You know, he was really cool.  I just needed 

a car.  And, you know, he sold me a car for, you know, really 
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cheap and had I had a better thought process too and had more 

intelligence to inspect the vehicle that would have never 

happened and I did time for that.  I did 30 days, and I also 

went to probation.  

And since then, you know, I didn't go back to the 

security.  I was a dispatch security back then.  And I 

started my career in retail. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It says -- just to 

follow-up, it says transport controlled substance.  You said 

a car. 

MR. MAGSAYO:  Yes, sir.  So when I got pulled 

over in that vehicle that wasn't registered to me, they 

searched the vehicle and thought I was that person.  

Everything was in there and, you know, disclosed under a 

tire.  And when I tried to explain to the officer there's no 

way I can get through that person.  I was just a kid back 

then.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  What do you plan on doing 

with the work card now?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  You know, I have a lot of friends, 

you know, in the security field, and I'm greatly influenced 

into that.  I feel myself that, you know, I fit so and 

there's a lot of things that happen nowadays.  We need a 

security that can embrace the community and be a good speaker 
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and help everybody.  We don't need someone that, you know, 

just tell them and delegate everybody.  That just causes -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  So you want to 

work in security, right?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other questions 

from the Board?  

I have a question, sir.  Why didn't you disclose 

this information during the application process? 

MR. MAGSAYO:  What?  I'm sorry, Tammy.  Say that 

again. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Why did you not disclose this 

information during the process?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  And I should have.  And, you know, 

like I said, I did a background in retail.  I'm a retail 

store manager.  We give a background in all 50 states and I 

really should have.  I just didn't think about it, yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So you just didn't 

think to put it on?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Mr. Magsayo, we are the same age and you appear to 

be a smart gentleman.  Shoulda, coulda, woulda, did you not 
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understand on the application to state that?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  I did understand. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So it was pretty much -- 

MR. MAGSAYO:  I just -- I just -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- forget it.  I'm not 

interested.  If they catch me they catch me, if not if not?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  It wasn't like that.  It was, you 

know, after, you know, I do a background in retail.  I was 

thinking about my background is truly clear so I wouldn't 

think it's going to, you know, be, appear.  I thought I could 

move forward in life.  I want to -- I want to make a 

difference and this is important to me. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So you messed up and you're 

trying to hopefully move forward from the -- 

MR. MAGSAYO:  Absolutely. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- mistake. 

Okay.  Second question.  What was the substance 

that was being -- what was the controlled substance?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  It was cocaine. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And how much was found in 

the vehicle?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  I want to say it's small, very 

small because I would have done prison time, yeah.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So basically possession of 
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controlled substance because it was your registered vehicle?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  My vehicle wasn't registered at the 

time. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So it was an unregistered 

vehicle but you were driving it?  

MR. MAGSAYO:  Yeah.  I was hoping that the person 

that, you know, owned the car. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Yeah, unfortunately that's 

not how it works.  You're driving it.  It's yours.  Got it.  

Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

Okay.  No other questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  Do we have a motion?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we grant the appeal and allow him to get his work 

card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am going to second the motion.  However, I would 

strongly recommend that, again, you're my age.  You no longer 

have luxury to make these kind of mistakes, especially held 

to a higher standard.  Please dot your I's and cross your T's 
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but I will motion that the, the reversal of the denial. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Does anybody want to 

revisit the motion?  Oh, I'm sorry, the reason for the 

motion.  I'm sorry.

Board Member Brown?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Yes, ma'am.  Sorry.  I've 

got static in my phone.  Say again, please. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Can you give us the reasoning 

for your motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  The reason for my motion is  

time and distance.  It was 22 years ago.  It's granted a 

felony but on a minor side in my opinion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I believe there's been 

enough time and distance from that even though he failed to 

disclose it. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  All right.  We have a 

motion.  We have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was in favor of the motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  All opposed?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  No. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Nixon.  No. 

Okay.  So three to two.  It passes.  But I will 

tell you, you know, my reason for no is because you made a 
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choice.  You knew that it was in your background and you made 

a decision to not disclose.  So that's my reason.  

Again, I'm with Board Member Cortez.  You know, 

it's your responsibility to disclose.  It's very clear on the 

paperwork.  So going forward please make sure you do so. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And, again, if I may my 

reason for no.  Drugs were found in a tire.  It's not going 

to be a small amount of drugs if you're talking about 

cocaine.  That's just my past experience, okay, not 

transporting but arresting.  So I'm sorry but and also you 

should have been able to disclose it.  Thank you. 

MR. MAGSAYO:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  The PILB 

will get in contact with you. 

Okay.  Agenda item number 52, Mr. Finley.  Adam 

Finley, are you in the room or on the phone?  Okay.  One more 

time.  Mr. Finley?  Okay.  We'll go ahead and trail. 

Agenda item number 53, Anthony Wong.  Good 

afternoon, sir. 

MR. WONG:  How are you doing today?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good.  Tell us a little bit 

about yourself and what your intentions are. 

MR. WONG:  My name is Anthony Wong.  I'm 27.  I'm 

appealing for the work card.  I just want to get my work card 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
136

back, get to work and take care of my family. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any questions from 

the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez.  

Mr. Wong, why did you fail to disclose any of your criminal 

history when it was clearly stated on the application to do 

such?  

MR. WONG:  I wasn't sure.  I thought when the 

cases were dismissed from when you were in court I thought 

that was fine from there.  And go ahead. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Did you make an attempt to 

call any of the PILB staff?  

MR. WONG:  Yes, I did actually. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Did you speak to anyone?  

MR. WONG:  Yes.  I'm not sure but they told me 

just put if you've been convicted of any crime or anything 

like that.  But as in me being dismissed or, you know, 

something like that I thought in my mind really it's 

dismissed.  Why does it need to be written down. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you. 

MR. WONG:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  
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Mr. Wong?  

MR. WONG:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Tell me about the 

discharging of a firearm in a structure prohibited area July 

of '19. 

MR. WONG:  That was on the freeway in Las Vegas.  

I was actually driving the car, and one of my passengers 

discharged their weapon and then we got arrested for that.  

We -- the case was dismissed.  It wasn't me.  I mean it was 

definitely the other person.  There's a video record of it 

and everything like that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Regarding the same incident were you aware your 

passenger had a weapon in the vehicle?  

MR. WONG:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Was it a road rage 

incident?  

MR. WONG:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Why did the passenger 

discharge his gun?  

MR. WONG:  I don't know.  There was music on.  I 

guess he must have been feeling the music and just rolled 

down the window and shot it in the air.  It wasn't -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I don't know the details of 
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the case.  What was the structure prohibited area?  

MR. WONG:  It was just on the freeway.  We were 

getting on the freeway, and then he just rolls down the 

window and just bam, and I didn't have any control over that 

or anything like that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So there were other drivers 

on the freeway at that time?  

MR. WONG:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Carrying a concealed 

weapon, 2017.  Talk to me about that. 

MR. WONG:  That was in California, I believe in 

Stockton.  I was pulled over.  I had an air freshener in the 

-- from the rear view mirror and so I get it was an 

obstruction of vision I guess from when I was driving.  So he 

takes me out of the car.  And I said what's the problem.  And 

he was like, well, you've got an air freshener in the window 

and that's the obstruction of view.  

So I said all right.  So he takes me out of the 

car.  And then I have a gun in my backpack under the seat and 

then he finds it from there but it was in my name and 

everything like that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  It was registered?  

MR. WONG:  To me. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Weapon?  
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MR. WONG:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Was that disclosed in 

court?  

MR. WONG:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You terminated probation in 

2021. 

MR. WONG:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Recently, a couple of 

months ago. 

MR. WONG:  Yes, ma'am.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  What are you doing now?  

MR. WONG:  I work for a pool company, and I also 

do security.  I was actually doing security already.  And 

then I guess he looked in my background and was like, whoa, I 

guess I gotta stop you from working.  So I said, all right, 

no problem.  He said go ahead and appeal it.  And I said I'll 

let you know from there.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you.  I have no more 

questions. 

MR. WONG:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Mr. Wong, my problem -- 

this is Gronauer.  My problem is you have a history of this 

weapon stuff in 2017 and it says carrying concealed weapon in 

vehicle.  You said it was registered to you but apparently 
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you didn't have a permit for it. 

MR. WONG:  No.  That was registered to me. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's registered but you 

have to have a permit to carry. 

MR. WONG:  Yes.  Yes.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You didn't have it?  

MR. WONG:  No, I did not have it.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  But you did have the gun? 

MR. WONG:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Under your seat in a 

backpack?  

MR. WONG:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  In 2019 it just so happen 

you're driving a car when a friend of yours is a passenger. 

MR. WONG:  Yep. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And there's another 

weapon involved.  

MR. WONG:  Yep, but that wasn't me, I mean.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's your car?  

MR. WONG:  Right. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's your friend, okay.  

MR. WONG:  Yeah.  I don't even hang out with 

those people anymore. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  What you do now and what 
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you did then are two different things, okay.  But I'm looking 

at it going, okay, you should know who gets in your car. 

MR. WONG:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  I have -- I 

just have my own problems with it.  Two gun things in three 

years -- in two years and you say the obstruction.  But 

there's got to be something to receive 36 months probation 

and it wasn't terminated until May of 2021.  And then it just 

says to me there's something else that might be going on 

there.  Thank you. 

MR. WONG:  All right. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir, Board Member Nixon.  You 

know, the application, and I'm looking at it, and it very 

clearly states list all charges regardless if they were 

expunged or dismissed -- 

MR. WONG:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Or denied.  List of all 

charges regardless if they were dismissed or reduced under 

California Penal Code.  List all charges regardless of what 

state it occurred in.  List all charges, charges and/or 

citations regardless if placed in handcuffs.  There's a lot 

of all in there.  And so for me, you made a decision to, you 

know, become your own lawyer or just, you know, disregard the 

paperwork.  It says list everything. 
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MR. WONG:  All right. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So that's just my opinion.  

But I'll entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am going to motion that we uphold the denial, the 

reason being time and distance.  The situations of going on 

in 2019, 2017, more so the fact that you failed to disclose.  

I understand you are misunderstood as far as what the clear 

applicant states.  

I do see that you're young.  I am -- it's nice to 

see that you are trying to make a positive move in the right 

direction.  However, based on the fact that you didn't 

disclose it. 

MR. WONG:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And I needed all of the 

facts.  So at this time I am going to recommend that we 

uphold the denial. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Brown.  I'll second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

MR. WONG:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Have a good day.  

Good luck to you. 

Item number 54, Eric Acevedo-Casarez.  Good 

afternoon, sir. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Good afternoon, everyone. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So please tell us a little 

bit about yourself and why you're here. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  My name is Eric 

Acevedo-Casarez.  I'm 31.  I've been in Vegas since last 

February with my wife and kids.  I applied to work at 

Allegiant Stadium and they gave to me a provisional while the 

investigation was ongoing.  I was stopped from working a 

couple of events ago because my criminal record popped up and 

Vincent from PILB reached out to me.  He asked me about my 

2007 felony charge.  

I explained to him what happened briefly.  We had 

maybe like a ten or 15-minute phone call.  I received a 

letter in the mail to disclose the information.  I tried to 

reach out to Vincent via phone a couple of times and I left 

him a voicemail, and he never got back to me. 

I do understand -- after I filled out the 

application and sent it in because I pulled out my records 
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because I wanted to have them for today that I didn't put 

everything on there, just the 211 charge that I was charged 

for in 2007. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any questions from the 

Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Yes.  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Did you bring the paperwork today. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Yes.  I have my expungement 

letter and my criminal history record with me also. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Question for Mr. -- 

Investigator Saladino.  Do you have the paperwork?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

Correct, I do have the 1203.4 dismissal paperwork. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Just for clarification, 

can you read what it says, Mr. Saladino. 

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  So number six on the 

penal code, it says that the order is granted under 

provisions of either penal code section 1203.4 or 1203.4 (a).  

The defendant is released from all penalties and disabilities 

resulting from the offense except as provided in penal code 

section 12021 and 12021.1, vehicle code 13555, and dismissal 

does not permit the person to own, possess or have in his or 

her control a firearm if prevented by penal code sections 
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12021 or 1201.1.  

In addition as required by the penal code section 

299 (f), relief under the penal code section 17 1203.4 and 

1203.4 (a) does not release the defendant from the separate 

administrative duty to provide samples, print impressions 

under DNA and forensic identification database.  

If the defendant is found guilty by a tier of 

fact, not guilty by reason of insanity or pled no contest to 

a qualifying offense as defined in the penal code. 

It also says, number five, the defendant is 

required to disclose the above conviction in response to any 

direct questioning contained in any questionnaire or 

application for public office or licensure by any state or 

local agency or for contracting with the California State 

Lottery. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Let me ask you, okay, 

what was the circumstances of the robbery. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  I was 17 at the time.  My 

girlfriend at the time, her brother was involved in a similar 

case prior to him and I meeting.  One time in '07, it was 

maybe like 11:00 a.m., maybe 10:00 a.m., May or June, I did 

not know he was off some drugs the night before.  So the next 

day he was feeling antsy.  He was -- 
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Just get to the robbery. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  So, you know, we exchanged 

words.  You know, he basically said prove yourself and 

whatnot.  So me at the time being 17, I'm not going to say I 

was a kid, but I was a teenager.  That, you know, okay, we 

went on -- we proceeded with the day.  We saw these two 

gentlemen on the street on Washington and L.A.  This happened 

in Los Angeles.  And, you know, we approached the gentlemen.  

We exchanged words with them. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  That's good.  Let 

me ask you one more thing.  You have this paperwork that you 

were dismissed. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  I have the original 

paperwork. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Did you read it?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  I read the paperwork, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And that last paragraph 

didn't mean anything to you submitting your application?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Being here since last year, 

this is my first time applying for -- second time, excuse me, 

for a security position out here.  The first time was last 

year at Excaliber Hotel and Casino.  They never asked me for 

a work card at the casino.  And I even spoke with one of the 

managers there.  He said that's not required here.  You'll be 
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okay. 

I worked maybe for like a month or so with him.  

I was still training.  Then the country shutdown with COVID 

and stuff.  So come back around this year I applied for a 

position in security in Allegiant Stadium.  In the 

application I did not include my charges because being 

dismissed and being out here I wasn't sure. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other questions?  

Okay.  With no other questions, I'll entertain a 

motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Did you indicate what you plan on doing with the 

work card?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  No, I haven't been asked. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And that's my question. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  I want to continue working 

at Allegiant Stadium.  I am currently a medical assistant at 

Red Fox Surgery Center.  I have a wife and we have two boys 

and we recently had a daughter three weeks ago today.  So I 

just want to provide extra income for my family and I. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  With that said 

you're absolutely, not only does the application state it, 

but paperwork you brought, the last sentence indicates -- 
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MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- to include it.  We just 

denied somebody for the exact same situation.  This occurred 

when you were 17.  You're right.  It doesn't really excuse 

the behavior.  You never got to the actual robbery point.  

What was this battery charge?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  It was a 2011 felony charge 

with weapon. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Against?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Against two other 

gentlemen.  It was two -- two victims, two suspects. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Gang related?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  No, it was not gang 

related.  The other victim -- sorry.  The other suspect, 

himself, he was gang affiliated.  I've never been in a gang 

myself or affiliated.  He -- he was the -- at the time as it 

was told to me by LAPD and the arresting officers.  He 

separated his case from mine.  So I speak for myself on this 

because we had our cases separated at the time.  So we both 

appeared at separate court cases and all of that so we -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Understood.  It was a fight 

amongst you guys.  It was battery charges?  

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  It wasn't a fight that 

escalated.  The suspect number one, he's the one in the 
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altercation and I have my paperwork here.  He's the one that 

did most of the physical confrontation with the suspects. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  But you were 

involved in a battery. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Yeah, I was involved in the 

'07 case. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  With all of that said, 

14-year difference, I'm hearing that you are trying to make a 

difference.  You have a family which that makes more of a 

difference for me because a parent and a father needs to be 

involved and financial help is a huge contributing factor.  

So at this time I am going to motion that we reverse the 

denial and that we grant Mr. Acedevo-Casarez his work card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye.

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)

BOARD MEMBER NIXON:  Congratulations.  Good luck 

to you. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Thank you all.  I 

appreciate it.  
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BOARD MEMBER NIXON:  The motion has been passed. 

MR. ACEVEDO-CASAREZ:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Agenda item number 55, 

James White.  Are you on the phone?  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes, ma'am.  I'm on the phone. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  Tell 

us a little bit about yourself and what you intend to do with 

your work card.  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes, ma'am.  I am currently 

awaiting to start some cyber security classes.  I currently 

work for an organization Cash and Carry in Southern Nevada.  

I am a security officer there.  When -- hopefully if my work 

card is granted the appeal I am, with my experience that I 

have had in California, I have about seven years of 

experience in security ranging from unarmed and armed and 

patrol.  

You know, I've been wanting to get into a 

supervisor position.  You know, I've been doing it for some 

time, and I think it's time for me to definitely take my life 

in the next direction.  You know, I do have three boys.  One 

that is in California with his mother, you know, but I do 

still take care of.  So I'm trying to lead a better role life 

for them. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Board, is 
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there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Yeah, this is Bezick.  

Mr. White, can you describe the details of your domestic 

battery in 2017. 

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes.  The domestic charge that 

I had in 2017 was an argument basically in the Jack in the 

Box parking lot in California in Chino Hills.  Police was 

called to my house which was in 13051 Ramona Avenue.  It 

wasn't called by my son's mother at the time.  It was called 

by her sister I believe.  I was arrested for whatever reason.  

The reason why I know that the judge did drop the charges, 

sir, was because there was no evidence of any domestic. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I have a question.  On 2020 

it looks like you were arrested or convicted, I'm sorry, of 

carrying a concealed weapon in a vehicle.  Why did you not 

disclose that?  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes, ma'am, I was convicted of 

that charge there.  Honestly I thought I did write that on my 

application when I did my application for my work card.  All 

of my applications that I have submitted since I've been 

living in Las Vegas all have that record on there.  So that 

honestly, ma'am, was, you know, my mistake.  My mind has been 

in 1,000 places since I moved to Las Vegas.  I definitely 
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apologize.  You know, I will take my consequences for my 

actions, you know, either way if it's positive or negative, 

ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And it 

looks like, and I'm sorry, Saladino, we have not received the 

paperwork from him yet. 

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

So I do have the court docs for the misdemeanor, carrying a 

concealed weapon.  Probation, based on the court docs that I 

received from the San Bernardino website, it shows that the 

probation ended August 12th of '21.  The applicant had stated 

it completed early in June, and that was just if he had the 

paperwork for it I wanted that.  But it shows he was off 

paper August 12th of '21. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, any other 

questions?  

Okay.  There are no questions -- actually, I do.  

Can you explain the events that happened on 2020 that they 

found a concealed weapon in your vehicle. 

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes, ma'am.  At that time I was 

working for a company called Top West Patrol.  I was an armed 

security officer for a parking structure.  At the time I was 

homeless.  Like I did explain to the officer, I was off of 

work at 7:00 a.m. in the morning.  Like I said, I was 
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homeless so I was sleeping in my car offsite until I was able 

to go to my fiance's house at the time to, you know, take a 

shower and change clothes. 

Like I said, I was an armed officer.  So when I 

got off of work I took my gun off and I put it inside of my 

gun case.  And I had just put it in my back seat because like 

I showed the officers when they checked my trunk my trunk was 

full of all of my belongings, you know, clothes, shoes, my 

uniforms, you know, different stuff that I did carry with me. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  Is 

there any -- 

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any questions from the Board?  

MR. JAMES WHITE:  And also if I may include, they 

did have all of my registration, all my certificates.  

Everything was valid.  The gun was registered in my name, 

registration was with the gun, and they also had my 

certificates for my being armed for my company as well. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Okay.  Any further 

questions?  

Okay.  Board, I will entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  Motion to 

grant the work card for Mr. White based on the fact that he's 

completed his probation. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I'll second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Aye.

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Aye.

(The vote was not in favor of the motion.)  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I oppose. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  No. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Nixon.  No.  

Okay.  It's three to two.  So I'm sorry at this 

time, Mr. White, we're not going to be able to grant your 

appeal. 

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  The motion was to grant 

him -- so the reversal of the denial and it was a three to 

two nay. 

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  We're 

going over the procedural circumstances that happened for the 

motion.  So if the motion was one way and the motion didn't 

pass, the assumption would be the alternative but it's 
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probably cleaner to make it a motion to show what the action 

is. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Let's clean it up. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer again.  

I make a motion to deny the appeal of James White, who 

applied for registration.  It was denied prior.  James White 

is appealing the decision to the Board pursuant to NRS 648.  

My reason for that is it's too soon and with the weapons 

involved, 2020, it kind of requires that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am going to support the motion to uphold the 

denial.  Time and distance and I do -- time and distance of 

the or time and distance of your incident and failure to 

disclose.  And, again, I -- I would like to encourage you to 

reapply and -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So we have a motion.  We have 

a second.  All in favor of upholding the denial say aye.

(The vote was in favor of the motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All opposed? 

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Nay.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  No. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So three to two to 

uphold the motion. 
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Again, Mr. White, your appeal has been denied.  

You are more than welcome to come back in a year and apply 

again.  Please at that time make sure that you disclose all 

arrests and/or convictions, any interactions with law 

enforcement.  Thank you, sir. 

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.

MR. JAMES WHITE:  Thank you.

MR. INGRAM:  Lori, am I correct -- Kevin Ingram 

for the record.  Am I correct that item 56 and beyond were 

told to appear today at 1:00 o'clock?  

MS. IRIZARRY:  That's correct.  I believe we have 

a few that are 56, 57 and 58 possible in the audience.  But, 

yes, they are to appear at 1:00 o'clock. 

MR. INGRAM:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So we're going to 

continue.  If someone is not in the audience we'll trail 

until the end and then call them back up.  So I've seen some 

people walk in so we probably need to do another swearing.  

Okay.  So let me call -- do we want to call 

attendance who is here right now?  

Okay.  So we're going to move forward with a 

couple of more agenda items because we have some folks that 

are supposed to come in at 1:00 o'clock or that were told to 
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show up at 1:00 o'clock.  So we appreciate you guys are here 

early.  But we want to see who we have here with us. 

Lenny Corella?  No.  

Marieka Grigsby?  You're here, okay.  Hang on one 

second.  

Mark Miller?  Okay.  

And Paris Maxwell.  Okay.  So you're here.  So 

we'll go to 29 and then we'll -- that should take us -- and 

then we'll -- who are you, sir?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You're item number 75.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You're a ways down.  So we're 

going to go in order, but we'll try to see who is here right 

now.  

And so, Lenny Corella is not here, right.  So 

we'll trail that item.  We'll wait.  Just wait, please.  

Okay. 

Marieka Grigsby, are you here?  Please come on 

up, ma'am.  

MS. GRIGSBY:  Good morning. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Afternoon.  Good afternoon.  

Sorry.  

MS. GRIGSBY:  I have an ARP card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Ms. Grigsby, please 

tell us a little bit about yourself and what your intentions 
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are. 

MR. DETMER:  Madam Chair? 

MS. GRIGSBY:  My name is -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sorry.  Hang on one second.  

MR. DETMER:  I apologize for the interruption.  

Ms. Grigsby, were you here earlier for the swearing in?  

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'll confirm this.  Yeah.  

No.  No.  You're actually -- sorry.  Go ahead. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  My name is Marieka Grigsby.  I am 

from Denver, Colorado.  I work for HSS Security.  I secured 

Michael Hancock, who is the Denver Mayor of Colorado.  I did 

that for two and a half years.  

When I came -- I transferred down here to Vegas 

with HSS no one told me that the State of Nevada goes back 

18 years.  Well, I tried to disclose everything that I've 

done in my past, but there was one specific thing that 

Mr. Zachary, who was my investigator, contacted me on which I 

did not know it was on my record because I was not arrested 

for it. 

It was a message that I had sent to my daughter's 

dad in regards to what my daughter had done.  And he told me 

he was going to come by my house.  Well, he didn't show up to 

my house.  So I sent him a message.  I didn't know that he 
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had me in this group.  I'd never go through the group, okay, 

to see who is all in this group.  Come to find out it was a 

girl that was in my daughter's dad's group that I was dating 

her baby's dad and she wanted revenge because he wasn't 

interested in her anymore. 

So when I sent the text to my baby's dad, telling 

him I'm going to beat, excuse my French.  I'm going to beat 

your ass when I see you because your daughter has done 

something to break the law.  And you're a pastor now.  Do you 

want to be doing your daughter's eulogy because if she keeps 

doing this up she's going to be gone.  

So the girl seen the message because it went to 

everybody in the group.  The police contact me by phone, 

telling me to come down and pick up a ticket.  I come down.  

I pic up a ticket.  I go.  The D.A. contacts me.  She tells 

me come to her office.  So I go to her office.  Excuse me, I 

was in an accident so I'm in a lot of pain.  Please for give 

me.  

I go to her office.  And I showed her the text 

message that I had sent to my baby's dad.  And she seen that 

it went to everybody in the text message.  So she seen that 

it was like a revenge thing.  It was like a revenge thing 

like she was trying to get at me to get me caught or 

whatever. 
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So the D.A., the city attorney, the D.A., whoever 

she was, she told me don't text her.  As a matter of fact 

just remove yourself from the group.  So I don't deal with 

group text message anymore.  So when Mr. Zachary contacted me 

about it I was like I don't even know.  I had disclosed 

everything that I've ever did.  This was not -- I didn't know 

what the court wanted.  So I didn't know if this was on my 

record.  You know what I mean.  It was -- it was shocking to 

me that it was even on here because I never went to see a 

judge behind it, you know.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  So that's what happened there.  I'm 

open -- my life is an open book.  I have -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Ms. Grigsby?  

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Ms. Grigsby, this is Board 

Member Brown.  You've been explaining a misdemeanor charge as 

it appears on here.  You weren't denied for failure to 

disclose.  You were denied because you have the felony on 

your record for theft, not threats. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Don't tell me about the 

theft.  Briefly tell me about the theft. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  The threat just stated what I had 
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stated to the Board just a few minutes ago, that the text 

message was not for her. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Ms. Grigsby?

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You're misunderstanding. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Oh, the theft?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  No, not threat.  Theft as in 

stealing. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Okay.  I understand that case.  

Well, back in -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  1991. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Okay.  Back in 1991 I was hanging 

around with the wrong people, okay.  I had a friend of mine 

that had went -- was going to Montgomery Wards, okay.  She 

had been going to Montgomery Wards for a while to the point 

they had started watching her.  

So one day she calls me and asks me to give her a 

ride to the store.  I ain't tripping.  You know what I'm 

saying.  I have money in my -- you know, I have a credit 

card.  I can buy stuff if I wanted to.  So I didn't know that 

she was stealing.  You see what I'm saying.  So when I went 

to walk out of the store they stopped both of us.  I got 

charged as an accessory because I was with her.  Do you see 

what I'm saying.  

I was placed on probation.  I completed the 
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probation.  I paid off the restitution.  Even though I didn't 

have anything I was still charged because I was with here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  So with that being said, I changed 

my life completely.  I went back to school.  I have an 

associate's degree in general studies.  I want to work with 

kids that are at risk.  Like I said, I don't have any 

friends.  Y'all want to be my friends?  Because I'm down here 

in Vegas, I don't have no friends.  I don't have no family 

down here.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, ma'am.  I 

appreciate it.  

Board, are there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Ms. Grigsby, what would 

you do with the card if you get it granted?  

MS. GRIGSBY:  I want to go back and work with HSS 

because I have seniority within HSS Security.  So I want to 

go back to working with security at HSS because I don't want 

to lose my seniority that I already have.  And I enjoy 

working with people.  I have a good rapport with people 

because if I did my -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  I have one more 

question. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Uh-huh.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
163

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  One 

more question.  What were you very unhappy about during the 

process.  You said that you -- Nevada does not -- it is 

Nevada.  Nevada does not want anybody to work in Nevada. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  At the time -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You were upset. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yeah, I was upset because it was 

like Denver didn't look at it, you know, because it had been 

over ten years.  Do you see what I'm saying?  So they didn't 

look at it.  And then to come here and nobody tells me that 

Nevada goes back to when you're 18 years of age.  I'm like, 

well, they don't want nobody to work here because people have 

committed crimes in their past.  Nobody is perfect.  And 

people either commit -- continue to repeat the cycle. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You didn't tell me why 

you were upset, because of the process?  

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yes, I was upset because of the 

process. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  And you did the 

application?  

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  And so what is the 

problem?  You did the application.  And it says any arrests.  

And apparently you -- you put your arrest on your 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
164

application.  It says here yes.  I don't know.  You disclosed 

it. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  I disclosed it.  But at the time I 

could not remember -- I could not remember the year. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You disclosed it, okay.  

Thank you.  That's good.  I appreciate your answer. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's time.  You heard 

that all day long. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's not just you.  It's 

everybody.  

MS. GRIGSBY:  I understand, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  We're good. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

Okay.  If there's no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I would like to motion that we reverse the denial 

and grant Ms. Grigsby the work card.  

MS. GRIGSBY:  Thank you, Jesus.  Thank you, 

Jesus. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 
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second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I'll 

second. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  And, Mr. Brown, do 

you have a reason for it?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  My reasoning would be time 

and distance.  It's 30 years ago.  She did disclose it.  

Although she doesn't like the process, this is part of the 

process.  I'm sorry for that.  Everybody has to go through 

it.  But it was 30 years ago.  Hasn't been in trouble much 

since.  Good luck to you. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Thank you, sir.  Have a blessed 

day, y'all.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So we need to take a vote, 

okay.  

Okay.  So we have a motion.  We have a second.  

All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any opposed?  

Okay.  Congratulations.  Good luck to you. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Thank you all.  You guys have a 

blessed day. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yeah, take care. 

MS. GRIGSBY:  Thank you so much for seeing me.  

You all stay safe.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Mr. Miller, are you in 

the room?  No, okay.  So we'll trail.  

Mr. Paris Maxwell, are you in the room?  Thank 

you, sir.  Can I just confirm that you're under oath. 

MR. MAXWELL:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Okay.  Please 

tell us a little bit about yourself and what your intentions 

are with the work card. 

MR. MAXWELL:  My name is Paris Maxwell.  I'm 

57 years old.  And I'm here to appeal my -- to get my guard 

card so I can continue working at Allegiant Stadium.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do have a question.  Hi, Mr. Maxwell.  How are 

you?  

MR. MAXWELL:  I'm good. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So we have a little, some 

situations that occurred.  Let's start with the '83, the 

petty theft, what occurred?  

MR. MAXWELL:  Petty theft?  
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You have a -- 

MR. MAXWELL:  Petty theft?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  A petty theft charge in  

1983. 

MR. MAXWELL:  I don't recall no petty theft. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Are you Paris Maxwell?  

MR. MAXWELL:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I have three.  June in 

California, received 24 months of probation.  

MR. MAXWELL:  I don't recall no petty theft. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Investigator Saladino, is 

there information?  Do I have the wrong information?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

You do have the correct information. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  So what about in 

1986, a felony charge of transport to sell narcotic 

controlled substance. 

MR. MAXWELL:  I did time for that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You did do time?  

MR. MAXWELL:  I did time.  I did my year of 

parole.  And I haven't been in no trouble since then. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  What happened?  What 

was the controlled substance?  

MR. MAXWELL:  It was cocaine. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Cocaine?  

MR. MAXWELL:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  In 1980 -- I'm 

sorry.  2004, possession of stolen property.  I understand it 

was dismissed.  Give me some information. 

MR. MAXWELL:  I was hanging with some people.  

And the guy I was with, the police was looking for him.  They 

pulled up on us.  They found a gun.  They took me to jail.  

My attorney appeared for me.  The judge told him this man 

hasn't been in trouble for years.  Why are you bothering him.  

Threw the case out. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Were you in the vehicle as 

a passenger?  

MR. MAXWELL:  No.  We was standing outside.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Oh, outside the vehicle. 

MR. MAXWELL:  He was looking for the guy that I 

was talking to.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Got it. 

MR. MAXWELL:  When they pulled up he just so 

happened to.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And you have, again, no 

recollection of being -- 

MR. MAXWELL:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- 24-hour -- 24 months of 
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probation in the State of California in the year of 1983 for 

an incident of petty theft.  You're denying that still?  

MR. MAXWELL:  Yes.  If it was I probably was 

17 years old, 18. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So is that a maybe or is 

that a no?  

MR. MAXWELL:  I'm going to say a no.  I don't 

recall. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Investigator 

Saladino, did that come up on the prints, background check?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

Correct.  It was 1982 out of Fresno.  And it was, ended up 

receiving stolen property.  It was reduced to a petty theft.  

It was discharged July 19th of '84 with 24 months 

supervision.  No fine. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So, again, Mr. Maxwell, 

this is Board Member Cortez.  Do you not recall reporting to 

your probation officer for two years?  

MR. MAXWELL:  No, I don't. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  All right.  Fair enough.  

Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I'm sorry if I missed the 

earlier question on why did you not disclose any of these.  

MR. MAXWELL:  Because it was -- like I said, it 
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was all over 40 years ago. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Well, the last one was in 

2004 and a felony. 

MR. MAXWELL:  2004, that was here to be correct?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, it was in Nevada. 

MR. MAXWELL:  That was the one that was 

dismissed, correct?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  But it says on -- on 

the application.  

MR. MAXWELL:  I just -- I just didn't even think 

it would show up. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Are you now a registered 

ex-felon?  

MR. MAXWELL:  No, I'm not.  Well, yes, I am.  I 

am.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Are you registered 

in Nevada?  

MR. MAXWELL:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you have your pink 

card with you?  

MR. MAXWELL:  I don't have it with me. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you know you're 

supposed to carry it all the time? 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
171

MR. MAXWELL:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  You gotta follow 

the application.  You gotta follow the rules.  And that pink 

card is very important.  All it takes is a police officer to 

stop you on the street.  I know you're an ex-felon so let me 

see your card.  You don't have it.  It's like you can't walk.  

You can't do anything.  It's like not having a driver's 

license.  You can't drive a car.  I think you know that, 

okay.  

MR. MAXWELL:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any further -- I'm 

sorry.  Any further questions?  

Okay.  With no further questions, I'll entertain 

a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we uphold the denial based on Mr. Maxwell's 

failure to follow the rules, court orders and others.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 
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motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Motion passes.  Sorry.  

Please come back in a year and make sure you note all your 

convictions or arrests.  

Okay.  So we did have some people that were 

supposed to call in or come in at 1:00.  It's not quite 

1:00 yet.  So we'll continue on and come back and do a roll 

call on the phones. 

Okay.  I'm going to go back and trail on the 

trail items because I do see some people that came in.  

Ms., I'm going to say Ms. Yshonda Cobb, are you 

in the room?  Yshonda Cobb?  Okay.  We'll go ahead and trail.  

Are you on the phone?  I'm sorry.  Okay.  I'm going to go 

ahead and trail until the end.  

Adam Finley, are you in the room or on the phone?  

Okay.  Lenny Corella?  Lenny Corella?  Okay.  

All right.  Mark Miller?  

Okay.  The next agenda item is agenda item number 

60, Timothy Pearl.  Are you in the room?  

MR. PEARL:  I am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Please come forward.  

I do believe that you just recently came in.  Are you under 

oath, sir?  

MR. PEARL:  Yes, I guess.  Nobody has sworn me 
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in. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Yeah.  

MR. PEARL:  But I will be.  

MR. DETMER:  For all those who are about to 

testify please raise your right hand.

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Again, this is agenda 

item number 60, Timothy Pearl.  Please go ahead and tell us 

about yourself and why you're here. 

MR. PEARL:  I'm here.  My name is Tim Pearl.  I 

moved here from Sonora, California.  My mother is 95, lives 

in Henderson.  That's why I came here.  And I guess the 

incident was that back in '89 or something like that.  I had 

gotten pulled over with a friend and there was a loaded gun 

in the car and it was mine.  They took him.  He had a 

warrant.  They let me go.  It was a misdemeanor at the time 

in California and a fixed blade was a felony, believe it or 

not.  

And I never disclosed it on any application and, 

you know, I had a hazmat license for ten years.  You know, in 

2001 it happened, and I just never disclosed it, and nobody 

ever called me on it.  So I came to Nevada and here I am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board, is there any questions 

of Mr. Pearl?  
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do have questions.  Mr. Pearl, so you didn't 

disclose it on the application but when you were asked about 

it you gave detailed information. 

MR. PEARL:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Why didn't you put it on 

the application?  

MR. PEARL:  Because I never even thought about it 

because, like I said, I never put it on any application. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Right.  Did you read this 

application?  

MR. PEARL:  You know, it was a little convoluted 

in some parts that I really didn't understand.  And, you 

know, if you had -- don't do misdemeanors.  Then I read 

something on -- I Google it.  It says after ten years don't 

worry about it in Nevada. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Stop right there 

with the Google.  Did you read everything on the application 

in its entirety?  

MR. PEARL:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So let me list these 

for you.  It says list all charges regardless of how long ago 

the incident occurred.  This is on the application.  If you 

do not recall the exact date give an approximate year.  List 
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all charges regardless if they were expunged, dismissed or 

denied.  List all charges if they were dismissed or reduced 

under California Penal Code.  List all charges regardless of 

what state it is in.  List all citations, charges regardless 

if placed in handcuffs. 

Do not list minor or moving violations and 

include any open or active cases including warrants. 

Which part of that is diluted, sir?  

MR. PEARL:  Probably -- probably my brain reading 

it all and it just didn't, you know.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  

Any further questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  More of a statement.  This 

is Board Member Cortez.  I will accept that reasoning for 

number one and two being it was in '87 and '89 but not one 

for the '21.  That's all I'm going to state. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir, are you aware of your 

latest charge, sir?  

MR. PEARL:  The one I went to jail for?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Contempt of court, 2021. 

MR. PEARL:  Yeah, I guess.  That's when the 

pandemic.  It was for no registration. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. PEARL:  Is that?  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, sir.  

MR. PEARL:  Then I went -- they picked me up and 

I went to jail for a couple of nights and I bonded out.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Right.  Understood.  Thank 

you.

MR. PEARL:  Okay.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

Mr. Pearl, based on your last statement are you still 

awaiting some type of action on the 2021 case?  

MR. PEARL:  No.  I guess not.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  You bonded out.  What has 

happened?  

MR. PEARL:  Nothing.  Like I said, I went to jail 

and that was -- I paid the fine and that was it.  I was in 

Henderson I went. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Did you get any relief for 

the work referral?  You were supposed to do the work 

referral. 

MR. PEARL:  That was the deal that I had made.  
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And when I -- the court had closed down.  It was at the 

height of the pandemic, and they put it on for three months 

and nobody ever said anything.  And I had moved, and I'm not 

trying to make up excuses, but this is how it happened, and 

then I got picked up. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So hang on one second.  

Investigator Saladino, is this still pending?  

Are you left on this latest charge?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  I believe the court 

records show from Henderson Municipal Court that he did just 

have to pay a fine. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Does that help, Board Member 

Brown?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Yes, it does.  I don't 

believe it's through any fault of his if he didn't get any 

relief during the pandemic. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any further questions?  

Okay.  No further questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am going to motion that we uphold the denial at 

this time for the time and distance of the incident not 

disclosed in 2021, 1999 and 1987.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 
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second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  Second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Mr. Pearl, you're more than 

welcome to come back in one year.  But at this time we're 

going to uphold the denial of your work card. 

MR. PEARL:  Okay.  Go ahead. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  When you return in a year 

please make sure that you note everything, whether it was 

arrest or conviction or any legal, so, on your application. 

MR. PEARL:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  Have a good 

day. 

William White, are you -- item number 61, William 

White.  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  I'm here on the phone, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Oh, thank you, sir.  

Mr. White, tell us a little bit about yourself and why you're 

here. 

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  My name is William White.  

I'm originally from California.  I'm 47 years old.  I have a 
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ten-month old son.  I'm armed and discharge from the military 

from the California National Guard.  I do have a professional 

background in the medical field for about 11 years.  I 

relocated here to Las Vegas to pretty much put a distance 

from my past and, you know, follow-up with my family here in 

Las Vegas and I would like to appeal. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

Board, do you have any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Mr. White, question.  Let's start with the 1993, the 

battery with bodily harm.  Who was the victim?  I don't need 

the name. 

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Her name is Camille.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I'm sorry?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Her name is Camille. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I said I don't need the 

name.  But I'm asking who the victim on the battery was.  Was 

it a family member?  Friend?  Stranger from a fight?  Guard?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Okay.  Yes.  Well, it was a 

friend.  It was a friend.  And it was obviously one Saturday 

morning and the reason we were both getting at each other.  

She went home.  And that's when I found out the charges were, 

you know, being pressed against me.  It was probably 

something I could have done too, but I got put on probation 
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for that.  I did a 52-week anger management class and to 

comply with probation.  My investigator has maybe possibly 

paperwork for that and dismissal. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  And what was the 

extent of the bodily harm?  Are we suffering long-term 

effects or?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  No, ma'am.  No long-term 

effects, none.  These -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Is that what the victim 

would say?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  The victim, no.  She had 

bruise on her cheek. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Sir, we're having a hard 

time hearing you.  I don't know.  Maybe you if you just speak 

a little bit slower. 

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Sorry, ma'am.  Is this 

better?  

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. White, are you on speaker phone 

by chance?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  I am, sir.  Do you want me to 

take it off?  

MR. INGRAM:  Yeah, take it off speaker phone.  It 

makes it a lot easier for us to understand.  Thank you.  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  I apologize.  Okay.  I'm on 
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phone. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Much better.  Okay.  This 

is still Board Member Cortez.  1996, possession with a 

switchblade, what happened with that?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Yes, ma'am.  I was driving 

with a friend.  I don't recall what we were doing that day, 

but I know just, you know, a nice sunny day.  And we got 

pulled over in front of an airport.  After searching our car, 

you know, the officer had told us that it was high danger 

area.  So we kind of understood why he was pulling us over 

because we were two young kids with bald heads.  

But he searched the car and found underneath my 

seat a switchblade knife.  It was a surprise to me too.  I 

had forgot that I had that item, and that's pretty much all 

that entailed. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Oh, jail time for that, 

okay.  

2010, written crimes with intent to terrorize.  

Tell me about that. 

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Well, unfortunately this one 

took place.  My mom was on her deathbed.  Somebody had owed 

her money.  I had a conversation over telephone.  The person 

did not want to help out with my mom's request.  So I kind of 

got mad at the person and made a statement.  My intentions 
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weren't -- it's easy to know left to right, but I understand 

how they went right.  The person had feared for their life 

and I pled guilty to that.  Complied with the probation, with 

the Court and everything.  I haven't seen the person since. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  And in 2012, I do 

know the D.A. rejected the charges, but out of curiosity do 

you know the victim?  

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  That would be child's mom. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  We'll leave it at 

that.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Quick question.  Investigator 

Saladino, on -- on the bottom of the criminal history it says 

the applicant did disclose his arrest.  And then on the 

letter it says he did your undisclosed weapons conviction. 

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino for 

the record.  That was a typo.  When the applicant came into 

the office he did list his arrest.  He did have his court 

documents in order.  He had the 3.4 documents and everything.  

He was explained the process and that's why he's here today. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Got it.  Thank you.  

Are there any further questions from the Board?  

Okay.  If there's no further questions, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  This 
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is 61, right?  I have a motion -- according to the motion I 

just want to say this is a perfect example, you have a quite 

lengthy history here, but there's time and distance in it, 

but you reported all of it, even though you had 1203.4 

California dismissal.  So it's -- you followed the rules 

explicitly.  And I gotta say it's one of the very few people 

that have done that.  

So with that I make a motion to uphold -- no, 

deny that the -- reverse the denial of William White, applied 

for registration was denied.  William White is appealing the 

decision of the Board.  And that's my motion and for the 

reasons I stated.  There is time and distance and also you 

disclosed everything.  I think that's great. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I have a motion.  

Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I absolutely second the motion and I concur.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  I have 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, Mr. White, your 

appeal has been upheld.  You will be issued reversed.  No, 

it's appealed.  Thank you.  You will get your work card, sir.  
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The PILB will contact you shortly. 

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  I appreciate it.  Thank you 

for the time.  Thank you so much. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you. 

MR. WILLIAM WHITE:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Curtisa Henry, are you in the 

audience, please, or on the phone?  

Okay.  David Munizza?  

MR. MUNIZZA:  Munizza. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are you down south?  Up 

north?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  He's up here in the north. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So are we going to have him 

just come to your station?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Correct.  

That microphone is not working.  If you want to 

come over here. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  What do you want me to do?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  You can just sit next to me. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Hi.  My name is 

David. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir, please go ahead 

and tell us a little bit about yourself and what your 

intentions are. 
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MR. MUNIZZA:  I have a hard time hearing my stuff 

but -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm sorry.  I can't hear you. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  I have a hard time hearing my stuff 

but here it is.  It's like my name is David Munizza.  I'll 

start forward and I'm going to work backwards.  It's like 

I've got 27 years clean. 

MR. INGRAM:  I'm sorry, sir.  

Jordan, we can't hear his testimony. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  Sorry about that.  I'm going to 

start at the present and work backwards, if it's okay with 

the Board, because you guys have my information there.  

I have 27 years clean.  I'm active in NA.  I'm 

part of our region.  I'm the -- I'm the webmaster, head of 

public relations, and I'm in charge of the phone lines.  

As you can tell many years ago, in the '90s I was 

busted for drugs.  It's not the highlight of my life.  But 

since then, like I said, I've been a productive member of 

society.  I went to school, and I became a respiratory 

therapist.  I'm licensed in California.  I'm licensed in 

Nevada to be a respiratory therapist.  I've served our 

community with COVID.  And, you know, that's -- that's really 

all I have to say for that.  If you guys have any questions 

that's what I'm here for, but I'm kind of nervous, so.  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir. 

Board, are there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Sir, what's the details of 

the 1979 arrest for suspicion of kidnapping?  

MR. MUNIZZA:  Yeah.  We were -- I was in Palm 

Springs and I was young.  I was 18.  And we were in front of 

a Swenson's and basically a case of mistaken identity.  I 

have my, the original court document here which states that 

they dismissed it because the state did not have current 

evidence on it.  I have it in my packet here.  I sent you 

guys a copy of the -- a copy of it, but I have the original 

document with me. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

Sir, I have one.  You know, these are pretty 

serious, you know, charges here.  I'm wondering why none of 

this was disclosed at the time of application?  

MR. MUNIZZA:  Why what?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Why didn't you disclose it 

originally. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  I did.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

It was disclosed according to the documents. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  I disclosed it. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Oh, okay, gotcha.  Okay.  

Sorry about that.  Information obtained by speaking to the 

applicant.  

Okay.  Okay.  All right.  Any other questions?  

Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Board Member 

Gronauer.  Mr. Munizza, you say you're in a program now and 

you've been clean for how long?  

MR. MUNIZZA:  27 years.  My clean date is 

March 7th, 1994.  That was the day that I was remanded to 

custody on my -- on the charges for the -- for the drugs. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Congratulations on that. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  Thank you, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  That's a difficult road.  

Everyday is a difficult road, even after 27 years.  Okay.  I 

appreciate that.  And what program are you in now?  

MR. MUNIZZA:  Narcotics Anonymous.  I brought my 

Coin with me too.  It's my savior. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board, any other questions?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Yeah, this Bezick.  I move 

that we grant -- 
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BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Go ahead, Board Member 

Brown. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  No.  You go ahead, 

Mr. Bezick.  You got more out.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  I move we grant the work 

card for Mr. Munizza based on time and distance and the fact 

that he's been rehabilitated. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  Second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So we have a motion and 

several seconds.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Congratulations, Mr. Munizza.  

And congratulations for all of your hard work.  You have -- 

you'll be issued your work card.  Thank you so much. 

MR. MUNIZZA:  Thank you very much.  I appreciate 

it from the Board.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Take care.  

Jonathan Smith, are you in the room.  Thank you, 

sir?  Sir, please tell us a little bit about yourself and 
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your intention for your work card. 

MR. SMITH:  I'm 38 years old.  I've been here in 

Vegas for about almost six years now.  Originally from 

California where my crime occurred.  I was convicted of a 

felony for receiving stolen property.  There was a group of 

friends and myself.  One of the gentlemen had access to keys.  

He worked at a car dealership.  Something that was supposed 

to be a couple of days of joyriding turned into a few weeks 

until we were eventually caught.  

Once I did get my sentence, I was sentenced to 

probation.  I unfortunately didn't finish.  I was close 

towards the end.  I had a warrant for my arrest.  It took me 

probably six to eight months I believe until I turned myself 

in, which is one of the toughest decisions I ever made.  I 

also feel like it helped me I guess you could say face things 

head on.  Make better decisions.  Accept responsibility for 

the consequences that of my actions that I made. 

After that time and serving my time I've never 

been in trouble with the law since then, other than a couple 

of traffic tickets.  I began my career in retail.  I was the 

butcher block supervisor at Albertson's for almost ten years.  

Since I've lived here in Vegas I am the meat manager, 

full-time meat manager at Smart and Final.  Was just recently 

awarded the Customer Service Associate of the Year Award.  
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I am applying for my card because I'm looking to 

buy a home next year.  And I was offered a position at the 

Allegiant Stadium.  And this is the first job I've actually 

encountered to where, yes, my felony background has kind of 

prevented me from it.  So I'm here today to hopefully get 

your guys' blessing on getting my card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

Are any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is -- this is 

Gronauer.  This crime happened when you were, what, 19 years 

old?  

MR. SMITH:  Right.  I was going to say around 19, 

20. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you have a family now?  

MR. SMITH:  A wife, yes, sir.  I've been married 

for about 15 years. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Are you on paper now?

MR. SMITH:  On paper?

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Parole and probation?  

MR. SMITH:  No, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You didn't know what it 

meant so I know you're not. 

MR. SMITH:  No.  I'm sorry. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And you have steady jobs 
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and everything else since 2001.  I applaud you.  Thank you. 

MR. SMITH:  I appreciate it.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other questions?  

Okay.  If there's no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we grant the appeal and allow him to get his work 

card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  I have a motion.  

Do I have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Brown.  I probably 

am going to get asked for this, but the reason that I'm doing 

it is because you disclosed it and there's 20 years distance 

between. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Sorry, Madam Chair. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  No problem.  Thank you.  

I have a motion.  I have a second.  All in favor 

say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 
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motion.) 

MR. SMITH:  I really appreciate it. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I like the meat at 

Albertson's. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Juan Davis.  Thank you, 

Mr. Davis.  Can I just confirm that you're under oath.  Did 

you swear to be under oath?  

MR. DAVIS:  I didn't, no.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You just walked in?  

MR. DAVIS:  Yes, I just walked in.  

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  Tell us a 

little bit about yourself and your intention for the work 

card. 

MR. DAVIS:  I'm 41 years old.  I recently moved 

to Henderson, Nevada from New York.  I do have a bit of a 

criminal background but that is not who I am today.  In 2000 

I was convicted of drug sale.  2004 also, same charge.  And 

2008 with contempt of court.  

What I'm trying to do is put all of that stuff 

behind me.  That's not who I am today.  And I came to Las 

Vegas because my wife, she's a school teacher at CCSD.  I 

already had my security license in New York.  And I thought 

it would be an easy journey to move and obtain a license 
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which was not the case.  So I did get denied by the Board.  

So I'm here to let you guys know that I do have a 

certificate of good conduct from New York State.  And I do 

have my license still and it's still operational in New York 

State and I just need my work card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir. 

Any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's Gronauer.  

Mr. Davis, what are you doing now for employment?  

MR. DAVIS:  Uber. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I can't hear. 

MR. DAVIS:  Uber. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Uber. 

MR. DAVIS:  Uber ride-sharing. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I thought you were 

yelling at me.  Uber, okay.  No problem.  I like the idea 

that you came back to do it.  And also all of these things 

are listed and you have the paperwork.  Okay.  So I'll take 

the head and spit it out.  And what do you plan on doing with 

the card?  

MR. DAVIS:  Unarmed security. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yeah, where?  

MR. DAVIS:  I had recently got an offer, well, 

not recently.  When I first came to Nevada I had applied and 
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got an offer from Securitize.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Uh-huh. 

MR. DAVIS:  So when I applied I got denied.  

Then, of course, that offer was off the table. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Are you an ex-felon?  

MR. DAVIS:  Ex-felon, yes. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Are you a registered 

ex-felon in Nevada?  

MR. DAVIS:  No, not at all. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Got it. 

MR. DAVIS:  Registered ex-felon?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Register yourself with 

the police department.  If you're an ex-felon now you have to 

register as an ex-felon in the State of Nevada. 

MR. DAVIS:  Okay.  I didn't know that.  Even if 

it -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Have the police 

department do it. 

MR. DAVIS:  Even if it happened New York State?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yeah.  You're an 

ex-felon.

MR. DAVIS:  I didn't know that. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  If you're an ex-felon 

from anywhere you have to register in the state.  
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MR. DAVIS:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  And if you do 

register, when you do register carry that card with you all 

the time.  Carry the card.  They will give you a card. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  A pink card?

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yes, a pink card.

MR. DAVIS:  Is it a pink card?

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yes. 

MR. DAVIS:  And that is to let anyone know that I 

am an ex-felon.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  If you get stopped and 

somebody talks to you and they're gonna say are you an 

ex-felon?  You say yeah.  Let me see the card.  You have to 

carry it with you.  It's like having a driver's license 

driving a car. 

MR. DAVIS:  Okay.  That's the first of my 

knowledge.  I didn't know that. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It's like sex offenders, 

everything, no matter where it happened you still have to 

register in the state. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Oh, sorry.  Go ahead. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All you have to do is go 

to the Metropolitan Police Department.  I don't know where.  

Just give them a call.  You know, call the 311 number, all 
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right.  Just dial 311.  Ask them where you register as an 

ex-felon, and they will send you to it.  It will cost you a 

few bucks.  I don't know what it is, but it's going to save 

you a lot of problems down, all right.  It's not going to 

hinder your employment.  If you get this card it shouldn't 

hinder anything.  With that -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do have a question.  Mr. Davis, is there a reason 

why you failed to disclose the 2007, 2009 or '98 and a '98 

incident to what occurred.  One occurred in September and one 

occurred in June. 

MR. DAVIS: '98?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Criminal contempt, second 

degree.  You got three years probation.  Possession of stolen 

property.  You might have mentioned that one but it was not 

disclosed on the application.  I will say you disclosed all 

of it except for is there a reason?  I don't want to list 

these?  

MR. DAVIS:  No.  No.  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Oh, okay. 

MR. DAVIS:  It's not that I didn't want to list 

those.  I didn't have my rap sheet in front of me.  That's 
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all.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MR. DAVID:  But I would have put it down.  That's 

not a problem. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay. 

MR. DAVIS:  And I think the 2007, that should be 

all wrapped into the 2008, if I'm not mistaken. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Everything was completed 

based off the investigator's notes.  I'm curious.  You did 

all of it, impressive, which you got three.  

MR. DAVIS:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Which I get it.  

MR. DAVIS:  Those were misdemeanors, correct?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Yes, that is correct. 

MR. DAVIS:  Yeah, I just didn't have my rap sheet 

in front of me. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I get it.  Understood.  

Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I will motion to reverse the denial and grant the 
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work card for Mr. Davis based off time and distance of 

incidences, the majority of incidences disclosed and 

information provided by disclosure. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Brown.  I'll second.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So the motion passes, 

sir.  You'll be issued your work card.  Congratulations. 

MR. DAVIS:  Thank you.  I appreciate it. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Kamonte Kelly?  Okay.  Sir, 

tell us a little bit about yourself.  And you are sworn, 

right?  

MR. KELLY:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Tell us a little bit 

about yourself and what your intentions are with the card. 

MR. KELLY:  My name is Kamonte Kelly.  I'm 29.  

I'm from California.  I'm pretty much here try to get a guard 

card so I can be a security guard.  

I had few issues in the '80s, late into some of 

my adult.  2011-12 I got convicted for attempt robbery.  I 
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went to prison, came home year and a half, got in trouble.  

On my way home I was in a bad area.  Got pulled over for not 

stopping at a stop sign and got caught with a gun.  They sent 

me back to prison.  And here I am, and I've been out of 

trouble ever since then. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I do 

have a question.  Sir, in 2018 when you were convicted of two 

counts of battery, charge of domestic battery which reduced 

the battery after completing the requirements for the case, 

why did you fail to disclose that one, because it sounds bad, 

the battery?  

MR. KELLY:  Oh, that part, it kind of does, but 

I'm not going to lie.  I didn't think that would have popped 

up.  I tried to forget about that.  It was a situation 

between me and my girlfriend.  An argument happened in a 

public place.  They said it was a domestic dispute, but I was 

trying to hurry up and get back to work.  So I took the 

domestic violence class, completed it and been cool ever 

since.  We aren't even together, so. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Thank you. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I'm sorry, Mr. Brown.  Were 

you done?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I am.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez.  Did 

you indicate the incident in 2018 that you didn't think it 

was going to come up, that's why you didn't list it?  

MR. KELLY:  That's not why I didn't list it.  

Sometimes I forget about it, but I didn't think it would come 

up anyway. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So do you have a question?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Just for Investigator 

Swarthout.  Zachary -- Investigator Swarthout, your notes 

said about warrants.  Do you have anything to update that?  

He currently has two active have warrants out of Las Vegas 

Municipal Court, moving violation.  He was given a citation 

on 1-2 2020 for convicted person of registration. 

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.  

Yes, I do.  So the two warrants are still active as of 

yesterday for traffic. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Are you aware of that?  

MR. KELLY:  No, ma'am, I'm not. 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
201

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So are there any other 

questions?  

MR. KELLY:  Yeah, I have one.  Those warrants are 

for traffic or for not registering?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You have two for traffic 

tickets and then one for not registering. 

MR. KELLY:  I disagree with that because when I 

got pulled over I did go register.  They made me register as 

a felon.  When I came home again I had to re-register my 

address. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, you know, 

unfortunately that has nothing to do with the Board.  We just 

take the information that we're given.  So that's something 

that you're going to have to clear up with Las Vegas 

Municipal Court.  And, you know, clear that up with them.  

So are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Just a question.  Sir, do 

you have your card on you?  

MR. KELLY:  They never told me.  I'm surprised. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It says you were arrested 

for that, for convicted person and registration. 

MR. KELLY:  But not -- they didn't give me a 

card.  They didn't say anything.  
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  No, they are not going to 

give it to you.  You have to go get it. 

MR. KELLY:  Get it from?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I gave this advice to 

somebody earlier.  Here's what you do.  Call 311 because I 

don't know the exact number to call. 

MR. KELLY:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You dial 311.  It's a 

nonemergency number and ask them.  You'll just get an 

operator from Metro, okay, and ask them where you go to 

register as an ex-felon.  You're going to have to do that.  

You've already been arrested for it.  They are going to do it 

again. 

MR. KELLY:  I didn't get arrested for it.  They 

gave me a ticket and I -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Well, you got a 

ticket for it.  It's an arrest.  Citations are an arrest.  

Just in lieu of going to jail you're getting a ticket, okay, 

like a driving violation and everything else, just so you 

understand. 

MR. KELLY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You know, it's a little 

confusing but you've got to do it.  And you've got these 

warrants to clear up in municipal court. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So are there any other 

questions from the Board?  

Okay.  If there's no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we uphold the denial on the basis that there's 

still legal action pending. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Yeah, this is Bezick.  I 

second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So, Mr. Kelly, because you 

still have pending warrants out there we have to go ahead and 

uphold the denial of your card.  Please take care of those 

and then work very closely with staff and they will help you.  

Reapply again in one year, okay. 

MR. KELLY:  All right.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  Good luck to 

you.  

Okay.  So before we flip to the next page, I'm 
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just going to go through the list that we've already trailed 

to see if anybody is here or on the phone.  If you are here 

please let me know.  

Yshonda Cobb, are you in the room or on the 

phone?  

Okay.  Adam Finley?  

Lenny Corella?  

Mark Miller?  

MR. MILLER:  Here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And is that Mark Miller?  

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  This is Mark Miller. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. Miller, are you currently on 

your speaker phone?  

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  I'll take it off. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you, sir.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And also, sir, are you under 

oath?  Have you been sworn in?  

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  Oh, no, I have not yet. 

MR. DETMER:  Mr. Miller, if you could please 

raise your right hand.  

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.) 

MR. DETMER:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, Mr. Miller, go 
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ahead and tell us a little bit about yourself and your 

intentions with the work card, please.  

MR. MILLER:  I'm 34 years old from California.  

I've been out here for about maybe five months.  I moved out 

here because my best friends came out here.  So I kind of 

wanted to start a life out here too.  I was previously a 

security officer at a mental hospital in California, and I'm 

just trying to continue to do that out here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

questions for Mr. Miller?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Mr. Miller, is there a reason why you failed to 

disclose any of your criminal history after being very clear 

on the application to do such?  

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  I don't think I understood the 

question clearly.  I know where I'm from when I'm filling out 

applications and all that kind of stuff.  They say if it's 

over seven or eight years I don't have to place it down.  So 

I kind of was thinking the same thing.  So I just kind of 

didn't read it thoroughly I guess. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Did you make any attempt to 

contact the PILB, the staff member for clarification?  

MR. MILLER:  Yes.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You did contact the staff?  
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MR. MILLER:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And who did you speak with?  

MR. MILLER:  I don't remember their name but it 

was a lady.  And so I have to go -- she told me I have to go 

through this process since I didn't fill out the application 

correctly. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Got it.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board, are there any further 

questions?  

Okay.  If there's no further questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  Is there a motion on agenda item 58, 

Mark Miller?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I move 

we uphold the denial based on the fact that he failed to 

disclose when it's clearly printed in the application that it 

needs to be done. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I'll 

second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was in favor of the motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So the motion to 
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continue with the denial of Mr. Martin Miller's application 

passes four to one.  Board Member Gronauer stepped out of the 

room.  

So I'm sorry, Mr. Miller.  At this time we will 

not be able to give you your work card.  You can appeal in 

one year.  Please make sure you give all of the information. 

MR. MILLER:  All right.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  62 -- 62 Curtisa 

Henry, are you in the room?  Please come up to the front, 

please.  Ms. Henry, have you been sworn in?  Okay. 

MR. DETMER:  Ma'am, if you could please raise 

your right hand.  

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Ms. Henry, please tell 

us a little bit about yourself and your intentions with the 

work card. 

MS. HENRY:  I'm 22.  I am from Richmond, 

California.  I was recently living in California for a while.  

I moved out here in April.  When I started out here in April 

I had transferred.  I was previously working with a company 

called Garter World out there in California.  Then I came out 

here.  I got a transfer and I came out here and moved out 

here and got transferred.  

But because I am a felon in California, of 
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course, it got denied.  Basically I got into some trouble as 

a youth.  And I've been on probation since I was 14, in and 

out of juvenile hall, in and out of county.  And so back in 

2016 it was a carjacking case that happened with me and my -- 

the father of my second son.  And, yeah, basically it 

didn't -- it didn't -- like, I didn't get charged for it 

until last year because I've been on probation for so long.  

And the judge basically had told me that like there was no 

more resources I guess they could give me, but I had 

completed like everything else.  And they told me that to 

just like get everything off my back so I don't have to keep 

coming to court and be on probation and everything like that, 

to just register as a felon.  

So I registered as a felon, came out here and 

tried to continue working.  But, of course, because I'm a 

felon it didn't get approved.  So I just want to come see if 

I can get my guard card so I can continue working security 

and, you know, bring more income into the house for me and my 

kids. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

Investigator Swarthout, so I can understand this, 

the carjacking was listed on the application but the rest 

wasn't?  

MS. HENRY:  No.  The -- 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Ma'am, sorry.  That was for 

the investigator.  

MS. HENRY:  Oh, sorry.

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.  

That is correct. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board, is there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Ms. Henry, is there a reason you failed to disclose 

the other criminal arrests?  

MS. HENRY:  No.  It was -- I thought I put felon 

there.  It was a carjacking which was the main reason why I 

became a felon.  And the other one was for assault and 

battery which was my first charge. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  So in 2019 you were 

ordered to pay a fine. 

MS. HENRY:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Why was that not listed?  

MS. HENRY:  I didn't know that that said that you 

had to list to pay a fine.  I didn't know that was on there. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Any kind of court 

disposition is also listed on the application.  I understand 

your circumstances from California.  Clearly Nevada has 

different situations -- 
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MS. HENRY:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- where you need to 

register, not only register but you also have to list 

everything.  It clearly states on the application.  We've 

reviewed it several times today.  But we also have a 2020 

situation, a 2019. 

MS. HENRY:  The 2020 is -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  One second, please. 

MS. HENRY:  Oh. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  The '20, 2019, 2017, 2015, 

2015, 2013, so we have a number of undisclosed criminal 

history and that's the issue. 

MS. HENRY:  Those are all -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  With that said, that's all 

I -- that's all my comment. 

MS. HENRY:  And those are all probation 

violations. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And I understand that.  But 

once again, we have reviewed on the application it clearly 

states every law enforcement contact, any court matters, 

disposition, dismissed, adjudicated, found guilty regardless 

of the situation.  Just because it happened in California has 

no -- makes no difference.  You were supposed to list 

everything.  You listed one.  I needed you to list everything 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
211

else.  

MS. HENRY:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  That's all I'm going to say 

about that. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So quick question to  

the investigator or maybe Ms. Henry.  Are you still on 

probation?  

MS. HENRY:  No, I'm not on probation at all.  I'm 

not in to any police contact.  I don't have any warrants.  

I'm just a registered felon.  I don't have a four-way search, 

anything. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Do we -- is everything 

cleared up?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes.  Currently it 

doesn't look like she's on probation for anything.  She did 

list on her application that she did have to register as a 

felon.  I did not see anything in the scope for being 

registered. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  She's not registered?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Not out here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I think Investigator Swarthout just answered that she is not 
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registered in the State of Nevada as a convicted felon. 

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.  

That is correct.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

MS. HENRY:  I have one.  How are we supposed to 

know like you move to another state if you have to register 

in another state, especially if the crime didn't happen, you 

know, in the state.  How are you supposed to know that you're 

supposed to register as a felon in another state?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  You need to follow-up with the local rule of the law 

enforcement agency.  It's up to the felon or it's up to 

whoever the individual is.  

MS. HENRY:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  They need to do the rest of 

this.  They need to take forward every action possible to 

start calling.  If anything, you can call the PO back in 

California.  They should have a contact.  If not, again, Las 

Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, North Las Vegas Police 

Department.  You can start with just the reception and they 

will disperse you to the correct department. 

MS. HENRY:  And because I'm not on probation I 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
213

don't have a PO. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  But from the one that you 

left. 

MS. HENRY:  Yeah, I haven't talked to her since I 

got off probation. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Correct. 

MS. HENRY:  I haven't done anything. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  No.  I think what Board 

Member Cortez is saying is that you should do your research 

before you move to another state so that you're not in 

violation for other states.  And one resource to you would be 

your former PO.  You know, they would still be available to 

you.  They know your history and your court documentation. 

MS. HENRY:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So they would be a person who 

would be able to advise you on, you know, if you move what is 

needed. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Actually, you know what 

else you can do is you can also call adult parole and 

probation. 

MS. HENRY:  I'm on -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Look it up on the internet.  

Adult parole and probation.  It's a 486 number. 

MS. HENRY:  But do you understand what I'm 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
214

saying?  

BOARD CHAIR CORTEZ:  I understand.

MS. HENRY:  That I'm not on probation, parole, 

anything. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, I do understand it.  

What we're telling you is it's up to your due diligence to 

research where you're moving.  So regardless of whether or 

not you're on it you need to check in with those people to 

see whether or not they can give you that information to help 

you. 

MS. HENRY:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Okay.  Are there any 

further questions from the Board?  Sorry.  Is there any 

further questions from the Board?  Okay.  So if there's --  

go ahead.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Just one statement.  I 

want to clear up the thing about the registration card.  I've 

been informed -- 

MS. HENRY:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  -- you still have to 

register.  However, they do not give you the card anymore to 

carry.  You have to register for ex-felons. 

MS. HENRY:  I'm not an ex-felon.  I'm still a 

felon.  I just became a felon this year. 
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MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  My 

familiarity with the registration laws are somewhat not up to 

par, but I have been researching it, and that is a correct 

statement.  It also depends on what types of felony as well 

as far as registering.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So, again, your best bet 

before you move or when you're going into the next state is 

to call the parole board and ask them those questions.  So 

then that way you're informed when you go in and they can 

give you the contact of who you need to get in touch with. 

MS. HENRY:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, you know, do some 

prior research and they will be able to help you. 

MS. HENRY:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions from the Board?  

Okay.  If there are no further questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I move -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move to -- go ahead, Mr. Bezick.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Yeah, this is Bezick.  I 

move that we uphold the denial for Ms. Henry based on the 

fact that she only listed one offense out of eight on her 
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application. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So we have a motion.  

Do we have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I have 

a second.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  We have a motion and a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was in favor of the motion.) 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer abstains.  I 

wasn't here for the hearing.  

BOARD CHAIR Nixon:  Motion passes four to one.  

Ms. Henry, your -- your work card is going to be denied.  You 

do have an opportunity to come back and see us in one year.  

Please get with, you know, the parole board or whoever you 

need to to get the information that you need.  And then work 

with the PILB Board.  They will help you to make sure you 

list everything and get everything on your card that you 

need, okay.  Good luck to you.  Thank you. 

Please, we're going to take a short break.  We've 

been at it since 9:00 a.m.  So let's go to 2:00 o'clock even 

and we will be back.  Anybody that's on the phone please 

hold.  We will be back at 2:00 o'clock. 

(Whereupon, a brief recess was taken.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Let's try this one more time.  
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Okay.  Marcus, could you please tell us a little bit about 

yourself and what your intentions are with the guard card. 

MR. ETTRESS:  My intentions with the card are 

something with security, would probably be like a bouncer or 

a bodyguard like my cousin.  That's the reason I moved out 

here.  He's been telling me to get my guard card and he can 

help me get a nice job.  

And like I appeared before the Board about two 

years ago I think but they said I came too recently or too 

soon after my most recent case.  So two years later I'm just 

trying again. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. Ettress, are you by chance on 

your speaker phone on your phone?  

MR. ETTRESS:  Yeah.  I just took it off. 

MR. INGRAM:  Could you please take it off of 

speaker.  It's a lot easier for us to hear you.  Thank you. 

MR. ETTRESS:  Yeah, no problem. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir, since you saw us 

last year what have you been doing?  

MR. ETTRESS:  Since then I've got most of my 

records like expunged.  I'm still waiting on my California 

case.  But my lawyer keeps telling me like the courthouse is 

closed or they are not accepting expungement or something 
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like that.  And right now I'm working the liquor vendor, the 

route thing, selling liquor and beer and wine on shelves.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I didn't understand that. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm sorry.  The last part, 

you're doing what?  I'm sorry. 

MR. ETTRESS:  I'm a liquor vendor.  I put liquor 

and wine on shelves. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Got it.  Thank you.  

Are there any questions from the Board.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

First let me say, sir, thank you for doing what we asked and 

reapplying.  

I want to make sure with Investigator Swarthout 

that I'm reading something correctly.  You've got in your 

summary that the applicant stated that he was going to work 

with his cousin for Five Star VIP which is an unlicensed 

company.  Is that still a fact?  Are you going to be doing 

that or is the company still unlicensed.  

MR. ETTRESS:  On the license?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  No, sir.  Hang on one second.

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I'm talking to the 

investigator. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yeah, we're talking to the 
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investigator.  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.  

That is correct.  Five Star is still unlicensed.  If that's 

the same company, that is the company that he made mention in 

those past transcripts that he was going to be working for.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you, 

Investigator Swarthout.  

And now, Mr. Ettress, are you going to be working 

for Five Star VIP.  Is that your intention?  

MR. ETTRESS:  It was my intention.  But honestly 

probably not that probable because my cousin, he's like -- he 

does that bodyguard thing with Five Star, and also he does a 

lot of like club bouncing.  And that's what he said he would 

more likely get me into.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Just understand that 

if you go to work for an unlicensed company you're going to 

have an issue. 

MR. ETTRESS:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board, is there any other 

questions?  Okay.  If there's no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we grant the appeal and allow Mr. Ettress to get 

his work card on the basis that he has done what we asked him 
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to do a couple of years ago and has come back and disclosed 

everything. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I do second the motion.  I have looked over the 2019 

transcripts.  With everything said I do second the motion to 

approve and overturn the denial. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Congratulation, Mr. Ettress.  

You will be issued your work card.  The PILB will be in touch 

with you. 

MR. ETTRESS:  Thank you.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you. 

Nicholas Galindo.  Are you on the phone, sir, or 

up north?  There we go.  Okay.  

MR. GALINDO:  Hello, everyone. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  Could you 

please tell us a little bit about yourself.  You may have to 

go up to the front, yeah.  

MR. GALINDO:  Hello, everyone.  My name is 
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Nicholas Galindo.  And I'm hear to appeal my denial.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir, you're really hard to 

understand.  Can you pull down your mask.  Sorry. 

MR. GALINDO:  Is that better?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Much better.  Thank you.  

MR. GALINDO:  My name is Nicholas Galindo.  And 

I'm here to appeal my denial for my provisional.  I come from 

a small town, Landers, California where I was tried and 

convicted of second degree burglary.  

I recently moved here about two -- over two and a 

half years ago after my mother passed away of two heart 

attacks, two heart attacks.  And -- and I'm here to -- to 

have a career in security. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, sir, I'll ask you 

the same question as the previous gentleman.  Since you're a 

return, what have you been doing since your original denial?  

MR. GALINDO:  I've been working as an event 

staff, ticket-taking, information, ushering, helping guests 

or customers with information, et cetera. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  With what company, I'm sorry?  

MR. GALINDO:  Sorry?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  With what company, I'm sorry?  

MR. GALINDO:  Event Service. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Okay.  Board, are 
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there any further questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I have one for 

Investigator Swarthout.  Are the fingerprints back on this 

gentleman?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes, they are.  They do 

confirm the arrest history. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  Thank you.  

That's all. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any further 

questions?  

Okay.  If there are no further questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  Yeah, this is Bezick.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we grant the appeal and allow Mr. Galindo get his 

work card.  Based on the fact that he did what we asked him, 

he returned and disclosed his offense. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BEZICK:  This is Bezick.  I second. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  We all second.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We have a motion, several 

seconds.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 
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motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr. 

Galindo, you have been approved for your work card.  The PILB 

staff will get in touch with you. 

MR. GALINDO:  Thank you, everyone. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

Nicholas Hill?  

MR. INGRAM:  Lori, is this one of the individuals 

that -- 

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  Mr. Hill, we've 

been trying to contact you because we don't have any 

fingerprint results for you.  We don't have that you've done 

your fingerprints. 

MR. HILL:  I was waiting until I went through 

this process.  Yesterday that's what the lady had told me to 

do.  When I got my denial I started basically waiting on 

this.  

MS. IRIZARRY:  So we've tried to reach out to you 

because to go before the Board you have to have a complete 

application.  That includes your fingerprints.  We possibly 

don't have a good number for you.  But you got the -- did you 

get the -- 

MR. HILL:  E-mail.  

MS. IRIZARRY:  -- e-mail and the certified letter 
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from us regarding the Board meeting today?  

MR. HILL:  I didn't know.  I got an e-mail.  I 

took a screen shot because I had lost my old phone that I 

had. 

MS. IRIZARRY:  So you received your e-mail, okay.  

So I will speak to you in the hallway.  But at the moment, 

for the Board to know, we did not get any fingerprints.  He 

did appeal it so we put him on the agenda.  But possibly the 

thought that he had done his fingerprints and we were going 

to get results through getting his fingerprint paperwork in, 

but as of today he said he didn't ever get fingerprinted. 

MR. HILL:  I had relocated.  I just got back a 

couple of weeks ago. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Well, you know, 

there's -- you know, apologies for that.  But, you know, they 

did reach out to you and you were aware of the meeting.  So 

at this time you have an incomplete application. 

MR. HILL:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So please go to -- let me ask 

one quick question.  So -- okay.  So Chief is going to step 

out with you and explain to you how to go get your 

fingerprints and everything taken care.  You will not have to 

wait a full year to come back and apply because right now you 

have an incomplete application.  So we'll be able to hear you 
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next Board meeting.  So in December we'll be able to hear you 

and you work on your appeal, okay?  

MR. HILL:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All right.  Thank you.  

So this one is a trail or incomplete, okay.  

Okay.  Pierre Burton, are you in or down south?  

Pierre Burton?  Okay.  Is Mr. Burton up north?  Okay.  

Mr. Burton, are you on the phone?  Okay.  We'll trail. 

Agenda item number 71, Ronesha Hicks.  Are you in 

the room?  

MS. HICKS:  I'm on the phone now.  I was in the 

room, but I'm on the phone. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  Ms. Hicks, 

please tell us a little bit about yourself and your 

intentions with the guard card. 

MS. HICKS:  Yes.  My name Ronesha Hicks.  I'm a 

single mother of two.  And my intention with the guard card 

is this could be able to work a different field because I 

always did restaurant industry.  And I was offered a position 

at Planet Hollywood three months ago and that offer is still 

on the table, but I had to basically go through this process 

to get where I want to be. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. INGRAM:  Ms. Hicks, if you're currently using 
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your speaker phone on your phone, can you turn that off. 

MS. HICKS:  Oh, no, I'm not. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any 

questions from the Board of Ms. Hicks?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

Question for Investigator Swarthout.  Is the 2021 charge 

still pending?  Is that an ongoing case?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout.  

Yes, it shows she goes back to court on 9-21 2021.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Thank you.  I'm reading the 

small print now as you're saying that.  Thank you.  Nothing 

further. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Ms. Hicks, is there a reason why you failed to 

disclose your criminal history considering that literally we 

have one, two, three, four, five counts in the last, since 

2016.  

MS. HICKS:  I just thought, you know, by me not 

being a felon that I didn't have to disclose that information 

until I sat down with the worker.  And she made me go down to 

the police department and print out all of my charges in the 

event that I haven't been done or went to jail for.  So I sat 

down and filled out the paperwork like she told me to do. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So for clarification, you 

got your history of arrest report?  

MS. HICKS:  Yeah.  I had to go down to the police 

department and they printed off everything for me, and I took 

it back over there on Durango to the PILB office.  And 

basically she just told me to fill out everything from, I 

just don't go back five years from now, so. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  I'm just confused as 

to you got your criminal record but you didn't put it on the 

application when it clearly states to do so. 

MS. HICKS:  Yeah, but that was after I got denied 

that she made me go back and redo it. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Got it.  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any other questions 

from the Board?  

Okay.  Hearing no other questions, I'll entertain 

a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we uphold the denial based on pending legal 

action still involving the courts. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 
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second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Unfortunately, 

Ms. Hicks, at this time we're not going to be able to 

overturn your denial.  So once you get done with your legal 

-- your legal issues you can reapply.  Make sure you note 

everything on there. 

MS. HICKS:  Okay.  So excuse me.  I have a 

question.  So next week when I go to the court and those 

charges are dropped, can I come back down or do I have to 

wait a whole year?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You'll have to wait a whole 

year. 

MS. HICKS:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yep.  Thank you.  Have a good 

day. 

MS. HICKS:  You too. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Terrance Lincoln, are you in 

the room?  Thank you, sir.  So please tell us a little bit 

about yourself and why -- what you need the guard card for. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay.  My name is Terrance Lincoln.  

I'm 43 years of age.  I have three children, two 

grandchildren.  
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My previous occupation has been as far as 

security field public safety work and executive protection, 

bodyguard, et cetera.  Basically last year in 2020, before 

the pandemic got real chaotic and whatnot I came to Las 

Vegas, and I was certified for a CCW, for a concealed weapons 

permit for the purpose of executive protection and high end 

clients and things like that.  

I did everything.  I got approved.  I got 

certified.  I have the, I'm sorry, the CCW permit card from 

Vegas.  Recently, beginning of this year I came back because 

I was told as any type of line of security work in Las Vegas 

you have to have a work permits card, and I guess it's the 

like the guard card.  It's the same one that I have as in 

California. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Uh-huh.  

MR. LINCOLN:  So within that I did the test and 

everything.  I stated on -- on the application my convictions 

and whatnot.  I believe in 2012 I had an incident where I was 

an armed officer.  I had my firearm located in the glove 

compartment, and it should have been secured in the back in a 

glove box.  From that I was pretty much detained that night.  

And later on that morning I was released.  The charges were 

dropped.  

I also got documentation as far as from the Long 
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Beach Courthouse, they dismissed the case, and I gave it to 

the -- the personnel that was on Durango Street and also had 

faxed those in.  I spoke to two different personnels at the 

time when I did the application and as well over-the-phone 

and they confirmed that they had all of the paperwork as far 

as the sealed documents and everything that was disclosed 

from that.  

I had a couple of other things in the past, in my 

teenage years, like railroad fare evasion, not having a valid 

ticket at the time for the trains, things like that.  As far 

as that those are the things that -- the one incident I'm 

more concerned about was the gun charge as far as it being 

something that was charged as being a felony and then it was, 

you know, removed.  Everything else was kind of like, more of 

an like an infraction thing.  Like I said, the railroad 

evasion, not having proof of fare, things of that nature.  I 

couldn't think of anything else.  That was probably like 

miscellaneous stuff.  

So basically that's just the line of work that I 

do.  Because of the pandemic and everything that's been going 

on it's very hard.  There's really no work.  Like I said, I 

have a family to feed.  The work that I'm doing right now I 

have a commercial license as far as driving my private 

transportation but that's a hole because of the pandemic as 
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far as the school systems, dealing with kids and things like 

that.  

So I'm just basically coming here, pleading my 

case, hoping that you guys will grant me as far as work, I 

mean as far as to do the occupational field of the work that 

I do. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  

One quick question.  It's only because this is 

microscopic and I'm old.  Did he disclose?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  He disclosed the 2011 

arrest, the 2012 was no.  None of the other arrests were -- 

that he did disclose. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So the felony though was 

disclosed?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So the railroad fare, 

the smaller things were not disclosed but, okay, got it.  I 

just want to make sure.  

Okay.  Are there any other questions from the 

Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez.  Is 

there a reason why you did not disclose it?  

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes.  The reason being I knew 

for -- I'm from California.  So as I've just been hearing 
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everyone's different case and whatnot, California is very 

very different with their rules and regulations and penal 

codes versus you guys are.  So even within the application I 

stated that the incident of that charge being because it was 

considered that as far as anything else, like I said, it was 

considered to be an infraction, something that was way low, 

not even a misdemeanor because of the time that it was years 

ago, we're talking about, you know, like over 15, 20 years 

ago.  So those type of things I did not list for the simple 

fact I couldn't remember all.  

But I remembered those charges because that took 

me the longest as far as to get cleared and a couple of other 

occupational field jobs that I had I got denied because I did 

not know because it was supposed to be dismissed and it 

wasn't properly.  And I had to keep going back with legal 

documentation from the court saying it has been expunged and, 

you know, things like that, so. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  No other questions.  Thank 

you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

A question for Investigator Swarthout.  On the 2011 charge it 

states that he was convicted of Count Three.  I was unable to 
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open the little arrow thing that tells me what Count Three 

was.  Could you explain Count Three for me. 

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  It was carrying a 

concealed weapon.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  

Mr. Lincoln?  

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Good afternoon.  You had 

an exposed firearm permit with California Bureau of Security 

Investigation Services?  

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  On April of 2005 to 

October of 2010, when it was revoked.  Why was it revoked?  

MR. LINCOLN:  It was basically revoked because at 

the time I had let it expire from previously and I had to get 

actually another one.  So I had stopped doing the line of 

work at that time.  However, I still kept the firearm, you 

know, in my trunk or whatnot or in my car.  So it was just 

that particular incident at that time that my firearm was in 

the glove compartment but it should have been in the back of 

the vehicle.  

So I had -- I had started doing some other type 

of line of occupational field work.  So the firearm, as far 
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as being an armed officer I wasn't normally doing because 

that's when I began to get more into the bodyguard and it 

wasn't really required.  It was just more required of having 

just the guard card as being unarmed.  So that's basically 

what happened.  I let -- I let the firearm overlap over time 

and so that caused it to be revoked. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Your appeal, if it's 

overturned would you -- what is the line of work you're going 

to do?  

MR. LINCOLN:  Basically be executive protection, 

public safety.  Meaning that for example, say if you're a 

high end client, whatever it is.  You don't have to 

personally be a celebrity but say you're a high end client, 

you basically hire me to be as part of your security personal 

detail.  I'll be your personal attention.  Wherever you go I 

pretty much go. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  He needs it. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  I'm high end, 

believe me.  I'll stand behind you.  That's my protection. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Right. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Listen, thank you.  I 

lost my train somewhere.  That's where it goes.  It just went 

off track.  Okay.  You said that's what you're going to do. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir. 
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you understand a work 

card and is just a work card.  It's not a license to do this.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Well, no.  This -- and this is 

where the CCW is coming in. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  No.  I'm talking about 

you get a work card and this denial is overturned. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You get a work card.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You said you're going to 

do this kind of work. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Who are you doing this 

kind of work with?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Or for. 

MR. LINCOLN:  That's what I'm saying, it will be 

either with a security company or for, like I said, a high 

end client or executive. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Even with a high end 

client you can't do that.  This is not a license.  You have a 

high end client.  You get the card and next month you get 

Ariana Grande, okay, and she wants you to be her security 

guard, I mean if you're going to do in Nevada, you have to 

come back and forth wherever the stars come and go. 
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MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You can't use that card 

as a license. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You have to work for a 

company. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You have to work for a 

security company that has a qualified agent. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  In order to work.  Even as a 

bodyguard you cannot work independently with your work card.  

MR. LINCOLN:  No, I knew that.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LINCOLN:  I just thought that's for Nevada.  

Like I was saying as far as like a CCW for a prime example.  

The CCW gives me jurisdiction within 32 other states besides 

Utah to conceal as far as conceal with that. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yeah, it does give you 

jurisdiction to carry but not in Nevada as a security 

officer, as an armed security officer.  You still have to get 

an armed work card. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Right. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And then you still have to 

work for a company. 
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MR. LINCOLN:  Okay.  I see what you're saying. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You have to have a qualified 

agent because we have a lot of problems with bodyguards 

coming in -- 

MR. LINCOLN:  Right. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  -- from other states.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Right.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  -- and they think because 

they have their registration card -- 

MR. LINCOLN:  Right.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  -- that they can work 

independently. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  They cannot.  You will get 

fined a lot of money.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay.  Understood.  Understood.  

Because that's what I was basically explaining. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Like I said, in California is very 

totally different.  I was just, you know, explaining as far 

as when it comes to Nevada it's unordinary for me to carry 

even with a CCW if I was doing security.  I would have to 

have a work permit card with me. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You have to have an arm card 
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and a work card.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You'll have to have both.  So 

you'll have to qualify for both. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay.  No worries.  That's no 

problem. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Although, it seems 

like the Wild West. 

Okay.  So are there any other questions from the 

Board?  

Okay.  No other questions, I'll entertain a 

motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I'm 

going to make a motion to grant his -- Mr. Lincoln's denial.  

The main reason for that is he disclosed the most recent 

stuff that he did.  The other ones were 20 years earlier.  So 

with that I'm just going to give him the benefit of the doubt 

about 20 years, and that's my -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So for clarification, you're 

granting his appeal?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yes.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'll second the motion to overturn the denial.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So we have a motion.  And we 
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have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So you'll be granted your 

work card. 

MR. LINCOLN:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And work with the PILB for 

the next steps, okay.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Okay.  So do I call them?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  They will contact you. 

MR. LINCOLN:  They will contact me.  Okay.  Thank 

you.  You guys have a wonderful day. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Ask them about the 

licensing and things like that, okay.

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes, sir.  

MR. INGRAM:  Mr. Lincoln?  

MR. LINCOLN:  Yes. 

MR. INGRAM:  Supervisor Investigator Saladino is 

going to give you his card.  Reach out to him.  We want to 

make sure you completely understand what you can and can't 

do.  We'll work with you.  

MR. LINCOLN:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Jessie Gonzalez.  Thank you, 
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sir.  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Good afternoon. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good afternoon.  Please tell 

us a little bit about yourself and why you need a work card. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  My name is Jessie Gonzalez.  I'm 

44 years old.  I moved out here to Nevada two years ago.  I 

am currently a supervisor at Walmart doing maintenance 

technician work.  

What I plan to do with the guard card is I, you 

know, in my position right now I manage some wonderful 

people, one of them being Art Moreno, who is the supervisor 

for Safe Management, who does the contracting for Allegiant 

Stadium and he offered me a job.  Also Mr. Phillips, who is 

the owner of Allied Universal, I got to meet him.  Great guy.  

He also offered me a position and kind of steered me the 

right way to go in getting my guard card.  

Of course, with information in front of you you 

already know I was denied because of a couple of felonies 

that I got that happened, I want to say a different life ago.  

I was 20 years old, but I'm not going to deny, you know, that 

I did, I committed those offenses.  Like I said, I was a kid.  

In that time I've managed to, last month I 

grabbed my certification in alcohol and addiction counseling 

where I plan on furthering my education.  But unfortunately 
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with everything else it costs money.  You want to further  

your education.  You want to go back to school.  And I do 

have two wonderful 12 year olds at home that just love to eat 

so, you know, I have to keep a full time job.  I have a wife, 

a wonderful wife who's getting her master's degree in 

accounting.  I'm also putting her through school.  

So with this opportunity I'll be able to keep my 

position at Walmart and be able to supplement my income with 

a part-time for a weekend -- weekend job. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  And I 

applaud you for the work you've done to get here.  So thank 

you for that. 

Board, are there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yes.  This is Gronauer.  

I had a question for the investigator.  I had a question for 

Mr. Swarthout.  Zach, you said you have another summary.  

Explain some stuff here in this report.  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes.  So we're waiting 

on the fingerprint results.  We did get them back on the 9th.  

It does show the arrest that he did disclose.  There are some 

other arrests that weren't disclosed.  Most of them appear to 

be 5-1 2019, reckless driving, domestic battery.  It just 

looks like he was arrested.  No conviction there.  

5-12 2018, domestic battery, reckless driving.  
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Just an arrest.  No conviction there.  

And then the 2017 DUI that he listed.  

2015 there was a battery he was convicted of.  

36 months probation.  12 days jail, the fine.  

3-21 2012, a grand theft, money labor property 

and vehicle theft.  It just looks like arrest.  There was no 

conviction there.  

January 1st, 2012, DUI and reckless driving.  He 

was convicted of the reckless driving, 48 months probation.  

5-30 of 2004, failure to appear.  

April 8th, 2003, DUI.  So it looks like there was 

an arrest.  

January 8th, 2003, DUI.  He was convicted of that 

one.  36 months probation with a fine.  

11-24 2001, robbery.  That one was dismissed.  

They have a March 29th, 1994, carry or sell 

switchblade.  It just looks like it was an arrest. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Sir, are you aware of all 

of these other charges?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.  Yes, I was.  Yes, I was.  

And I -- on my initial application I -- this is not something 

I'm proud of, but I did allow two pages, I had to go back 

inside to get a separate page.  I have been sober, free of 
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drugs and alcohol for the past four years where I've been, 

you know, going to counseling, NA meetings.  Like I said, I 

just got my certification in alcohol and addiction training.  

And, yeah, I've made my mistakes in life.  But, you know, 

like everybody else I'm trying to put that behind me and move 

on and better myself, enlist the ability of my family. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I understand making 

mistakes when you're 17, 20, 23.  I understand.  When you're 

in your 30s and you made those mistakes, you know, I get 

concerned about the domestic violence that was just five 

years ago.  What was that?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  That was a heated argument between 

my wife and I.  And I'm just going to be completely 

transparent.  I had been drinking.  She wanted to keep me 

home.  She didn't want me leave the house.  We got into an 

argument where I left.  The police were called.  In that 

process they told my wife they couldn't do nothing about it 

because I'm a grown man.  So the cop kind of led her to did 

he touch you.  Did he push you.  Did he hit you.  And my wife 

responded, well, he bumped on the way out the door. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  That was enough to -- to order an 

arrest.  I did go through my domestic battery classes.  I did 

my 12 days.  Did I deserve it?  Absolutely.  I shouldn't have 
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been trying to leave. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Have you -- how long have 

you worked at Walmart?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Going on two years now. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  That's your permanent 

job?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes, sir, it is. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And what is your 

position?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  My position there is a maintenance 

technician.  I also have two character reference letters from 

two top managers in asset protection and loss prevention that 

they were nice enough to write for me.  And it really shows 

towards who I am now than as opposed to who I was on paper, 

and I would really really like for you guys to take a look at 

them. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Can I ask, are you in a 

program now?  You said you've been --  

MR. GONZALEZ:  No.  No.  I'm going through -- I'm 

studying to be an alcohol and addiction counselor. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are you currently in a 

program?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes. 

THE REPORTER:  I can't hear you.
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I have some follow-up questions to what Board Member 

Gronauer asked. 

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Excuse me.  Up here in the 

north we couldn't hear anything before.  Can you repeat that.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'm doing some follow-up questions as to Board 

Member Gronauer's questioning to the client knowing about the 

ten incidents dating from 2013 to 2019.  So you admitted to 

knowing these but you did not list them.  Is there a reason 

why?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  I was going off of memory.  The 

reason why I was so specific with the younger aspect of my 

criminal career I guess, I had that in front of me because I 

did go to Los Angeles County, and I got everything that I 

could possibly get for you guys to, you know like I said, to 

try to be as transparent as I can.  In regards to the San 

Bernardino cases I was just trying to go off memory. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Right.  I understand that.  

But unfortunately 2019 is not that far away.  I am seeing a 

pattern of DUI, so. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I'm thinking maybe that 

might have contributed to it but there's ten of them, not, 
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one, not two, but ten unlisted. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  DUI's. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  No criminal contact which 

is specific.  I'm just a little confused.  You listed six but 

there's ten additional ones.  So do you see my confusion -- 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yeah, I can -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  As to why -- 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  I can assure you of my knowledge 

of three which was the rest are -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Which is fine.  I get that.  

Thank you.  And I don't meant to cut you off.  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  But there's ten of them.  

So to say three -- 

MR. GONZALEZ:  No.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- I know for a fact when 

I've gotten into issues I'm going to remember, especially if 

I'm behind bars.  So I don't mean to minimize what you're 

saying but it's just concerning to me.  There's ten of them. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.  There's three convictions.  

The other are, I believe they are violations. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And the application 
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indicates any contact, any state, any disposition.  And with 

that I'll end it.  Thank you.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have questions for Mr. Gonzalez.  Investigator Swarthout 

indicated that there was a domestic violence related incident 

in 2018 and 2019, so you've got three years in a row.  Tell 

me about the 2018 domestic violence.  

MR. GONZALEZ:  No.  No.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  What conviction were you 

arrested for?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  No, sir.  I have only one domestic 

violence and that happened -- I don't mean to question 

Zachary but, no, I have one conviction on domestic violence. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So let's hang on.  

MR. GONZALEZ:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Can you clarify. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  I have not had police contact in 

many many years. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Hang on one second.  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  They were found on his 

fingerprints.  It just looks like it was most likely just an 

arrest.  It does not show a conviction or anything else. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So when did they happen?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  I show a 2017, 2018 and 
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2019. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Were they related in 

any way?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  They all have different 

case numbers associated with them. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So you're unaware of the 

incident in 2017?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  No.  I'm aware of one that I 

pleaded guilty for. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Which one was that?  What 

year?  

MR. GONZALEZ:  That I don't remember.  I can call 

my wife.  She's outside.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR GONZALEZ:  And she'll be able to -- she has a 

better memory than me.  But, no, domestic violence there was 

one.  And, like I said, I did my time in jail.  I got out.  I 

did my program and that was it.  And I did violate those 

conditions on two occasions when I needed, because they gave 

me like six months to complete it and I didn't complete it 

within that time span.  So I violated and then went back to 

jail for like a day or two and then got out ask re -- 

re-established myself in the program. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 
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MR. GONZALEZ:  But as far as convictions, no, 

there was one and a one time incident only. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, Zach, is there any 

way that that's -- those other two are based off of that one?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Saladino 

for the record.  While we're looking at San Bernardino court 

records, it could be that they were from one single incident.  

The way the fingerprints are reading, it's DUI, battery, 

reckless driving 2017.  2018 shows battery, reckless driving 

on a highway.  And 2019, reckless driving and battery.  So it 

could be one case -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  The first one. 

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  -- re-occurring on the 

fingerprints.  We are checking the court record right now to 

see if they are uploaded into San Bernardino.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. GONZALEZ:  I can reassure you that that is 

the case because I have not -- because of the program. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yeah. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  I wasn't able to finish it in 

their time that they gave me so I kept going back and forth. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir, let them confirm 

that for us and then we'll be able to move on. 

Were there any other questions?  
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  It's, 

especially with California, San Bernardino, I'm very familiar 

with some of the cases I've investigated that he was arrested 

for domestic violence and then he didn't complete his 

program.  They rearrested him.  It doesn't always come back 

on the same case.  I mean, it doesn't show the same case 

numbers because now you open a new case. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Because it's a violation, correct.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  The other one is 

adjudicated.  As far as they're concerned you violated.  So 

I've seen this very very often. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So do we want to take 

a quick recess or have -- yeah.  So I think what we're going 

to do, sir, is trail you.  Let us figure that part out 

because I think that would help us make a better decision.  

Let us have you sit down again.  We'll bring somebody else up 

and then we'll find out what they figure out, okay. 

All right.  Thank you, sir.  

Jim Ongory, are you on?  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  

Welcome.  Could you please tell us a little bit about 

yourself and what your intentions are with your work card. 

MR. ONGORY:  Hi.  My name is Jim Ongory.  I'm 

49 years old.  I'm from Hawaii.  I just moved here a little 

over three months now.  I've been sober since May 5th, 2003.  
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I've been back home about 23 years now at the labor union.  

Before I came here I was working for Hawaii 

Dredging.  I was a general labor foreman for them for 

15 years.  I also owned my own company.  It was a lawn 

service.  The reason why I'm in Vegas is because of COVID.  

Hawaii is just too expensive.  I have a seven -- I have three 

boys.  My oldest is 26 and my second oldest is 18.  They are 

still back home in Hawaii.  My youngest is seven.  

I moved here because more opportunity, and I just 

wanted to get something better for him, you know, better life 

for him here.  So I moved here.  I'm currently in the union 

here, Local 872.  I'm on the list.  I currently work for 

Amazon full-time and I also work for Safe Management too. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  For Safe Management?  

MR. ONGORY:  Yeah.  There were a couple of guys 

saying that they worked for, you know, Allegiant Stadium, 

Safe Management.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. ONGORY:  The reason why I'm here is because I 

wanted to -- I'm currently a guest experience and like a host 

up there, but I wanted to do security for them because it's a 

little more pay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  All right.  Well, 

thank you. 
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So, Investigator Swarthout, just so I understand, 

he did disclose?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes, he did. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All convictions?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any questions from 

the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Investigator 

Swarthout, are the fingerprints back on him?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes.  They just came 

back and they do confirm all of the arrests. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Investigator Brown.  

I want to make sure that it might be a situation like we had 

with the last gentleman.  There are three cases of abuse of 

family.  One, I'm wondering if that's one case and then 

probation violation so it come up again like the last 

gentleman.  And, two, I would like to know what abuse of 

family or household member is.  Is it Hawaii's version of 

domestic violence?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So your convictions of abuse 

of family what does that mean?  What happened?  
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MR. ONGORY:  Well, we got into an argument, you 

know, me and my previous wife.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Significant other?  

MR. ONGORY:  Yes, significant other.  We were 

both drug users.  I used crystal meth for many years.  I'm 

clean and sober for 18 years now.  And I don't know, it was 

just toxic.  So I'm not going to lie about anything.  I 

pleaded guilty to it and it's all behind me now, so.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Sir, are those three 

different arrests for that abuse of family?  

MR. ONGORY:  You know, it could be.  I mean, it's 

been so long.  You know, I can't really tell you.  But, you 

know, I pleaded to it so I can't tell you.  I can't remember.  

I just -- you know, it's part of my history and it is what it 

is.  You know, I'm just trying to move forward. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Were you in Honolulu?  

MR. ONGORY:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I was stationed there.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Mr. Ongory?  

MR. ONGORY:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Mr. Ongory, your 2006 charge 

says unauthorized control of a propelled vehicle.  I assume 

that that might be related to a car rather than a plane or a 

drone. 
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MR. ONGORY:  Yes, sir.  Yes.  It was a car, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Is that a DUI?  

MR. ONGORY:  No.  That was a stolen car.  I was 

in a stolen car. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Stolen car?

MR. ONGORY:  Yes.

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Same thing in 1999, 

unauthorized entry in a motor vehicle.  It says vehicle 

burglary. 

MR. ONGORY:  Yes.  I was in a stolen car.  Yes, 

sir.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you.  No 

further. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  When you said you were in a 

stolen car, did you steal the car?  

MR. ONGORY:  I didn't steal the car.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. ONGORY:  But I was driving the car.  I didn't 

steal it.  Somebody stole it and I used it.  You know, I was 

young and stupid, you know. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Any other questions?  

MR. ONGORY:  Can I say something?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sure. 

MR. ONGORY:  Just to reflect.  Since 2003 I 
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finished, I went through drug rehab, Salvation Army, ATS.  I 

did a two-year program, one year residential and one year 

outpatient.  I graduated from that, you know.  And I've been 

clean.  I didn't mention that earlier.  So I just wanted to, 

you know, let you guys know. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  Congratulations 

on that. 

MR. ONGORY:  Thank you.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Yes.  This is Gronauer.  

Sir, you said you were clear or clean for the last 18 years?  

MR. ONGORY:  Yes, May 5th, 2003. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  And are you in any 

programs now?  

MR. ONGORY:  No, I'm not in any programs. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  What kind of work -- 

MR. ONGORY:  I was in AA and NA back home on the 

Big Island.  But ever since I came here I didn't go to any 

classes yet.  I'm working two jobs.  Right after this I gotta 

go to work.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Everybody drinks in Kona.  

What do you do now?  

MR. ONGORY:  I work at Amazon right now. 
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay. 

MR. ONGORY:  Full-time.  And I work at Allegiant 

Stadium. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You drive a vehicle or 

you -- 

MR. ONGORY:  Well, I'm in the warehouse right 

now.  But I just got an interview yesterday to drive the 

buggies, the transport cart so I'm just hoping on that.  That 

way can I probably just quit the whole construction thing 

because I'm kind of getting old and just stick with that 

because Amazon has an awesome, you know, benefit. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay. 

MR. ONGORY:  And I'm also in a union here, so.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other questions?  

Okay.  If there are no further questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we approve the appeal and allow Mr. Ongory to get 

his work card based on time and distance from these charges. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  We have a motion.  Do 

we have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez.  I'll 

second the motion to overturn the denial. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I have motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Congratulations, sir.  

MR. ONGORY:  Thank you, folks. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Best of luck to you.  Thank 

you.  

Okay.  Moving along, Mr. Edward Mesa.  Are you in 

the room?  

MR. MESA:  Good afternoon. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good afternoon, sir.  Tell us 

a little bit about yourself and your reason for the guard 

card. 

MR. ONGORY:  I'm trying to sum it all up.  I am 

from Tampa, Florida.  I lived there for about 15 years.  I 

worked for ADT.  I've done a lot of personal security work.  

I've worked in a men's night club.  Just lost a friend of 

mine skiing that was going to write a letter but he passed 

away.  I have the letter from the hiring manager and the 

director from the Fashion Show Mall.  That's what I'm trying 

to get.  

The lady that helped me told me that they are 

going to deny it.  So she did all this for me to be able to 
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get this date with you all.  I appreciate your alls time for 

this motion to try to get this.  I'm trying to get this 

security card.  

The most thing that really is amazing to me is I 

work for the Super Bowl.  When Pittsburgh played Arizona I 

worked for the George Steinbrenner's Field.  I got approved 

to get the job and it was an FBI, an incredible check because 

you go to players house and whatnot, and I didn't get it 

because someone else that was older decided to want to do 

this.  And this job, whether rain, shine or thunder you have 

to work.  You know, you work three days off, you work 15 days 

straight.  So I didn't get the job, but that went through the 

Super Bowl.  

And last one I left town.  I got the school 

district to call me and they wanted to give me a job.  When I 

did the background check it cleared with him.  I don't know 

if it was seven or ten years.  And then now I get denied for 

a hiccup that I had 33 years ago, to be exact 32 years ago.  

I was 17.  I had just got tried as an adult.  I went to the 

Clark County.  I almost died in there.  I had a concussion to 

the skull.  I had a lot of injuries.  It was going to get my 

property and not commit crime, to not do nothing.  I was 

raised properly or differently.  So I wasn't raised to -- you 

know, I didn't burglarize and didn't when I was young.  That 
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wasn't me.  

So it was just for shack that was given to me, 

wanted a visual up here, and I didn't want to be by her and I 

left.  So I knew that it had ended up with her.  So I went 

and it was there in the living room, got my hat and left.  I 

was going to spend the night over at a friend's house.  When 

I got back there was cops everywhere.  They arrested me.  I 

did three months, four months in high power with Robert 

Weeks.  There was an unsolved mystery, with a lot of bad 

people.  

The only thing that saved me was that my brother 

is an ex pro boxer.  He spent 31 years in the Mirage.  And I 

have martial arts and boxing experience.  If it wasn't for 

that I would have been in bad shape.  I had to be always 

isolated alone because of this.  And the charges were 

lewdness with a minor to intent, burglary with intent and 

battery with intent.  

I didn't do no burglary.  I didn't touch her.  I 

went to get my property.  So they dropped everything.  They 

scared me.  I was looking at 30 years.  So I took, it scared 

me, the three years probation.  I didn't know the Oscar 

Goodman.  That's a good friend of mine.  I didn't know Rosco 

Jimenez's son.  I didn't Carmichael Lucci, all of the lawyers 

that I know, that could help me.  So I took the deal, three 
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years and that was that.  

I've had hiccups since, but they had been far.  I 

have not been in trouble.  I have my certificate for carpet 

cleaning.  I have my own business that I sold to my brother, 

and I want to get this job because I want to be with the 

director and they really want me on board at the Fashion Show 

Mall.  I'm a good candidate for them, and I think I would be 

good.  I would give them my all. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  And 

what do you do currently?  

MR. ONGORY:  I have -- I'm working for a 

gentleman right now in the Signature Hotel in the MGM 

part-time.  And I'm doing my carpet cleaning.  You know, jobs 

that are coming.  My brother is running it, other people that 

know I do great work.  Carmine and Kenny are a friend of 

mine.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Board, any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Investigator, are 

fingerprints in?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes.  We did receive his 

fingerprints.  There are a couple of arrests that weren't 

listed on his application.  They are all from out of state.  

One of them was from San Diego.  The original arrest was for 
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August 18th of 2000.  Original charges were rape of spouse by 

force, sodomy, threatened crime, intent to terrorize.  What 

he ended up being convicted of was inflict corporal injury on 

spouse cohabited.  He was convicted three years.  Probation, 

180 days jail for that one. 

And then out of Florida, March 27, 2005, DUI 

misdemeanor, convicted.  

And then May 26, 2006, DUI misdemeanor, convicted 

out of there.  

And then out of Arizona there is August 2nd, 

1997, DUI, which he was convicted of.  

And then there was a March 20th, 1998, he was 

making false reports, a misdemeanor.  It does not show as a 

conviction, just as an arrest. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  This is going to 

be a question for our Chief.  It says that prior to him 

applying he contacted Chief Irizarry numerous times to 

discuss his arrest history and the possibility he got a minor 

dismissed offenses out of state.  It seems like he was trying 

to make every attempt for assistance.  

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  Yes, Mr. Mesa, he 

-- he's contacted me I would say probably more than ten or so 

times since he applied.  He was -- I did advise him list 

everything.  He did mention I don't know if I remember 
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everything.  He did go the extra effort to go -- I know he 

doesn't have transportation.  He went to get his scope here 

in Las Vegas, and I believe he got some other court documents 

or he was able to get some information from I want to say 

Florida.  He did mention numerous times I don't know if 

there's anything else anywhere else.  

I guess I would testify that he had mentioned 

consistently or every time we spoke that he was trying to 

make an effort to remember or to get the information, but I 

believe that's all he had listed at the time. 

MR. ONGORY:  And when I did -- when I did this 

they -- I didn't -- I wasn't allowed in, and I tried to put 

everything.  I wouldn't hide nothing.  And I wanted to touch 

on a few of the cases. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Let's let her finish first. 

MS. IRIZARRY:  I'm sorry.  Chief Irizarry.  What 

Mr. Mesa was referring to is when he said he wasn't allowed 

in, he did bring his arrest history down to the office but it 

was his scope which would only list his Nevada arrests which 

I did explain to him.  So I did review -- I did review it, 

gave it back to him and explained these are the arrests that 

I have here locally that are showing on your scope.  And 

anything else outside of Nevada wouldn't show up on this 

scope.  So I believe that's what he was referring to. 
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MR. ONGORY:  Yeah, I didn't have -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You had some very 

significant charges that haven't been listed and that's one 

of the things I'm a little concerned about. 

MR. ONGORY:  Right.  I didn't have no idea --

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Excuse me.  You really -- 

you can see that you tried, okay.  And you have an extensive 

rap sheet.  With that rap sheet you're going to forget some 

things, I get it, but there's some things on there I don't 

think you should ever forget.  

MR. ONGORY:  Yeah. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  So I have some concern 

with that. 

MR. ONGORY:  And I apologize for that sincerely. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  I'm just telling 

you I have concerns.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board, are there any other 

questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have the same concerns because I find it very hard to 

believe that you remembered non sufficient funds from 2000 

but you didn't remember from the same year the charges that 

Investigator Swarthout explained in San Diego which were very 

severe. 
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MR. ONGORY:  Right.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I have a hard time believing 

that. 

MR. ONGORY:  That had me very worried because I 

wanted to list everything.  And I've been like going -- I 

would have put it.  I had no reason to deny it.  I have no 

reason at all to hide nothing, especially when I'm coming to 

the Board to try to get this.  You know, I'm just trying to 

change my life.  And my life is in your hands because I need 

this job.  And I apologize for that.  I would have put it. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir, I appreciate that.  

Thank you.  I think we understand that you tried.  It's just 

hard for us to believe that, if you can understand, that you 

can remember writing a bad check and listing that but not 

listing more serious crimes.  So that's what we're having a 

hard time with. 

MR. ONGORY:  I'm sorry. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Your life is not in our 

hands, okay.  The ability to work with a work card in certain 

industries is not in our hands.  However, your life is in 

your own hands. 

MR. ONGORY:  Exactly. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  It always has been and it 

always will be. 
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MR. ONGORY:  Exactly. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  So I take a little bit of 

bite on that one. 

MR. ONGORY:  I'm 52. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Stop.  Stop.  I didn't -- 

it's not for discussion.  I'm just telling you right now. 

MR. ONGORY:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  So I appreciate what you 

tired to do.  But it just -- it seems like there's some 

significant things that just weren't there at the same year 

as Commissioner Brown said. 

MR. ONGORY:  I'm sorry. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All right.  Are there any 

other motions questions from the Board?  

Okay.  If no further questions, I'll entertain a 

motion. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am going to motion that we uphold the denial at 

this time.  I too share the exact same concerns.  There's no 

way that anyone should forget a conviction of a rape and 

sodomy. 

MR. ONGORY:  But that -- but that wasn't -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir, your time to talk is 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
266

over here. 

MR. ONGORY:  All right.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All opposed, okay.  So, 

again, sir, thank you for your information and for applying.  

I would encourage you to come back in a year.  We have now 

your entire history and you can ask the PILB for a copy of 

that I believe, and we'll revisit your request.  Thank you, 

sir.  Good luck. 

It looks like we're ready to go back to item 

number 73 that we trailed.  Is Mr. Jessie Gonzalez here.  

Thank you, Mr. Gonzalez, for your patience. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So where are we, 

Investigator Saladino, or, Swarthout?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

So Chief Irizarry and I were able to look up on San 

Bernardino's court records it was one 2015 arrest and it was 

just probation, the court dates that reoccurred on the 

fingerprint.  So he was correct it was the one in 2015. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Outstanding.  Thank 

you.  

Okay.  So are there any other questions from the 

Board?  

Okay.  If there are no other questions, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I'll 

make a motion to -- I make a motion to grant the denial -- 

overturn the denial of Jessie Gonzalez's for registration 

that was denied.  That was the decision of the Board.  And my 

reasons are I think with the programs you're in, the programs 

you've done and the work history, your recent work history 

that's a couple of years old, you're in good positions and 

you have letters from people that are above you that know 

you.  So to me that's a big deal. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  Second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was in favor of the motion.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any denials?

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Nay.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So your motion is -- or the 
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motion is approved.  You will get your work card.  Please 

work with the PILB. 

MR. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.  Thank you so much.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yep.  Thank you, sir.  Good 

luck to you.  

MR. GONZALEZ:  I appreciate you guys. 

MR. INGRAM:  Kathy, for the record the one denial 

was Cortez.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Cathleen or Clanthie 

-- Clanthie Elchols, sorry.  Clanthie Elchols here?  Is Green 

here?  I'm so sorry.  Are you on the phone?  Are you up 

north?  Okay.  We'll trail that one. 

Janell O'Dell?  Item number 77, Janell O'Dell.  

Okay.  We'll go ahead and trail that one.  

Isaiah Delarose Delarose?  Good afternoon.  

MR. DELAROSE:  Hello, everyone. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Hello.  Thank you for your 

patience.  Please tell us a little bit about yourself and 

what your intention of the guard card. 

MR. DELAROSE:  Hi.  My name Isaiah Delarose.  I'm 

from Wisconsin.  I recently just moved to Las Vegas, June 

29th, a couple of days before my 30th birthday, the big one 

so big move. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 
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MR. DELAROSE:  I'm here to appeal my denial for 

my guard card.  Back in Wisconsin, in Milwaukee is where I'm 

from, we have one casino in there.  It's a Native American 

Tribe casino.  I've been there since I graduated high school, 

and I've been there for ten years.  And from there I came out 

here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  And you're applying 

for a guard card.  It looks likes in 2016 you had a 

conviction.  

MR. DELAROSE:  Yes, ma'am, of a DUI.  I believe 

it's a go arm with firearm.  It's basically a DUI with an 

armed -- a firearm. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. DELAROSE:  Even though I had my CCW, because 

of the fact I was influenced or intoxicated, it kind of just 

cuts it out right away. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Understood. 

MR. DELAROSE:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any questions from 

the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Bored Member 

Cortez.  Question for Mr. Delarose.  Have you -- did you 

happen to bring any of your court papers, court documents?  

MR. DELAROSE:  I did not, ma'am. 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
270

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You did not?  

MR. DELAROSE:  I did not bring them.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Investigator Jones, do we 

have the updated information?  Did I hear something about 

fingerprint reports haven't been received.  Can I get an 

update.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Yes.  This is Investigator 

Jones.  We have received the fingerprints.  The operating 

while under the influence resulted in a noncriminal citation.  

The firearm offense was as stated on your report.  However, 

there was an additional weapons restriction shown on the 

fingerprint report.  However, it does not specify what that 

restriction is.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Mr. Delarose, do you know 

what the restriction on the -- apparently there was a 

restriction on -- 

MR. DELAROSE:  On the DUI case. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Correct. 

MR. DELAROSE:  I received probation.  I wasn't 

able to have a firearm for the year.  I had to keep a job for 

a year.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  That's good.  

MR. DELAROSE:  Okay.  Sorry.  I was just trying 

to remember everything.  I'm sorry.
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  No worries.  I do 

appreciate you did disclose that.  That's all I need. 

MR. DELAROSE:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any further 

questions?  

Okay.  If there's no questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Board Member Brown.  I move 

that we grant the appeal and allow Mr. Delarose to get his 

work card. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'll second the motion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Congratulations, 

Mr. Delarose.  So you'll work with the PILB. 

MR. DELAROSE:  Thanks a lot.  Have a good day. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  They will get in 

contact with you. 

Anthony Jimenez, are you in the room with us or 

on the phone?  Mr. Jimenez?  Okay.  I'll go ahead and trail.  

John Garza, are you in the room?  
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MR. GARZA:  Yes, I'm right here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Mr. Garza, tell us -- 

wait a minute.  Are you under oath, sir?  

MR. GARZA:  No, I don't think so. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You have not been sworn in?  

MR. GARZA:  No. 

MR. DETMER:  Sir, if you could please raise your 

right hand.  

(Whereupon, the oath was administered.) 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  

Okay.  Mr. Garza, tell us a little bit about 

yourself and what your intentions are with the guard card. 

MR. GARZA:  Okay.  My name is John Garza.  I'm 

from California.  I'm 42 years old.  And I'm currently 

working with CSC.  It's Event Staffing in California.  And 

I'm currently trying to get my guard card with them.  I 

passed all my classes and paid for the fee.  And I'm just 

waiting as I did my last scan, my last fingerprint scans with 

them, and I was just waiting back for them.  

But Nevada had, they came to my work saying that 

they needed workers from Nevada to work the events over there 

and but they want guard cards only.  So I tried to do that.  

I applied to do that.  And they said, one of the ladies said 

that I was probably going to get denied because of my past 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
273

record.  But it was so long, she said I would probably have a 

chance because it's so long that she gave me a number, so I 

should call you guys for the appeal and that's why I'm here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have a question first to Investigator Jones.  Have we 

received his fingerprint report?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  Yes, we 

have.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Does that clear up 

the 2018 warrant arrest for unknown charge?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  There 

is no warrant on his fingerprint report.  However, there were 

two other arrests that were found on the fingerprints that 

were not disclosed on the application.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Can you explain 

those.  And then I would like to revisit the arrest in 2018 

that was disclosed to a warrant that said he went to jail.  I 

assume they don't put you in jail for nothing. 

MR. GARZA:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I have probably maybe 

a handful of driving suspended charges that, from probably 

2015 and so on before then.  And I never went to court for 

those.  So I'm pretty sure that's what they picked me up on 
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those warrant charges for. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So, Investigator 

Jones, can you -- can you explain a little bit more what you 

found in the fingerprint report.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Certainly. 

MR. GARZA:  My DUI -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir?  Sir, this is for the 

investigator. 

MR. GARZA:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Please hold. 

MR. GARZA:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  In 2002 out of California we 

have a DUI with an unknown severity and unknown disposition.  

And in 2013, controlled -- possession of a controlled 

substance which resulted in two years probation and nine days 

jail. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And do we have anything on 

the 2018 incident, what that was specifically?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  There 

is nothing on the fingerprint report regarding an active 

warrant. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Was there any arrest in 2018?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Investigator Jones.  No.  

The last arrest was in 2013.  It looks like it was the 
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possession of that controlled substance I mentioned 

previously. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So on the criminal 

history where it says 2018 convicted, is that what the 

applicant put down?  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  That is correct.  That is 

what the applicant stated when he initially applied. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I don't think so but I don't know that it was cleared up for 

me.  

Mr. Garza, let me go ahead and ask Mr. Garza.  

Mr. Garza, do you recall being arrested in 2018 and you 

believe it was for failure to appear on vehicle related 

charges and driving related charges?  

MR. GARZA:  Yes, I believe so. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  And you did spend 

time in jail?  

MR. GARZA:  Yes, I did about ten days. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.  No 

further questions. 

MR. GARZA:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir, quick question.  
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Why did you not list the arrest of 2013 and 2002?  

MR. GARZA:  I completely forgot about that 

arrest.  It blew my mind.  I totally forgot about it.  I went 

to go get my whole records and all that but I thought I could 

just name them off the top of my head. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Mr. Garza, the 2013 controlled substance charge, 

what state was that in?  

MR. GARZA:  California. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  And what was the substance?  

MR. GARZA:  Excuse me?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  What was the controlled 

substance?  

MR. GARZA:  Crystal, it was crystal meth I 

believe. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  So you completed 

probation for that charge in 2015; is that correct?  

MR. GARZA:  Yes. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Were you just in possession 

of or is there any substance abuse history?  

MR. GARZA:  No, there's none of that.  It's just 

I'm in the process of getting my license back right now too.  

So that's why I'm trying to get all this stuff completed, 
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and.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I didn't hear the last 

part.  My question is are there any substance abuse issues 

that we need to address at this time?  

MR. GARZA:  Oh, no.  No. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Are there any other questions 

from the Board?  

If there's no other questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  Second call for a motion on Mr. John Garza.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I'm, and maybe the other Board Members are in the same 

situation I am.  I'm sort of conflicted on this one.  He 

didn't disclose a felony.  He disclosed an arrest that we 

didn't even know about and can't find out about but failed to 

disclose a couple of others.  So I'm sort of on the fence 

about this one and the other Board Members may be also.  

I'm going to go ahead and move that we grant 

Mr. Garza's appeal and allow him to obtain his work card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'm right there with you, Board Member Brown, but at 

this time I am going to second the motion to overturn the 
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denial and grant Mr. Garza his work card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So we have a motion.  

We have a second.  All in favor say aye.

(The vote was in favor of the motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Opposed?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  No. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So the motion passes 

four to one.  Mr. Garza, you will be granted your work card.  

The PILB will get in contact with you. 

MR. GARZA:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate it. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You're welcome.  

Jordan Lawson, are you in the room?  Good 

afternoon, sir.  So tell us a little bit about yourself and 

why you're here to get a work card. 

MR. LAWSON:  Jordan Lawson, local.  30 years old, 

three kids and just been doing security since I was 18.  So 

kind of my bread and butter. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Have you been doing -- 

when you said you're a local you've been doing security in 

Nevada then?  

MR. LAWSON:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Were you originally given a 

work card?  

MR. LAWSON:  Yep.  They took it because I was on 
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probation.  I've been on probation since all year now. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So are you still currently on 

probation?  

MR. LAWSON:  Nope.  I sent Zach my discharge 

papers too. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I do remember you came before 

the Board before. 

MR. LAWSON:  I remember a couple of y'all faces. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Even with the mask on.  

Okay.  Are there any questions from the Board?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  This question is for Investigator Saladino.  Can I 

see the video or transcripts for the 2019 denial.  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  

So in the 2019 hearing, Chairman Flynn did not have the Board 

review the videos or pictures that were provided.  It was 

Mr. Lawson's car.  It was taken under NAC and added to a 

roster for not being professional, posting videos from body 

cam footage of different incidents involving, you know, 

people that he was detaining, searching, pepper-spraying.  

At the time in 2019 Chairman Flynn focused in on 

the fact that he was on probation for child abuse and said he 

could come back after he was finished with his child abuse 

case, which that was completed in May 12th of 2020. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a question for you, 

Mr. Lawson.  What have you been doing since then?  

MR. LAWSON:  Working, taking care of the kids. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  What have you been working?  

MR. LAWSON:  I was working at Snackers on Valley 

View.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LAWSON:  I was a cashier.  Right now I'm at a 

wedding chapel, Via Las Vegas. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Have you attended any anger 

management classes, any -- 

MR. LAWSON:  Yeah.  They made me do impulse 

classes and anger management classes, stuff like that.  I 

completed them now.  I was doing all this stuff when I was on 

probation. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  If given the card what 

are your intentions?  

MR. LAWSON:  Actually I've got some companies I 

can go back to. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are they regular 

security companies?  

MR. LAWSON:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Event staffing.  

MR. LAWSON:  Uh-huh.  Right now I'm looking at 
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buses.  It's good pay right now. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  That's armed?  

MR. LAWSON:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Do you have an armed guard 

card?  

MR. LAWSON:  I was armed before they took it.  I 

still have my card.  I was at Big Horn.  I was working 

casinos. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  That's pretty intense work. 

MR. LAWSON:  Which one, casinos or -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Both.  Both.  But being on 

the buses, you're, you know, in a small confined area. 

MR. LAWSON:  Yeah, you're right. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yeah. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Mr. Lawson, I have a 

question for you.  This is Board Member Cortez.  Am I on?  

Have you had several employers?  Okay.  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  Question for Mr. Lawson.  How many previous employs 

have you had within the last five years?  

MR. LAWSON:  Two or three. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Of those two or three did 

you quit?  Were you fired?  Were you let go?  

MR. LAWSON:  Some of them I quit and some just, I 

started to take off before try to cut those off. 
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Do you have a history of 

any issues with your employers?  

MR. LAWSON:  No.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  So it's been 

reported that apparently you have been terminated for conduct 

contrary to the company's many cases.  Obviously everybody 

has their own opinion as far as that.  I do have statements 

indicating that you're a different kind of patrol officer and 

that your hands on.  Explain to me what that means. 

MR. LAWSON:  I think I explained this, I don't 

remember your name, but I explained this to you.  But we had 

talked about a year, year and a half ago.  He had called me 

and asked me what kind of guard are you.  I was like for the 

companies I work for are hands on companies.  You know, it's 

not like we at least making you call us as paying an armed 

company, I have a resident here that doesn't want to pay rent 

and he's an Airbnb.  We don't get their arm.  Just keep them.  

I'll call Metro.  No.  No.  We detain them, you know, wait 

for Metro to get there and stop the problem.  But what he 

told me is you don't do that.  You observe a report.  I said 

okay.  Left it at that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Do you agree or disagree 

with that? 

MR. LAWSON:  I mean, this -- y'all make the rule.  
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I mean, if that's what they say don't do it don't do it. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Okay.  So just to clarify a 

little bit we don't make the rules as far as each and every 

employer and their policies and procedures.  As your job to 

observe and report that is the job.  It's out of your 

jurisdiction to go above and beyond to use of force unless 

it's an imminent and immediate threat.  

I get what you you're saying because I do work 

with officers that there's some of that mentally.  However, 

it's a very small line and you will find yourself in a 

criminal courtroom facing criminal charges of assault, 

battery of those natures.  That's what I'm trying to avoid. 

I am a little concerned with that because it 

seems like it's a little bit of a trigger happy.  I do have a 

hot temper and I can.  We have a situation here in 2020, 

2019.  I've got information that you're not necessarily 

conducting under policies and procedures, going a bit above 

and beyond use of force.  It's an issue in today's day and 

age.  So I just -- I kind of wanted to get an idea.  Do you 

believe you have somewhat of anger issues or impulse control 

issues?  

MR. LAWSON:  No.  Like I was telling him, we 

don't -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I need you to tell me 
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because I wasn't there for you conversation. 

MR. LAWSON:  I'm just trying to make sure I'm 

talking into the mic.  Like I was telling him when I spoke to 

him on the phone a year, year and a half ago, we don't clock 

in and, oh, let me just go out there and get hands on.  No.  

No.  You get certain calls that you have to do your job.  You 

know, it's like do your job.  You get fired for not 

protecting people that's paying you.  So it's like -- it just 

depends on what type of situation you're in. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So can I ask a question.  The 

company -- I want to ask you what companies you've worked 

for.  But in the employment of those companies have they 

taught you or have you been through any deescalation classes?  

MR. LAWSON:  Yeah.  We go through all type of 

training classes from firearms to baton, asps, Metro 

training.  We took -- some of the companies out here have 

like Metro classes they will pay for and stuff.  All you 

gotta do is pay for the certificate and stuff like that.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Have you been through any of 

them, and when I say deescalation meaning when you walk into 

a hostile environment, you walk into a problem, like for 

example on a bus, have they taught you how to bring all of 

that down without using anything on your belt yet?  

MR. LAWSON:  Yes, ma'am.  Actually being a 
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firearm carrier, yes.  We don't actually go in, you know, 

escalating the situation and trigger happy, yeah, or stuff 

like that. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So you've gone through that 

deescalation -- 

MR. LAWSON:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  -- and MOAB and all those 

other courses. 

MR. LAWSON:  Uh-huh.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  And so in that you do 

understand, you know, as a private citizen you do not have 

the power to arrest.  And so, you know, not only for yourself 

and you can put yourself in harms way and in addition, you 

know, get arrested but your company as well, you know, both 

of them.  If there's someone that wants to sue you for doing 

something that they felt was above and beyond what your scope 

was that you could get arrested for that. 

So we're just trying to understand your mentality 

when you go into a situation.  I do get that there's times 

when it's escalated and you need to do other things.  But we 

have video and we have, you know, just all kinds of reports 

that you seem to be a little bit more above and beyond, what 

the kids call today extra, right.  So we want that make sure 

that, you know, you understand that.  And that we don't take 
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the responsibility of putting you out on the streets.  So 

we're trying to understand where you're at in your head right 

now before we make a final decision on whether or not we're 

going to, you know, move forward with the guard card. 

MR. LAWSON:  Okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  We appreciate that you have a 

kid.  You have kids and you have a family that you need to 

support and all of that.  But we need to understand and feel 

comfortable that we're not releasing you out to the public to 

cause harm. 

MR. LAWSON:  No.  I get you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any further questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have a question for Investigator Saladino.  At the bottom 

of your summary it states that Mr. Lawson has been arrested 

since his denial and cited for battery out of the Las Vegas 

muni court.  He's pled nolo, and he has a court date coming 

up on October 5th.  The battery, was it related to a job or 

anything that he was doing, can you tell?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Investigator Saladino.  I 

do not know about what the battery charge stems from but it 

is correct he pled nolo and there is a hearing on 10-5.  

Also there was a 2000, May 13th, 2000 arrest for, 

it was guilty of a misdemeanor, possession drug charge and 
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firearm, and he did forfeit the weapon.  They didn't convict 

him of carrying a concealed weapon.  It only was a 

misdemeanor drug possession, and they had him forfeit the 

weapon at that time. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Of this year?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  That was in 2020.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So if I understand correctly 

then, there's still some court work to be done here?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Correct. 

MR. LAWSON:  I have a status check October 5th to 

make sure I get that -- the class she was asking about, the 

impulse class. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any further 

questions?  

If there's no further questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I move that we uphold the denial for the following reasons.  

One, the pending court actions for battery.  The information 

that we've received about Mr. Lawson being a different kind 

of officer and the criminal history of that we didn't even 

touch on.  Those are my reasons. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  Do I have a 

second?  
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez.  I 

will second that motion. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  I 

have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So, sir, we're going to 

uphold the denial.  You need to get through all your court 

stuff before we can even consider, you know, granting your 

work card.  So at least get through that and then have a 

conversation again and apply, okay? 

MR. LAWSON:  How long?  A year?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  But you have to -- you have 

to be done with your court stuff before you -- 

MR. LAWSON:  I know.  Like I said, it's just a 

status check. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  All right.  Yep.  

After you get done with that then apply back in a year.  

MR. LAWSON:  Gotcha. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

It's 3:30.  Can we take just a real quick 

five-minute break.  

Okay.  Thank you.  We'll be back in five minutes. 

(Whereupon, a brief recess was taken.) 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, everyone, for 

joining us again.  We're going to go back and revisit some 

items that we trailed this last session.  I'm going to call 

out the names.  If you're here please identify yourself.  

Item number 70, Pierce -- no, I'm sorry, Pierre 

Burton, are you here or on the phone or up north?  Pierre 

Burton?  

Okay.  Clanthie Elchols Green.  Going once.  

Clanthie Green?  

Okay.  Janell O'Dell?  Janell O'Dell?  

Anthony Jimenez?  Anthony Jimenez.  

Okay.  Yshonda Cobb?  Yshonda Cobb?  

Adam Finley?  

MR. INGRAM:  For the record Adam Finley has since 

been -- he was put on the roster.  He's been cleared.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. INGRAM:  So we no longer need to hear his 

appeal.  He will be getting his work card.  And just I want 

to make sure we don't deny him based on not being here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Lenny Corella?  Lenny 

Corella?  

I think that's it.  So now do we block vote those 

that we trailed or do we -- 

MR. DETMER:  I believe you can do it that way.  
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That's correct.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask 

for a block vote, and we'll review all of the people that we 

trailed real quick.  If there's any discussion that needs to 

be had over that then we'll pull them out.  

So right now we have trailed item number 50, 

Yshonda Cobb.  

We have it looks like Lenny Cormier, item number 

-- agenda item 56, Lenny Cormier.  Let's see.  That's it on 

that page.  

Item number 70, Pierre Burton.  

Item number 76, Clanthie Elchols Green.  

Item number 77, Janell O'Dell.  

Item number 79, Anthony Jimenez.  

I would like to take a block vote on those.  I'll 

entertain a motion if there's no discussion. 

MS. IRIZARRY:  Chief Irizarry.  I apologize.  

Director Ingram, should I note for the Board if these people 

have been noticed or not.  Some of them we were able to 

notice and we did get a response from, others we did not.  

Did you want to know those individuals at this time?  Okay 

one second.  

Chief Irizarry.  I'm going to go through the 

agenda item.  Let me know if I miss one.  
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Agenda item number 50, Yshonda Cobb, was spoken 

to on the phone.  She understood she needed to be here.  We 

followed up asking her to provide it in writing.  She, and 

with an e-mail.  We never received a written response but a 

verbal response that she understood she was to be here.  

Number 56, Lenny Corella.  That individual, we 

made multiple attempts on the phone, e-mail.  We sent them 

the certified and regular mail.  Nothing has -- have we 

received a response back from, as well as the certified mail 

receipt has also not been received. 

Number 70, Pierre Burton.  That individual was 

sent an e-mail and was spoken to on the phone that they 

understood.  We asked for something in writing saying that 

they actually needed to be here.  They never responded in 

writing, but it was a verbal response that they did 

understand they needed to be present at the meeting.  That 

was 70, Burton, correct.  

79, Clanthie Elchols Green.  Similarly, they were 

spoken to on the phone -- I'm sorry, 76.  I'm sorry, 76.  

Dyslexic, upside down.  76, spoke to on the phone that they 

understood and they verbally confirmed they would be here.  

We followed up with an e-mail, but they never responded back 

to us that they knew that they were going to be here in 

person. 
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77, Janell O'Dell, verbal confirmation 

over-the-phone but did not respond back in writing, and we 

followed up with an e-mail.  We never heard back from Janell.  

And the last one that I have here is Anthony 

Jimenez.  We tried reaching out with two phone calls, an 

e-mail, the certified mail and regular mail.  Nothing has, 

did we receive a response from and the certified mail has 

also not been received back. 

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So can I ask, if no longer 

responsive, they are removed, can we move forward with them 

in the block vote. 

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  As long 

as the statutory compliance for notice was observed I believe 

the Board is okay. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So then I go -- and 

thank you, Chief.  

I go back to my original request for a motion on 

the block vote.  Is there any questions or concerns with that 

block?  

Okay.  If there's no questions or concerns, I'll 

entertain a motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I make 

a motion that we in a block vote deny the following, deny the 
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appeals.  Number 50, Yshonda Cobb.  Number 56, Lenny Corella.  

Number 70, Pierre Burton.  Number 76, Clanthie Elchols Green.  

Number 77, Janell O'Dell.  And number 79, Anthony Jimenez. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  The reason, that they 

were notified and they have not responded.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I have a motion.  

Do we have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I'll second.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Brown.  I'll second. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Cortez will second.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion and several 

seconds.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Motion passes.  

So this is the agenda item number 82.  I'm sorry.  

Hang on one second.  We're working on it.  Okay.  Agenda item 

number 82, Melvin Loyal. 

MR. LOYAL:  How are you?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Good.  How are you?  Sir, 

your work card was revoked pursuant to NAC 648.344.  And you 
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are appealing your decision by the Board. 

MR. LOYAL:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Please tell us a little bit 

about yourself. 

MR. LOYAL:  I'm 31.  Can I take this off?  I'm 

31 years old.  I moved out here from Long Beach, California.  

I've been out here 15 years.  I have two kids, 12 and 11.  

I've been doing security basically ever since I moved out 

here.  I did retail at Walmart for a couple years.  I've 

always kept a job.  I had my first kid at 18 but I've always 

kept a job.  

I didn't get in no serious trouble in Las Vegas, 

Nevada until May -- May 9th, 2019, when I caught my CCW 

charges.  I did house arrest for probably like a month or so.  

Two years of probation, no violation, no trouble, no dirty 

piss tests.  Got off, got off probation.  I obtained my work 

card again.  I took my CCW class.  I got my paperwork, my -- 

everything right here that's my CCW class.  It was submitted 

by Metro.  

I made a mistake by having my gun concealed and 

the whole incident I made a mistake.  I just didn't know who 

the undercover police were.  I made a mistake.  I don't ever 

want to go through that again.  That's why I took the time 

to, when I got off I obtained my work card.  I obtained my 
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CCW.  My CCW just recently got submitted.  I went to Metro.  

I got all of that to prove to you guys.  

I made a mistake.  I just want to get back to 

working.  I got a good company I can go back to.  I work 

Security Service, 15th, the manager.  I just want to get back 

to work because Door Dash is not doing it for me.  I just 

want to get back to work.  I made my mistake.  I did my time.  

I did two years, no trouble at all, no violation, no nothing.  

I got all my information.  When I got out I obtained my work 

card again.  I did my CCW class, passed it, submitted it with 

Metro.  Everything is right here, the fingerprints.  

Everything is right here. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  I just want to get back to work 

because Door Dash and Grub Hub, it's not doing it for me.  I 

have myself and two kids to take care of.  And, you know, 

Door Dash ain't doing it.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I understand.  

MR. LOYAL:  You know, I made a mistake.  I 

apologize to you guys and myself, but I just want to get back 

to work. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. LOYAL:  You know, I'm not a bad person.  I 

made a mistake.  And I have these papers if you guys want 
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them. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  We'll have you submit 

them if we need them but let us -- 

MR. LOYAL:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you.  

Are there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Investigator Saladino, is 

there a follow-up of information and a summary, Investigator 

Swarthout?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Investigator Swarthout. 

Yeah, so the applicant did show me earlier that he did submit 

into Metro for submitting a CCW.  He did show me a class that 

he took with, it appeared to be Herb Pasquele at Top Line 

Defense for firearms training.  We do have police reports if 

the Board wants information on the arrest from the police 

reports. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So if I could please because 

I feel like I walked into the middle of a story here.  What 

was the arrest for?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  So the first arrest was 

May 9th, 2019, as for carrying a concealed -- concealed 

weapon without a permit and resisting a police officer.  From 

the police reports, Metro was watching him because there was 

an incident earlier on that he wasn't charged with until 
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May 12th for that charge. 

And when they went to stop him, they were in an 

unmarked car.  They got in front of his vehicle.  They 

swerved so they would not hit.  And when he got out of the 

car he started reaching for a firearm that was in his belt.  

When they identified themselves he did stop reaching.  They 

did retrieve the firearm and taken into custody with no 

incident. 

MR. LOYAL:  That's true.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I did.  

MR. LOYAL:  I didn't know what -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir?  Sir, let us 

finish.  So I just want to make sure he wasn't in uniform.  

He wasn't on duty as far as security.  Because it sounds like 

he had a guard card and he was working security. 

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  So at that time for that 

incident no.  The May 12th, 2019 arrest was related back to a 

March -- April 30th, 2019 incident where he was at the Ahern 

Casino, where is that, the Sahara and Las Vegas Boulevard 

area.  And in that incident the individual that reported said 

that there was a green laser on his chest.  And later on when 

he got out of the vehicle, supposedly he showed him a firearm 

that had a green laser attached to him.  That's why he ended 

up filing a police report because he felt that the firearm 
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was pointed at him at that point in time. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So at that time when he 

pointed the firearm -- 

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  He was working for 

Bedrock Security at that point in time.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And he was in uniform?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Did he have an arm 

guard card?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes, he did. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, are there any 

other questions?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Hi.  This is Board Member 

Brown.  I think I'm a little confused about the May 12th.  

The charge is carrying a concealed weapon without a permit 

but he was in uniform and had an armed card during that 

incident?  

INVESTIGATOR SWARTHOUT:  Yes.  So the original 

incident started on May 30th -- April 30th of 2019.  They 

didn't charge him until after the fact for it. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So -- 

MR. LOYAL:  So those two charges -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I guess based on the -- 

based on the explanation I'm a little confused because it 
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sounds like that the report was made because whoever, a 

citizen or somebody felt that he had a gun pointed at him.  

And it was later determined that our applicant may have had a 

green laser on his weapon but he was working in an armed 

uniform capacity so it wouldn't have been concealed.  I'm 

confused about the concealed part of it. 

MR. LOYAL:  Okay.  I --

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Hang on.  Hang on.  We'll let 

you talk.  Hang on.  

So, Investigator Saladino?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Yeah, Madam Chair, 

Investigator Saladino.  So based on the police report from 

April 30th there was an incident involving someone who worked 

with Ahern Security where the individual saw a red laser 

pointed on his chest.  After the applicant got out of the 

vehicle and was talking with the individual he noticed that 

he had a laser on his firearm.  The individual filed the 

report with Metro.  They didn't have enough evidence based on 

the surveillance video because they could see the Nissan 

pulling up, the vehicle that he was in, pulling up to the 

gate, and they could see a laser, but they couldn't determine 

if there was a firearm in his hand or not.  At that time Las 

Vegas Metro didn't have enough evidence to make an arrest.  

Then we, on the other arrest they had been, you 
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know, kind of watching him for a while.  They noticed the 

vehicle again.  They initiated a stop.  And the officers 

pulled in front.  The applicant pulled forward like he was 

going to hit the vehicle, jumped out of the vehicle, went to 

grab his firearm and that's when the cops identified 

themselves and the applicant, you know, surrendered without 

incident. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So if I understand 

correctly, were they watching him because of the first 

incident?  

INVESTIGATOR SALADINO:  Correct. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Got it.  So were you 

patrolling in your own vehicle, sir?  

MR. LOYAL:  No.  So basically what happened, I 

just got off work.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  When they were doing surveillance.  

They let me get all the way to, by the Boulevard Mall to stop 

me.  If you guys are watching me and doing surveillance on me 

you should have got me right then and there when I walked off 

of the job. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. LOYAL:  So I worked a seven day a week post.  

I got various auto time all day everyday.  I worked a seven 
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day a week post on Desert and Eastern.  I got various auto 

time.  Do you think if I knew that was Metro I would have 

acted like that?  Hell no, I wouldn't.  But the way they was 

coming at my car it was like they were about to ram me.  I 

didn't know who they was.  There wasn't no lights on or 

nothing.  So I did hop out of the car in defense because who 

the hell are you.  If you Metro, you got no lights on, no 

nothing.  I don't who you are.  I work a seven a day post for 

Bedrock, various auto time, all of this other stuff.  I 

didn't know who they was.  Yeah, I never had my gun 

concealed, correct.  But I got up.  I did my time.  I did all 

the right stuff.  You know, I made a mistake.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Sir, I understand that 

part.  So I'm just trying to get to the root cause.  So on 

the initial incident where you pointed a weapon at an 

individual. 

MR. LOYAL:  Never.  So the whole thing that 

happened when I pulled up to the gate. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Were you in a civilian car?  

MR. LOYAL:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Were you patrolling?  

MR. LOYAL:  No.  I was going to my post because I 

got off work from my post.  They asked me where to go to that 

post.  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  I was on my way there.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  He put a bright ass light in my face. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  I'm not going to lie to you.  I'm in 

the car.  I pointed it back.  I wasn't trying to point my 

laser but my laser was on instead of my light.  And we got in 

there, you know, just acting like everything was cool.  Me, 

him, his partner, my partner, we're all talking.  We're 

joking around.  

He goes upstairs and tells the main operation 

manager, Bruce, I had a firearm and stuff.  I got upset.  I 

was like, man, you know, if you have a problem you could have 

talked to me about it.  And I left.  I went home. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  As I got off work that day on 

May 9th, I walked to my car.  I noticed the Ford Fusion.  I 

never didn't think nothing of it because everybody has got a 

tint in Vegas.  It's hot.  Didn't think nothing of it.  You 

know, I'm proceeding, going up Desert and get to the 

Boulevard Mall because I'm picking up my girlfriend at the 

time.  So as I make a left there, I see that same Ford 

Fusion, no lights, no nothing on, so that's why I reacted the 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
303

way I reacted.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.

MR. LOYAL:  Not because I'm in patrol in my car, 

no.  I don't know who the hell they were because I'm working 

a seven day a week post.  I get various auto time. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. LOYAL:  I'm a black man.  So I'm not about to 

just -- I'm not taking nothing from nobody these days.  

People are crazy.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So hang on.  So the 

post at Ahern, right?  You're going to a post at Ahern?  

MR. LOYAL:  Yes, ma'am.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And you have an arm guard 

card which is correct, right?  

MR. LOYAL:  Yes.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Is that post, is that 

an armed post?  

MR. LOYAL:  That post is an unarmed post.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  It's an unarmed?  

MR. LOYAL:  That post was unarmed at the time. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  And so why were you 

going to that post with your weapon?  

MR. LOYAL:  It was in my car.  It was actually on 

me.  So I'm not going to lie.  I just made a mistake.  I had 
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it on me. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  And, you know, I should never conceal 

it.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. LOYAL:  And I did my time and I did 

everything to get back on track.  As soon as I got off 

probation, you know, I got off probation.  I went and 

obtained my work card again.  I got my CCW.  I did 

everything.  I made a mistake.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I understand. 

MR. LOYAL:  I mean, I'll never do it again.  I 

just want to work. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I understand, sir.  

Thank you.  

Board, are there any other questions?

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I have one.

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Yes.  This is Board Member 

-- this is Board Member Brown, if I can.  Mr. Loyal, so in 

that incident with Ahern, the, it was a co-worker who shined 

a flashlight in your eyes and you said you made a mistake.  

You meant to shine your flashlight but your laser was 

actually on.  Am I understanding that part?  

MR. LOYAL:  Yeah.  I meant to flash my flashlight 
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because I got, it's a bright light on my little combo laser 

thing.  I meant to flash my light just being funny but 

instead, you know, my beam came on.  So, you know, it was a 

simple mistake.  Nothing in a threatening manner at all.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  The laser and the 

light are attached to a weapon?  

MR. LOYAL:  Yes, sir.  They were on -- 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  So you meant to hit him with 

-- you meant to shine your flashlight at him but that was 

attached to a weapon.  So you instead pointed a weapon at a 

co-worker.  Whether it was flashlight or a light you pointed 

a weapon at him; is that correct?  

MR. LOYAL:  Correct.  No point in lying.  

Correct.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I believe -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I'm sorry.  I thought you 

were done, Mr.  Brown. 

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  I was.  I was just going to 

say I believe Mr. Gronauer had questions. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you.  What is your 

name?  

Here's the deal, what I want to know is you -- 
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your company you were working for, did they buy you a weapon 

or did you buy your own weapon?  

MR. LOYAL:  No, I bought my own weapon. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Does your company 

allow you to use lasers?  

MR. LOYAL:  I didn't at the time.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Stop.  Why do you 

need --  

MR. LOYAL:  It was a flashlight. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Why do you need a laser?  

MR. LOYAL:  Well, it was a combo that came with 

my light.

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Why do you need a laser? 

MR. LOYAL:  I actually don't need a laser.  I 

just need the light.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I was a cop for 30 years 

and didn't have to have a laser. 

MR. LOYAL:  I need a light.  It's for when I'm 

going into apartments and stuff. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  All right.  I don't want 

to argue. 

MR. LOYAL:  No.  No. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I'm just saying I don't 

know why you need a laser. 
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MR. LOYAL:  I didn't.  It's just a combo. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Are there any other 

questions?  

Hearing no other questions, I'll entertain a 

motion.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  

Because of the incident and pointing a gun at a co-worker, 

you know as well as I, if you were on the side you would have 

done the same.  I'm going to make, and also I don't agree 

with having a laser as a security officer. 

MR. LOYAL:  I'm sorry. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  I make a motion to uphold 

the revocation of Melvin Loyal, R -- number R-2018-00473 and 

uphold the revocation.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I second. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Board Member Cortez, did you 

have further questions? 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I do have a question for 

counsel.  If the revocation for -- 

THE REPORTER:  I can't hear you.
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BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I'm sorry.  This is Board 

Member Cortez.  Requesting information, if the revocation is 

upheld is he able to reapply?  Come back?  Apply again?  

What's the time frame?  

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  In all 

candor, Executive Director Ingram, I actually would research 

what the statute is. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And I have one follow-up 

question to that.  This revocation is of his arm card or his 

work card or both?  

MR. INGRAM:  There's only one card. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So if -- I'm almost 

wondering he can get an unarmed card.  

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  Looking 

at NAC 648.3447 sub (1) it says that the Board may deny, 

suspend or revoke by the Board, cannot reapply for 

registration further than one year after the date the Board 

denies suspending.  No earlier than one year.  No earlier 

than one year. 

MR. LOYAL:  So basically it's denied, right?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So we haven't made a decision 

yet. 

MR. LOYAL:  I'm just asking because I'm just -- 

there's been a lot.  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I understand. 

MR. LOYAL:  It's been a battle I went through.  

Like I said -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir -- 

MR. LOYAL:  -- it was never a threatening manner 

to the boy. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir?  Sir, we're on a time 

constraint so I have to stop you there.  I can say for 

myself, you know, I have military training.  We have law 

enforcement.  We have several folks here, right.  I've been 

taught from the very second I touched a weapon I don't point 

it at anybody unless I intend to kill them. 

MR. LOYAL:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So I'm sorry. 

MR. LOYAL:  That's fine.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  There's no playing with laser 

lights, you know.  

MR. LOYAL:  That's fine.  I mean, if you're 

denying -- 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Please, let's make a 

decision.  So we have a motion.  We have a second.  All in 

favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So your request -- the 

revocation is upheld.  You are more than welcome to apply 

again in one year.  Thank you, sir. 

MR. LOYAL:  Have a good day. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  You too.  They will be able 

to help you.  The Board -- the PILB will be able to help you 

after.  We have to get through the meeting, sir.  We only 

have until 4:30.  Thank you. 

Pierre Atkins, are you here, sir?  Thank you.  

Sir, please tell us a little bit about yourself and your 

situation here. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  My name is Pierre 

Atkins.  I'm from California.  I've had my license for about 

seven years from 2014 to 2021.  I had a minor verbal 

altercation with my former employer DTA Security on May 14th, 

2021.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. ATKINS:  This is the real reason why I have 

--  this is the W-4 form from the IRS.  After my first two 

paychecks with DTA Security I noticed that there had been no 

federal withholding. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. ATKINS:  So I called Toni Foster, the payroll 

specialist.  She didn't know how to fill this out correctly.  



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
311

So I made an appointment with an IRS specialist myself.  And 

once I made the appointment on May 12th, I mean, yeah, 

May 12th I called in and let them know that I was not going 

to be able to come to work on the 14th because I was due at 

-- I was due at work from, I think it was 8:00 to 4:00, but I 

had to go see the IRS tax specialist.  That's what I was 

going to the people to see if they would see me.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm sorry, if someone is on 

the phone can you please mute your phone.  Thank you.  

Go ahead, sir. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yeah, after making an appointment to 

see the IRS specialist to do work on the 14th.  So on 

May 12th I called in to let DTA know I'm not going to be able 

to come in on the 14th because I have to go see the IRS 

specialist.  And then I guess they suspended me.  And then I 

called back and we had like a little argument and then some 

words were exchanged. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

MR. ATKINS:  Some foul words were exchanged on my 

behalf. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Some very foul words.  

Okay.  Are there any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I appreciate your appearance.  And thank you for 
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coming.  But I have to say I don't even know where to say 

choice words used. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yeah, like swear words. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Hang on one second, sir.  

These were a little more than choice words.  I just want you 

to hear how it sounds days, weeks later.  I'm going to 

apologize to everybody right now for some of the language I 

am going to use but this is verbatim.  One of the subject 

lines from you, sir, was "Bitch, how the fuck my money is 

going to go -- going to be deposited into my account on 

Tuesday when payday on Monday."  Blah, blah, blah.  "You 

understand your old ass wrinkle pussy bitch.  That's why your 

mother fuck has lost the word of concrete show.  Ha, ha, ha, 

bitch."  I can go on.  However, you appear as an incredibly 

respectful young man. 

MR. ATKINS:  Thank you, ma'am.  I appreciate 

that. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This right here is a huge 

and poor representation of who you appear to be. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  It's not just one page.  

I've got "Bitch ass mother fuckers.  Punk ass bitch.  

Cracker.  Nigger this.  Bitch that."  How am I supposed to 

sit here and believe that when you get a work card, trust me 
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what I know when people have a badge on their self or a work 

card, any kind of law enforcement standing, your ego gets in 

the way.

MR. ATKINS:  Oh, no, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  No, sir.  This wasn't your 

ego.  This was a lot of anger that are unaddressed.  You 

don't have to like your employer. 

MR. ATKINS:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You can be fairly 

mistreated.  But the way you went about it, if you came in 

here talking to me like this I wouldn't entertain further 

conversation and say we're done.  Enough. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I am happy that you're 

here.  I needed to see you in person. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  That's why I showed up.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I really do strongly 

suggest you never conduct yourself like this. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  So what was the reasoning?  

Aside from the IRS -- 

MR. ATKINS:  Yeah. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  -- and all of the 

injustices of the world what was your reason to come at 
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professionals this way?  

MR. ATKINS:  Me, I was angered by the suspension.  

I was indignant at the time.  I say that out of the heat of 

passion, just -- 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Well, let me ask you a 

question.  If I deny you what kind of e-mail am I going to 

get?  

MR. ATKINS:  I'm going to say thank you, ma'am.  

And I just have to reapply in a year if denied. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Am I going to be the "Bitch 

ass mother fucker" like everybody else was?  

MR. ATKINS:  No, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  So I guess I can understand 

being upset.  I'm listening to Board Member Cortez.  But, you 

know, this got into cruel behavior with pictures on Facebook 

and social media and a bunch of other stuff, right.  Why did 

it go that far?  

MR. ATKINS:  Oh, ma'am, I just -- I just felt I 

was being mistreated.  You know, and I felt I was being 

disrespected and I just wasn't thinking at the time. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. ATKINS:  So I have a letter from DTA.  They 

did give me a recommendation letter. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I -- after this they 



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CAPITOL REPORTERS (775)882-5322
315

gave you a recommendation letter?  

MR. ATKINS:  No.  No, this was before. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm sure it was before.  

MR. ATKINS:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  After this I'm sure they're 

not giving you recommendation letter, right? 

MR. ATKINS:  No.  A recognition letter. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm sure they're not giving 

you one after this, right?  

MR. ATKINS:  No.  No. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  No, okay.  That's what I'm 

assuming.  It's all good until an incident happens, right?  

MR. ATKINS:  Yeah. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  That's where I have a 

problem, right.  Because this is -- this could be found 

anywhere on-line.  These people's families, friends, 

co-workers are seeing all this, right?  

MR. ATKINS:  Yeah, and I take full responsibility 

for this.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Because this is just, 

this is not okay.  And I don't care what you're a victim of, 

this is not okay.  

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  There are avenues for you to 
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take care of this but this is not.  

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Absolutely not.  So that 

being said, I'll entertain any other questions from the 

Board.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I have a question for counsel.  I hate to put you on the 

spot, Mr. Detmer, but my question is do we have the ability 

and/or authority to permanently revoke this gentleman's 

ability to get a card?  

MR. DETMER:  Mike Detmer for the record.  Looking 

at the regulation that's written, it appears that on a first 

time denial you cannot reapply for registration earlier than 

one year after the denial.  So it appears that the Board has 

codified like, I don't know want to say time limits but time 

parameters.  

If you look at sub two, if an applicant's 

registration is denied, denied, suspended or revoked by the 

Board on two or more occasions may not reapply for 

registration earlier than five years after the date of the 

most recent position of the Board denies, suspend or revoke 

the registration of the applicant.  This requires a degree of 

regulatory interpretation.  But in the first one they say 

further than one year.  And in the second one they say not 
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earlier than five years.  One could possibly interpret that 

you have a range between one and five years on a first time 

denial.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And so I'm looking at this, 

you know, a little bit further now, and it look like this is 

not just one company that he's had this issue with.  Okay.  

Okay.  Any further questions?  

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am, I take full 

responsibility for my actions.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I'm telling you right now, if 

I get any e-mails, anything on Facebook it's not going to be 

okay. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  None of us here. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  It is not going to be okay, 

sir. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All right.

MR. INGRAM:  And that includes Board staff. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Oh, absolutely. 

MR. ATKINS:  Yes, ma'am.  Yes, sir, most 

definitely. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I will entertain a 
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motion. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This is Gronauer.  I make 

a motion that we uphold the revocation of Pierre Atkins' card 

number R-2019-00431.  His registered card was revoked and my 

reason for upholding the revocation is several actions 

against several people and companies that were totally 

unprofessional, out of line. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I am going to second the motion.  Also noting that 

we have the latest incident of 5-14 of 2021. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  That was all DTA. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have a 

motion.  I have a second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  You are put on notice, 

sir.  You should not have these incidents.  Social media is 

not something that we get to play with.  And so these are 

professional people, companies and businesses, and there are 

avenues for you to take your aggressions to or your being 

upset too from the employment agencies on to, even to us if 

you feel like you're being untreated or mistreated.  You can 
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bring it to us and we'll, you know, look into the companies 

for you.  But this is never okay.  So thank you.  

MR. ATKINS:  Okay.  So when can I apply again, in 

a year?  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  After a year to discuss.  

Just do better. 

MR. ATKINS:  Okay. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  I mean represent yourself a 

lot better. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Your social media, just 

shut it all down. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. ATKINS:  So I have a year?  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  One year, sir.  

MR. ATKINS:  Okay.

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Next Francis Burge.  

Are you here?  Thank you. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you have a weapon on 

you, sir?  

MR. BURGE:  A baton?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Pardon? 

MR. BURGE:  A baton.  Yes.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  A firearm?

MR. BURGE:  No.  
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BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Take your baton off, 

please, and place it on that desk or with one of these 

investigators. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Can I ask, sir, you know, I'm 

going to have you explain.  You're Francis Burge.  Why would 

you come in here with a baton if your license has been 

revoked?  

MR. BURGE:  Personal protection.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay. 

MR. BURGE:  Self-defense. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  So tell us a little 

bit about yourself and your situation. 

MR. BURGE:  I'm 28 years old.  I've been in Vegas 

for about 25 years.  I'm an air force brat.  And I've been 

doing security for about two years, certified and before that 

was all logistics and warehouse work. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Investigator Jones, 

could you tell us how all of this revocation came to light or 

the offenses that came to light.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  Certainly.  Investigator 

Jones.  We received a complaint and evidence, specifically a 

text message that Mr. Burge was claiming to be a law 

enforcement officer and possibly working for Homeland 

Security while still actively using his work card.  We 
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conducted an investigation and saw that he was not a current 

law enforcement officer but did have several ongoing charges 

at the time.  One of which was a CCW, misdemeanor and a 

domestic violence as well.  And I do have the text messages 

here if the Board would like me to read them in. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes, please.  

INVESTIGATOR JONES:  The first text message was 

cut off.  So I'll start with the second starting from the 

recipient and not Mr. Burges.  "So keep spouting your lies on 

social media and keep breaking the law because you believe 

you have a right.  Oh, by the way, I sent the screen shots of 

this conversation and the screen shot of you breaking the TPO 

to Metro."   Burge then responds "I'm a LEO, law enforcement 

officer, and I never punched her.  Never assaulted her.  And 

I have the videos to prove it.  I am however working for DHS 

and other Nevada agencies for bail enforcement and private 

investigations.  And I know for a fact that you need to stay 

away from me because if I see you, my friends in Metro, sir, 

will give you a nice pair of bracelets for interfering with a 

federal investigation." 

They text back and forth for about four hours and 

then Mr. Burge states.  "I'm filing a harassment lawsuit 

against you, unless that's not your name.  If that's the case 

I want to see your ID.  Here's the authority to demand 
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identification and my badge number."  And then proceeds to 

text a copy of his public verification of his registered work 

card with the PILB with his name and R number on it. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  Board, any questions?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Last name Burge?  

MR. BURGE:  Burge. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Mr. Burge, you have a lot 

of recent things here.  Concealed weapon without permit.  At 

your age, I mean you're 28 years old you say, right?  

MR. BURGE:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You seem to -- you gotta 

be more mature than this.  You can't -- you can't carry 

weapons and all this other stuff with the way your -- 

apparently possession of drugs not for, not for interstate 

commerce.  Domestic battery, first offense.  Battery on a 

pregnant victim.  Use of an electric stun gun.  I mean, to me 

I don't even have to go on.  I'm sorry.  I just I don't know 

how you can defend any of that. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sir, do you have a substance 

abuse problem?  

MR. BURGE:  No, ma'am. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Do you believe that you're a 

police officer?  

MR. BURGE:  No. 
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BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Do you believe you have 

friends that are police officers that you can do whatever you 

want?  

MR. BURGE:  No. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  You don't listen.  

What's the story real quick, okay.  You gotta couple of 

minutes because to me there's nothing from here. 

MR. BURGE:  First off, the domestic cases were on 

my -- 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  A little louder because I 

can't hear you.  

MR. BURGE:  The domestic violence cases were from 

my, I guess you can say my baby mama or the mother of my 

child.  And I found out that she had been maliciously 

persecuting me for almost a year.  And when she found out 

that I knew that the entire situation spiraled into a 

hailstorm of false accusations, people sneaking my phone and 

sending messages back and forth, fake accounts. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  What was the stun 

gun about?  

MR. BURGE:  That was a flashlight stun gun that I 

used. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Okay.  You're 28 years 
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old.  You got two feet.  You walked up here. 

MR. BURGE:  Yes, sir. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  You're going to walk the 

hell away from a domestic violence, especially a female, a 

pregnant female or a child or a dog or anything.  So right 

now I don't want to berate you like that.  I am just going to 

tell you you don't have to explain anymore to me, if anybody 

else has any questions.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any other questions from the 

Board?  

Okay.  If there's no further questions, I'll 

entertain a motion.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  This is Board Member Brown.  

I will move to uphold the revocation based on the 

investigation conducted and a findings of that investigation. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I have a motion.  Do I 

have a second?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Gronauer.  Second.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  I have a motion.  I have a 

second.  All in favor say aye. 

(The vote was unanimously in favor of the 

motion.)  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Thank you, sir.  You can 

apply in a year.  
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BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Madam Chair, this is Board 

Member Brown. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Before we finish, I've got, 

and I may have missed it.  I may have been out of the room, 

but I have item number 52, Adam Finley, that's pending or did 

that get settled?  

MR. INGRAM:  Madam Chair, item 52 was the 

individual that has since been cleared and no longer needs to 

appeal.  So he just needs to be a removed from the agenda, 

so. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Does that help, Board Member 

Brown?  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  No.  It confuses me more.  

Clear that we're not dealing with him or clear that he can 

get his card?  

MR. INGRAM:  He's been cleared to get his card.  

He does not -- he no longer needs to appeal based on some 

changes of information provided.  

BOARD MEMBER BROWN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

MR. INGRAM:  Uh-huh. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Okay.  I'm -- this is the 

section where it's open to public comment.  Members of the 

general public may comment on matters appearing in the agenda 
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and may bring things up not appearing in the agenda to the 

attention of the Board.  The Board may discuss the matters 

not appearing on the agenda but may not act on the matters in 

this meeting.  If the Board desires the matters may be placed 

on further agenda for action.  Public comments are limited to 

five minutes.  

Is there any public comment?  

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Thank you. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Any public -- no public 

comment down south.  Is there any public comment up north?  

Okay.  No public comment up north.  So this is 

where we -- 

MR. INGRAM:  Adjourn.  If I could have just 

30 seconds. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Sure.  

MR. INGRAM:  This is Director Ingram.  I just 

wanted to publicly recognize my staff. 

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  Yes. 

MR. INGRAM:  I've been dealing with some personal 

issues with my wife's health, as you all know, and my staff 

has done a fantastic job covering, and I thank them. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  This is Board Member 

Cortez.  I absolutely concur.  You guys have done an amazing 

job.  I too have felt the absolute support you have for 
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Mr. Ingram.  And you're just an awesome individual.  And I'm 

so happy that things have turned around for coming back. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  This staff is a 

reflection of you, Kevin.  

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Absolutely. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Whether you want to 

believe that or not it's true.

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  You guys do a great job.  

MR. INGRAM:  Thank you.  I admire each and every 

one of you.  I thank you very much for all of the support.  

I'm sorry that I get emotional.  You guys know that.  I love 

you dearly.  Thank you.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  And I would also like to say 

thanks because we didn't get to -- we didn't say it enough 

during the height of the pandemic that you guys were able to 

stay open.  You know, for us in the industry that was an 

amazing deal.  It was very hard in some other states that I 

work in where folks closed down and did not allow access to 

their offices and so that did cripple us as an industry.  So 

for you guys to stay open and continue all the hard work that 

you do we do appreciate it and the support of this big fella 

here.  So thank you all.  

If there is nothing further, we made 4:30.  I'm 

very proud of us.  I will entertain a motion to adjourn or 
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we'll adjourn. 

BOARD MEMBER CORTEZ:  Board Member Cortez.  

Adjourn. 

BOARD MEMBER GRONAUER:  Second.  

BOARD CHAIR NIXON:  All right.  Thank you.  Thank 

you, everyone.
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STATE OF NEVADA, )
)  ss.

CARSON CITY. )

I, KATHY JACKSON, Official Court Reporter for the 

State of Nevada Private Investigators Licensing Board, do 

hereby certify:

That on Wednesday, the 15th day of September, 2021, I 

was present at 1919 College Parkway, Carson City, Nevada, for 

the purpose of reporting in verbatim stenotype notes the 

within-entitled public meeting via Zoom;

That the foregoing transcript, consisting of pages 1 

through 328, is a full, true and correct transcription of my 

stenotype notes of said public meeting.

Dated at Carson City, Nevada, this 4th day

of October, 2021.

       
KATHY JACKSON, CCR
Nevada CCR #402


